#### BASE PROSPECTUS DATED 2 JULY 2013



## ABN AMRO Bank N.V.

(incorporated in The Netherlands with its statutory seat in Amsterdam and registered in the Commercial Register of the Amsterdam Chamber of Commerce under number 34334259)

### **Programme for the Issuance of Medium Term Notes**

Arranger

## **ABN AMRO**

This Base Prospectus constitutes a base prospectus for the purposes of Article 5.4 of Directive 2003/71/EC (as amended, the "Prospectus Directive").

The contents of this Base Prospectus are not intended to contain and should not be regarded as containing advice relating to legal, taxation, investment or any other matters and prospective investors are recommended to consult their own professional advisers for any advice concerning the acquisition, holding or disposal of any Notes (as defined below).

Before making an investment decision with respect to any Notes, prospective investors should carefully consider all of the information set out in this Base Prospectus and any accompanying documents, as well as their own personal circumstances. Prospective investors should have regard to, among other matters, the considerations described under the section headed "Risk Factors" in this Base Prospectus. This Base Prospectus does not describe all of the risks of an investment in the Notes.

An investment in the Notes is only suitable for investors who (either alone or in conjunction with an appropriate financial or other adviser) are capable of evaluating the merits and risks of such an investment and who have sufficient resources to be able to bear any losses that may result therefrom.

The full terms and conditions of each Tranche of Notes can be reviewed by reading the terms and conditions as set out in full in this Base Prospectus in the section headed "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" (the "Conditions", and each, a "Condition"), which constitute the basis of all Notes to be offered under this Programme for the Issuance of Medium Term Notes (the "Programme"), together with the Final Terms (as defined below) applicable to the relevant issue of Notes, which applies and/or disapplies, supplements and/or amends the Conditions in the manner required to reflect the particular terms and conditions applicable to the relevant Series of Notes (or Tranche thereof).

Under this Programme, ABN AMRO Bank N.V. (the "Issuer", which expression shall include any Substituted Debtor (as defined in Condition 16 below)) may from time to time issue Medium Term Notes (the "Notes"), which expression shall include Senior Notes and Subordinated Notes (each as defined below)) denominated in any currency agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer (as defined below), if any.

Subject as set out herein, the Senior Notes will not be subject to any maximum maturity but will have a minimum maturity of one month.

The Notes will be issued on a continuing basis to one or more of the Dealers specified under "Overview of the Programme – Dealers" and any additional Dealer appointed in respect of Notes under the Programme from time to time, which appointment may be for a specific issue or on an ongoing basis (each a "Dealer" and together the "Dealers"). The Dealer or Dealers with whom the Issuer agrees or proposes to agree on the issue of any Notes is or are referred to as the "relevant Dealer(s)" in respect of those Notes.

The Notes of each Tranche (as defined below) will (unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms) initially be represented by a Temporary Global Note (as defined below) which will be deposited on the issue date thereof either (i) with a common depositary on behalf of Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. ("Euroclear") and Clearstream Banking, société anonyme ("Clearstream, Luxembourg") and/or any other agreed clearing system or (ii) with Nederlands Centraal Instituut voor Giraal Effectenverkeer B.V. ("Euroclear Netherlands"). See "Form of the Notes".

Application has been made to Euronext Amsterdam N.V. for Notes issued under the Programme up to the expiry of 12 months from the date of this Base Prospectus to be admitted to trading on NYSE Euronext in Amsterdam ("Euronext in Amsterdam"). In addition, Notes issued under the Programme may be listed or admitted to trading, as the case may be, on any other stock exchange or market specified in the applicable Final Terms. The Issuer may also issue unlisted Notes under the Programme.

References in this Programme to Notes being "listed" (and all related references) shall mean that such Notes have been admitted to trading and have been listed on Euronext in Amsterdam. Euronext in

Amsterdam is a regulated market for the purposes of Directive 2004/39/EC (the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive).

Notes issued under this Programme may be rated or unrated. Where an issue of Notes is rated, its rating will not necessarily be the same as the rating applicable to this Programme. In general, European regulated investors are restricted from using a rating for regulatory purposes if such rating is not issued by a credit rating agency established in the European Community and registered under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 September 2009 on credit rating agencies (the "CRA Regulation") unless the rating is provided by a credit rating agency operating in the European Community before 7 June 2010 which has submitted an application for registration in accordance with the CRA Regulation and such registration is not refused. Each of Moody's Investors Service, Limited ("Moody's"), Standard & Poor's Credit Market Services France SAS, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. ("S&P"), Fitch Ratings Ltd. ("Fitch") and DBRS Ratings Limited are credit rating agencies established and operating in the European Community prior to 7 June 2010 and have submitted an application for registration in accordance with the CRA Regulation. A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, change or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

The Issuer may agree with the relevant Dealer that Notes may be issued in a form not contemplated by the Terms and Conditions of the Notes herein, in which case a supplementary prospectus, if required, will be made available which will describe the effect of the agreement reached in relation to such Notes.

Notice of the aggregate nominal amount of Notes, interest (if any) payable in respect of Notes, the issue price of Notes and any other terms and conditions not contained herein which are applicable to each Tranche of Notes will be set forth in a final terms document (the "Final Terms") which, with respect to Notes to be listed on Euronext in Amsterdam, will be delivered to Euronext in Amsterdam on or before the date of issue of Notes of such Tranche. There can be no assurance that the Notes offered as described in this Base Prospectus will be sold or that there will be a secondary market for the Notes. See "Risk Factors" below.

This Base Prospectus has been prepared for use in connection with the Programme and (save as described below) is to be read in conjunction with all documents which are deemed to be incorporated herein by reference (see "Documents Incorporated by Reference") and shall be read and construed on the basis that such documents are incorporated in and form part of this Base Prospectus.

No person has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation not contained in or not consistent with this Base Prospectus, the applicable Final Terms or any document incorporated by reference herein or therein, or any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or the Notes and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer, the Arranger or any Dealer.

This Base Prospectus does not, and is not intended to, constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy any of the Notes by or on behalf of the Issuer or the Arranger or any Dealer in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is not authorised or in which the person making such offer or solicitation is not qualified to do so or to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation in such jurisdiction.

Neither this Base Prospectus nor any other information supplied in connection with the Programme should be considered as a recommendation by the Issuer, the Arranger or any Dealer that any recipient of this Base Prospectus or any other information supplied in connection with the Programme should purchase any Notes. Accordingly, no representation, warranty or undertaking, express or implied, is made by the Arranger or any Dealer in their capacity as such. Each investor contemplating purchasing any Notes should make its own independent investigation of the financial condition and affairs, and its own appraisal of the creditworthiness, of the Issuer.

Neither the delivery of this Base Prospectus nor the offering, sale or delivery of any Notes shall in any circumstances imply that the information contained herein concerning the Issuer is correct at any time subsequent to the date hereof or that any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or the Notes is correct as of any time subsequent to the date indicated in the document containing the same. The Arranger and any Dealer expressly do not undertake to review the financial condition or affairs of the Issuer during the life of the Programme.

The Issuer, the Arranger and any Dealer do not represent that this Base Prospectus may be lawfully distributed, or that Notes may be lawfully offered, in compliance with any applicable registration or other requirements in any jurisdiction. In particular, unless specifically indicated to the contrary in the applicable Final Terms, no action has been taken by the Issuer, the Arranger or any Dealer appointed under the Programme which is intended to permit a public offering of the Notes or distribution of this document in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. Accordingly, the Notes may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and neither this Base Prospectus, together with its attachments, nor any advertisement or other offering material may be distributed or published in any jurisdiction where such distribution and/or publication would be prohibited and each Dealer (if any) will be required to represent that all offers and sales by it will be made on these terms.

The distribution of this Base Prospectus and the offer or sale of Notes may be restricted by law in certain jurisdictions. Persons into whose possession this Base Prospectus or any Notes come must inform themselves about, and observe, any such restrictions. See "Subscription and Sale" below. In particular, the Notes have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act") or with any securities regulatory authority of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States, and include Notes in bearer form that are subject to United States tax law requirements. Subject to certain exceptions, the Notes may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or to U.S. persons.

Neither the Programme nor the Notes has been approved or disapproved by the United States Securities Exchange Commission, any state securities commission in the United States or any other United States regulatory authority, nor have any of the foregoing authorities passed upon or endorsed the merits of any offering of Notes or the accuracy or adequacy of this Base Prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offence in the United States.

In connection with the issue of any Tranche of Notes, the Dealer or Dealers (if any) named as the Stabilising Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilising Manager(s)) in the applicable Final Terms may over-allot Notes or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However, there is no assurance that the Stabilising Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of a Stabilising Manager) will undertake stabilisation action. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the relevant Tranche of Notes is made and, if begun, may be ended at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of Notes and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the relevant Tranche of Notes. Any stabilisation action or over-allotment must be conducted by the relevant Stabilising Manager(s) (or person(s) acting on behalf of any Stabilising Manager(s)) in accordance with all applicable laws and rules.

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

SUMMARY	6
RISK FACTORS	27
OVERVIEW OF THE PROGRAMME	40
IMPORTANT INFORMATION	48
SETTLEMENT, CLEARANCE AND CUSTODY	
FORM OF THE NOTES	
FORM OF FINAL TERMS	58
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES	107
USE OF PROCEEDS	135
TAXATION	136
SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE	
GENERAL INFORMATION	147

#### **SUMMARY**

Summaries are made up of disclosure requirements known as "Elements". These elements are numbered in *Sections* A - E (A.1 - E.7).

This summary contains all the Elements required to be included in a summary for this type of securities and Issuer. Because some Elements are not required to be addressed, there may be gaps in the numbering sequence of the Elements.

Even though an Element may be required to be inserted in the summary because of the type of securities and Issuer, it is possible that no relevant information can be given regarding the Element. In this case a short description of the Element is included in the summary with the mention of "Not Applicable".

Words and expressions defined in the "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" below or elsewhere in this Base Prospectus have the same meanings in this summary. The term ABN AMRO is used below as a reference to the Issuer and its consolidated subsidiaries and other group companies (including ABN AMRO Group N.V.).

		Section A – Introduction and Warnings
A.1	Introduction:	This summary must be read as an introduction to this Base Prospectus and any decision to invest in the Notes should be based on a consideration of the Base Prospectus as a whole, including any information incorporated by reference. Following the implementation of the Prospectus Directive (Directive 2003/71/EC) in each Member State of the European Economic Area, no civil liability will attach to the Responsible Persons in any such Member State solely on the basis of this summary, including any translation thereof, unless it is misleading, inaccurate or inconsistent when read together with the other parts of this Base Prospectus, including any information incorporated by reference or it does not provide, when read together with the other parts of this Base Prospectus, key information in order to aid investors when considering whether to invest in the Notes. Where a claim relating to the information contained in this Base Prospectus is brought before a court in a Member State of the European Economic Area, the plaintiff may, under the national legislation of the Member States, be required to bear the costs of translating the Base Prospectus before the legal proceedings are initiated.
A.2	Consent:	Certain Tranches of Notes with a denomination of less than EUR 100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency) may be offered in circumstances where there is no exemption from the obligation under the Prospectus Directive to publish a prospectus. Any such offer is referred to as a "Public Offer". In connection with each Tranche of Notes, and provided that the applicable Final Terms specifies that Public Offer applies, the Issuer consents to the use of this Base Prospectus in connection with a Public Offer of such Notes subject to the following conditions:

(i)	The consent is only valid in respect of the relevant Tranche
	of Notes;

- (ii) the consent is only valid during the Offer Period specified in the applicable Final Terms;
- (iii) the only Offerors authorised to use this Base Prospectus to make a Public Offer of the relevant Tranche of Notes:
  - are the relevant Dealer and (i) any financial a. intermediary named as an Initial Authorised Offeror in applicable Final the Terms and (ii) anv financial intermediary appointed after the date of the applicable Final Terms and whose name is published on the website of the Issuer (http://www.abnamro.com/nl/investor-relations/debtinvestors/unsecured-funding/index.html) and identified as an Authorised Offeror in respect of the relevant Public Offer: or
  - b. in any other case, any financial intermediary which acknowledges on its website that it has been duly appointed as a financial intermediary to offer the relevant Tranche of Notes during the Offer Period and states that it is relying on this Base Prospectus to do so, provided that such financial intermediary has in fact been so appointed;
- (iv) the consent only extends to the use of this Base Prospectus to make Public Offers of the relevant Tranche of Notes in such of the Public Offer Jurisdictions as are specified in the applicable Final Terms; and
- (v) the consent is subject to any other conditions set out in Part B of the applicable Final Terms.

Any Offeror falling within sub-paragraph (iii)(b) above who meets all of the other conditions stated above and wishes to use this Base Prospectus in connection with a Public Offer is required, at the relevant time, to publish on its website that it is relying on this Base Prospectus for such Public Offer with the consent of the Issuer.

The consent referred to above relates to Public Offers occurring within 12 months from the date of this Base Prospectus.

OR INVESTOR INTENDING ACOUIRE AN TO ACQUIRING ANY NOTES IN A PUBLIC OFFER FROM AN OFFEROR OTHER THAN THE ISSUER WILL DO SO, AND OFFERS AND SALES OF SUCH NOTES TO AN INVESTOR BY SUCH OFFEROR WILL BE MADE, IN ACCORDANCE WITH ANY TERMS AND **OTHER** ARRANGEMENTS IN PLACE **BETWEEN** SUCH

OFFEROR AND SUCH INVESTOR INCLUDING AS TO PRICE, ALLOCATIONS AND SETTLEMENT ARRANGEMENTS. THE INVESTOR MUST LOOK TO THE OFFEROR AT THE TIME OF SUCH OFFER FOR THE PROVISION OF SUCH INFORMATION AND THE OFFEROR WILL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR SUCH INFORMATION. NONE OF THE ISSUER OR ANY DEALER HAS ANY RESPONSIBILITY OR LIABILITY TO AN INVESTOR IN RESPECT OF SUCH INFORMATION.
If, in the context of a Public Offer, an investor is offered Notes by a person which is not an Authorised Offeror, the investor should check with such person whether anyone is responsible for this Base Prospectus for the purposes of the Public Offer and, if so, who that person is. If the investor is in any doubt about whether it can rely on this Base Prospectus and/or who is responsible for its contents it should take legal advice.

	Section B – Issuer					
<b>B.1</b>	Legal name of the Issuer:	ABN AMRO Bank N.V. (the "Issuer")				
	Commercial name of the Issuer:	ABN AMRO				
B.2	Domicile, legal form, legislation, country of incorporation	The Issuer is a private limited liability company ( <i>naamloze vennootschap</i> ) incorporated the laws of The Netherlands on 9 April 2009. The Issuer's corporate seat ( <i>statutaire zetel</i> ) is in Amsterdam, The Netherlands and its registered office is Gustav Mahlerlaan 10, 1082 PP Amsterdam, The Netherlands.				
B.4b	<b>Trends:</b>	The revenues and results of operations of the Issuer and the industry in which it operates are affected by, among other factors, general economic conditions in the Netherlands and other markets, including economic cycles, the financial markets, the Dutch mortgage market, banking industry cycles and fluctuations in interest rates and exchange rates, monetary policy, demographics, and other competitive factors. Revenues came under pressure due to weaker demand for certain banking products. Loan impairments increased due to a rise in defaults and a decline in the value of (commercial) property portfolios, among other things. Since the start of the financial crisis, money markets and capital markets have been very volatile. In these conditions, access to funding and capital markets, as well as hedging and other risk management strategies, may not be as effective as they would be under normal market conditions. Although there was some moderation in market conditions during 2011 and 2012 in the primary markets, it is difficult to predict if this trend will continue. The Issuer is subject to the threat of illiquidity and/or extreme				

		price volatility, either directly or indirectly, through exposures to securities, loans and other commitments. Although there was some moderation in market conditions during 2011 and 2012 in the primary markets, it is difficult to predict if this trend will continue. The financial services industry is subject to intensive regulation (including in relation to solvability and liquidity). The Issuer's costs were driven up by preparations for and the introduction of new or revised regulations. Since 2009, as many emergency government programs slowed or wound down, global regulatory and legislative focus generally moved to a second phase of broader reform and a restructuring of financial institution regulation. Legislators and regulators, both in Europe and in the United States, are currently introducing a wide range of proposals that, if enacted,
		could result in major changes to the way the Issuer's global operations are regulated.
B.5	The Group:	ABN AMRO Group N.V. is the Issuer's sole shareholder. The Issuer is the only direct subsidiary of ABN AMRO Group N.V. and ABN AMRO Group N.V. has no significant activities other than holding the shares in the Issuer. The managing board and the supervisory board of ABN AMRO Group N.V. are composed of the same members as the Issuer.
		All shares in the capital of ABN AMRO Group N.V. are held by <i>Stichting administratiekantoor beheer financiele instellingen</i> (trade name NL Financial Investments, "NLFI"). NLFI holds a total voting interest of 100% in ABN AMRO Group N.V.
		NLFI issued exchangeable depositary receipts for shares (without the cooperation of ABN AMRO Group N.V.) to the Dutch State. As sole holder of all issued exchangeable depositary receipts, the Dutch State holds an indirect economic interest of 100% in ABN AMRO Group N.V.
		The Issuer has various direct and indirect subsidiaries through which part of its business is operated.
B.9	Profit Forecast or Estimate:	Not applicable. There is no profit forecast or estimate included in this Base Prospectus.
<b>B.10</b>	Audit Report Qualifications:	Not applicable There are no qualifications in the audit report on the historical financial information included in this Base Prospectus.
B.12	Key Financial Information:	The tables below set out selected consolidated financial information for the years ended 2012, 2011 and 2010. The reported figures have been impacted by several items which are related to the demerger of the Issuer from RBS N.V. and the separation of Fortis Bank (Nederland) N.V. from Fortis Bank SA/NV and the integration of the Issuer and Fortis Bank (Nederland) N.V. For a better understanding of underlying trends, the results of operations of ABN AMRO have been adjusted for these items where indicated (and presented as underlying results). Reconciliation of the reported and underlying results is presented where relevant.

The reported results for the years ended and as at 31 December
2012, 2011 and 2010 have been audited. Underlying results and
reconciling items, where included, have been extracted from
management accounts and have neither been audited or reviewed
(as applicable).

#### Results of operations for the years ended 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010

	Year ended 31 December								
		2012			2011			2010	
		(Reconcil			(Reconci			(Reconci	
	(Repo	ing	(Underlyi	(Repor	ling	(Underly	(Repor	ling	(Underly
	rted)	items)	ng)	ted)	items)	ing)	ted)	items)	ing)
				(in n	villions of	euros)			
Net interest income	5,028	-	5,028	4,998	-	4,998	4,905	-	4,905
Net fee and commission income	1,556	-	1,556	1,811	-	1,811	1,766	-	1,766
Other non-interest income	754	-	754	985	-	985	126	(862)	988
Operating income	7,338	-	7,338	7,794	-	7,794	6,797	(862)	7,659
Operating expenses	4,959	450	4,509	5,357	362	4,995	6,229	894	5,335
Impairment charges on loans and other									
receivables	1,228	-	1,228	1,757	-	1,757	837	-	837
Profit/(loss) before tax	1,151	(450)	1,601	680	(362)	1,042	(269)	(1,756)	1,487
Income tax (expense)/credit	203	(113)	316	(9)	(91)	82	145	(265)	410
Profit/(loss) for the period	948	(337)	1,285	689	(271)	960	(414)	(1,491)	1,077

	Year ended 31 December			
	2012	2011	<b>2010</b> <sup>(1)</sup>	
Underlying cost/income ratio	61%	64%	70%	
Return on average Equity (IFRS-EU)	10.0%	7.8%	8.9% <sup>(1)</sup>	
Return on average RWA (in bps)	103	85	93 <sup>(1)</sup>	

	As at 31 December			
	2012	2011	<b>2010</b> <sup>(1)</sup>	
RWA/Total assets Assets under Management (in EUR	31%	29%	31%	
billion)	163.1	146.6	164.2	
Risk-weighted assets (in EUR billion) FTEs	121.5	118.3 24.22	116.3	
	23,059	5	26,161	

<sup>(1)</sup> The 2010 average figures are based on year-end 2010 position instead of average.

#### Selected consolidated balance sheet movements for the years ended 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010

	Selected Consolidated Balance Sheet At 31 December		
	2012	2011	2010
-	(in millions	of euros)	
Assets			
Cash and balances at central banks	9,796	7,641	906
Financial assets held for trading	22,804	29,523	24,300
Financial investments	21,407	18,721	20,197
Loans and receivables – banks	46,398	61,319	41,117
Loans and receivables - customers	276,283	272,008	273,944
Other	17,716	15,470	16,818
Total assets	394,404	404,682	377,282
Liabilities			
Financial liabilities held for trading	18,782	22,779	19,982
Due to banks	21,263	30,962	21,536
Due to customers	216,021	213,616	209,466
Issued debt	94,043	96,310	86,591
Subordinated liabilities	9,566	8,697	8,085
Other	20,692	20,898	19,510
Total liabilities	380,367	393,262	365,170
Equity			
Equity attributable to shareholders of the	14,018	11,400	12,099
parent company			
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests	19	20	13
Total equity	14,037	11,420	12,112
Total liabilities and equity	394,404	404,682	377,282

B.12	Key Financial Information:	The tables below set out selected consolidated financial information for the first quarter of 2013. In 2012, ABN AMRO finalised the integration of ABN AMRO Bank and Fortis Bank Nederland. As of the first quarter of 2013, ABN AMRO presents
		its results on a reported basis, which means that historical periods
		will no longer be adjusted for costs related to the integration.
		Furthermore, all 2012 figures have been adjusted for comparison
		following adoption of the amended pension accounting standard
		(IAS 19). The reported results for the first quarter of 2013 have not
		been audited.

#### First quarter income statements for 2013, 2012 and 2011

	Selected Consolidated Balance Sheet		
	Q1 2013	Q1 2012	Q1 2011
	(in	millions of euros)	
Underlying results			
Net interest income	1,305	1,237	1,264
Net fee and commission income	412	403	487
Other non-interest income	-8	275	281
Operating income	1,709	1,915	2,032
Personnel expenses	619	570	617
Other expenses	551	548	559
Operating expenses	1,170	1,118	1,176
Operating result	539	797	856
Loan impairments	-38	187	125
Operating profit before taxes	577	610	731
Income tax expenses	162	124	148
Profit for the period	415	486	583
	Selected Co	<i>nsolidated Balan</i> At end of Q1	ce Sheet
	Q1 2013	Q1 2012	Q1 2011
	(in	millions of euros)	
Other indicators			
Underlying cost/income ratio	68%	58%	58%
Return on average Equity (IFRS)	12%	17%	19%
Return on average RWA (in bps)	137	160	208
NII / average Total assets (in bps)	128	122	131
Cost of risk (in bps) *	-13	61	45

\* Cost of Risk is calculated as the annualised total loan impairments over the average RWA

B.12	Key Financial Information:	There has been no (i) material adverse change in the Issuer's prospects or (ii) significant change in the financial position of the Issuer and its subsidiaries since 31 December 2012. There has been no (i) material adverse change in the ABN AMRO Group N.V.'s prospects or (ii) significant change in the financial position of ABN AMRO Group N.V. and its subsidiaries since 31 December 2012.
B.13	Recent Events:	Not applicable. There are no recent events particular to the Issuer which are to a material extent relevant to the evaluation of the Issuer's solvency
<b>B.14</b>	Dependence upon group entities:	Not applicable

B.15	Principal Activities:	ABN AMRO is a full-service bank, supporting retail, private banking and commercial banking clients in The Netherlands and selectively abroad. In addition to its strong position in The Netherlands, ABN AMRO is active in a number of specialised activities such as Energy, Commodities & Transportation (ECT) and Clearing, private banking and asset based lending in a select
		number of countries. ABN AMRO is organised into Retail & Private Banking (" <b>R&amp;PB</b> "), Commercial & Merchant Banking (" <b>C&amp;MB</b> ") and Group Functions. Each member of the Managing Board is responsible for either a business segment or a support unit within Group Functions. The Chairman of the Managing Board oversees the general management of ABN AMRO and is responsible for
		Group Audit and the Corporate Office. For financial reporting purposes, in 2011 the Managing Board adopted a further refinement of ABN AMRO's segment reporting as follows:
		• Retail Banking;
		• Private Banking;
		Commercial Banking;
		• Merchant Banking;
		Group Functions.
		Retail & Private Banking
		R&PB consists of the business lines Retail Banking, Private Banking Netherlands and Private Banking International, each of which serves a different client base with a tailored business proposition.
		Retail Banking
		Retail Banking offers Mass Retail and Preferred Banking clients a wide variety of banking, loan and insurance products and services through the branch network, online, via Advice & Service centres, via intermediaries and through subsidiaries. The majority of the loan portfolio of Retail Banking consists of residential mortgages.
		Private Banking
		Private Banking provides total solutions to its clients' global wealth management needs and offers an array of products and services designed to address their individual situation. Private Banking operates under the brand name ABN AMRO MeesPierson in The Netherlands and internationally under ABN AMRO Private Banking and local brands such as Banque Neuflize OBC in France and Bethmann Bank in Germany. The International Diamond &

Jewelry Group, a leading provider of global financial services to the diamond and jewellery industry, is part of Private Banking International. ABN AMRO offers private banking services to clients with freely investable assets exceeding EUR 1 million (or USD 1 million in Asia).
Commercial & Merchant Banking
For small businesses up to large corporate companies, C&MB offers a range of comprehensive and innovative products, in-depth sector knowledge and customised financial advice.
C&MB offers a comprehensive product range and services to commercial clients in The Netherlands and surrounding countries – Germany, Belgium, France and the United Kingdom – as more than 80% of the bank's commercial clients conduct their international business in these countries. C&MB serves Dutch- based corporates with international activities, offering a one-stop shop for all financial solutions and tailor-made services. Clients have access to the bank's international network including the ten largest financial and logistics hubs in the world, including New York, São Paulo, London, Frankfurt, Singapore and Hong Kong. Internationally, C&MB offers selected specialised activities where it holds or can achieve a top-5 position: Energy, Commodities & Transportation (ECT) and ABN AMRO Clearing globally, and Lease and Commercial Finance in selected markets. C&MB is organised into Commercial Banking and Merchant Banking.
Commercial Banking
Commercial Banking serves commercial clients with annual turnover up to EUR 500 million and clients in the public sector, commercial finance and leasing. To address the international business needs of its clients, the Commercial Banking International network offers a broad range of products and services by having a local presence in selected areas and globally through partner bank agreements. Commercial Banking has set up agreements with partner banks to offer services to clients in countries where ABN AMRO is not present. Commercial Banking consists of two business lines: Business Banking and Corporate Clients.
Business Banking offers small and medium-sized businesses with turnover up to EUR 30 million a comprehensive range of standard and customised products through the service models YourBusiness Banking and Relationship Management.
Corporate Clients serves Netherlands-based companies with an annual turnover between EUR 30 and 500 million as well as clients in the public sector. ABN AMRO Lease, ABN AMRO Commercial Finance and Commercial Banking International are part of Corporate Clients and provide solutions to clients in all C&MB segments.
Merchant Banking

B.17	Ratings assigned to the Issuer or its Debt	The Issuer's long term credit ratings are: A from Standard & Poor's Credit Market Services France SAS (" <b>S&amp;P</b> "), A2 from Moody's
B.16	Controlling Persons:	sustainability, and housing. Group Functions is organised into four areas, each of them headed by a Managing Board member: Technology, Operations & Property Services (" <b>TOPS</b> "), Finance (" <b>Finance</b> "), Risk Management & Strategy (" <b>RM&amp;S</b> "), and Integration, Communication & Compliance (" <b>ICC</b> "). Group Audit reports directly to the Chairman of the Managing Board and the Chairman of the Audit Committee. The Company Secretary holds an independent position under joint supervision of the Chairman of both the Managing Board and the Supervisory Board ABN AMRO Group N.V. is ABN AMRO Bank's sole shareholder. As of the date of this Base Prospectus, all shares in the capital of ABN AMRO Group N.V. are held by <i>Stichting</i> <i>administratiekantoor beheer financiele instellingen</i> (trade name NL Financial Investments, "NLFI"). NLFI holds a total voting interest of 100% in ABN AMRO Group N.V. NLFI is responsible for managing the shares in ABN AMRO Group N.V. and exercising all rights associated with these shares under Dutch law, including voting rights. Material or principal decisions require the prior approval of the Dutch Minister of Finance, who can also give binding voting instructions with respect to such decisions. NLFI is not permitted to dispose of or encumber the shares, except pursuant to an authorization from and on behalf of the Dutch Minister of Finance. NLFI issued exchangeable depositary receipts for shares (without the cooperation of ABN AMRO Group N.V.) to the Dutch State. As sole holder of all issued exchangeable depositary receipts, the Dutch State holds an indirect economic interest of 100% in ABN AMRO Group N.V.
		<ul> <li>Merchant Banking serves Netherlands-based corporates, financial institutions and real estate investors and developers as well as international companies active in Energy, Commodities &amp; Transportation ("ECT"). Merchant Banking is organised into two business lines: Large Corporates &amp; Merchant Banking ("LC&amp;MB") and Markets. LC&amp;MB offers a full array of banking products and services, including Cash &amp; Liquidity Management, Debt Solutions and Corporate Finance &amp; Capital Markets. Markets serves the bank's entire client base and has two global businesses: Securities Financing and Clearing.</li> <li><i>Group Functions</i></li> <li>Group Functions supports ABN AMRO's businesses by delivering services in the areas of audit, corporate governance, finance, risk, human resources, legal, compliance, communication, change management, technology, operations, property management,</li> </ul>

Securities:	Investors Service, Limited (" <b>Moody's</b> "), A+ from Fitch Ratings Ltd. (" <b>Fitch</b> ") and A (high) from DBRS Ratings Limited (" <b>DBRS</b> ").
	Notes issued pursuant to the Programme may be rated or unrated. Where an issue of Notes is rated, its rating will be specified in the applicable Final Terms and the relevant issue specific summary annexed to the applicable Final Terms.
	Whether or not each credit rating applied for in relation to the relevant Series of Notes will be issued by a credit rating agency established in the European Union and registered under the EU Credit Rating Agency Regulation (EC No. 1060/2009) will be specified in the applicable Final Terms.
	A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, change or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

		Section C – The Notes
C.1	Description of Type and Class of Notes:	The Notes described in this section are debt securities with a denomination of less than EUR 100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency).
		Notes will be issued in series (each a "Series"). Each Series may comprise one or more tranches ("Tranches" and each a "Tranche") issued on different dates. The Notes of each Series will all be subject to identical terms, whether as to currency, interest, maturity or otherwise, or terms which are identical except that the issue dates, the amount of the first payment of interest and/or the denomination thereof may be different. The Notes of each Tranche will all be subject to identical terms in all respects except that a Tranche may comprise Notes of different denominations.
		The Notes may only be issued in bearer form. Each Tranche of Notes will (unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms) be in the form of either a temporary global Note or a permanent global Note, in each case as specified in the relevant Final Terms. Each global note which is not intended to be issued in New Global Note ("NGN") form (a "Classic Global Note" or "CGN"), as specified in the relevant Final Terms, will be deposited on or around the relevant Issue Date either (i) with a common depositary for Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. ("Euroclear") and/or Clearstream Banking, société anonyme ("Clearstream") and/or any other agreed clearance system or (ii) with <i>Nederlands Centraal Instituut voor Giraal Effectenverkeer B.V.</i> ("Euroclear Netherlands"). Each global Note which is intended to be issued in NGN form, as specified in the relevant Final Terms, will be deposited on or around the issue date of the relevant Final Terms, will be deposited to be issued in NGN form, as specified in the relevant Final Terms, will be deposited on or around the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the deposited on or around the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the deposited on or around the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the deposited on or around the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the deposited on or around the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the deposited on or around the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the deposited on or around the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the deposited on or around the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the terms of the deposited on the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the deposited on the relevant the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the deposited on the relevant the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the deposited on the relevant the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the deposited on the relevant the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the deposited on the relevant the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the terms the relevant the re

		Luxembourg. Each temporary global Note will be exchangeable for a permanent global Note or, if so specified in the relevant Final Terms, for definitive Notes upon certain conditions including, in the case of a temporary global Note where the issue is subject to TEFRA D selling restrictions, upon certification of non-U.S. beneficial ownership as required by U.S. Treasury regulations. The applicable Final Terms will specify that a permanent global Note is exchangeable for definitive Notes only in limited circumstances described therein, and in respect of global Notes deposited with Euroclear Netherlands only in the limited circumstances as described in the Securities Giro Act ( <i>Wet giraal effectenverkeer</i> ) and in accordance with the rules and regulations of Euroclear Netherlands. Any interest in a global Note will be transferable only in accordance with the rules and procedures for the time being of either (i) Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other agreed clearance system or (ii) Euroclear Netherlands, as appropriate.
		The International Securities Identification Number ( <b>ISIN</b> ) uniquely identifies each Series of Notes and will be specified in the applicable Final Terms and the relevant issue specific summary annexed to the applicable Final Terms.
C.2	Currency:	The currency of each Series of Notes issued will be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer at the time of issue, specified in the applicable Final Terms and summarised in the relevant issue specific summary annexed to the applicable Final Terms.
C.5	Free Transferability:	The Issuer and the Dealers have agreed restrictions on offers, sales and deliveries of Notes and on the distribution of offering material in Australia, the European Economic Area (including France, the Republic of Italy, The Netherlands and the Kingdom of Norway and the United Kingdom), Hong Kong, Japan, the People's Republic of China, Switzerland, Taiwan and the United States.
C.8	The Rights Attaching to the Notes, including Ranking and Limitations to those Rights:	Notes issued under the Programme will have terms and conditions relating to, among other matters: <b>Status of the Senior Notes</b> The Senior Notes [and any relative Coupons] will constitute unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer and will rank <i>pari passu</i> without any preference among themselves and with all other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer save for those preferred by mandatory and/or coupriding among of law
		<ul> <li>and/or overriding provisions of law.</li> <li>Status of the Subordinated Notes</li> <li>The Subordinated Notes [and any relative Coupons] will constitute unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer and will rank</li> </ul>

*pari passu* without any preference among themselves and with all other present and future unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer (other than those subordinated obligations expressed by their terms to rank lower than the Subordinated Notes), save for those preferred by mandatory and/or overriding provisions of law.

The claims of the holders of the Subordinated Notes of each Series (the "Subordinated Noteholders") against the Issuer will:

- (i) in the event of the liquidation or bankruptcy of the Issuer; or
- (ii) in the event that a competent court has declared that the Issuer is in a situation which requires special measures (*noodregeling*) in the interests of all creditors, as referred to in Chapter 3.5.5 of the Dutch Act on financial supervision (*Wet op het financieel toezicht*), and for so long as such situation is in force ("Moratorium"),

be subordinated to (a) the claims of depositors (other than in respect of those whose deposits are expressed by their terms to rank equally to or lower than the Subordinated Notes), (b) unsubordinated claims with respect to the repayment of borrowed money and (c) other unsubordinated claims.

By virtue of such subordination, payments to a Subordinated Noteholder will, in the event of liquidation or bankruptcy of the Issuer or in the event of a Moratorium with respect to the Issuer, only be made after, and any set-off by a Subordinated Noteholder shall be excluded until, all obligations of the Issuer resulting from higher ranking deposits, unsubordinated claims with respect to the repayment of borrowed money and other unsubordinated claims have been satisfied.

The Subordinated Notes of this Series may qualify as Tier 2 capital ("Tier 2 Notes") for the purposes of the regulatory capital rules applicable to the Issuer from time to time.

#### **Events of Default - Senior Notes**

The terms of the Senior Notes will contain, amongst others, the following events of default:

- default in payment of any principal or interest due in respect of the Senior Notes, continuing for a specified period of time;
- (ii) non-performance or non-observance by the Issuer of any of its other obligations under the conditions of the Senior Notes, continuing for a specified period of time; and
- (iii) events relating to the bankruptcy, liquidation, or Moratorium of the Issuer.

#### **Events of Default Subordinated Notes**

Events of Default of Subordinated Notes are restricted to bankruptcy and liquidation and repayment following an Event of Default may be subject to the prior consent of by the Dutch Central Bank (*De Nederlandsche Bank N.V., "DNB"*).

#### Meetings

The conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority.

#### Taxation

All payments in respect of the Notes will be made free and clear of withholding or deducting taxes of The Netherlands, unless the withholding is required by law. In that event, the Issuer will either (i) subject to customary exceptions, pay such additional amounts as will result in the Noteholders receiving such amounts as they would have received in respect of the Notes had no such withholding been required or (ii) make the required withholding or deduction but the Issuer will not pay any additional amounts to compensate Noteholders, as will be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer at the time of issue of the Notes, specified in the applicable Final Terms and summarised in the relevant issue specific summary annexed to the applicable Final Terms.

#### **Future issues**

The conditions of the Notes do not restrict the amount of securities which the Issuer may issue and which rank senior or *pari passu* in priority of payments with the Notes.

#### Prescription

The Notes and related Coupons will become void unless claims in respect of principal and/or interest are made within a period of five years after the date on which such payment first became due.

#### **Issuer Substitution**

The Issuer may, if certain conditions have been fulfilled, with the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders which will be deemed to have been given in respect of each issue of Notes on which no payment of principal of or interest on any of the Notes is in default and in the case of Subordinated Notes, after written approval of the Dutch Central Bank (*De Nederlandsche Bank N.V., "DNB"*), be replaced and substituted by any directly or indirectly wholly owned subsidiary of the Issuer as principal debtor in respect of the Notes and the relative Coupons.

#### Governing law

I	1	
		Dutch law.
C.9	The Rights Attaching to the Notes	Interest
	(Continued), including information as to Interest, Maturity, Yield and the Representative of the Holders:	Notes may or may not bear interest. Interest-bearing Notes will either bear interest payable at a fixed rate or a floating rate. In each case, the interest will be payable on such date or dates as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer at the time of issue of the Notes, specified in the applicable Final Terms and summarised in the relevant issue specific summary annexed to the applicable Final Terms. In addition, the interest rate and yield in respect of Notes bearing interest at a fixed rate will also be so agreed, specified and summarised.
		Floating rates of interest will be calculated by reference to a reference rate (such as, but not limited to, LIBOR or EURIBOR). The reference rate and the manner in which the floating rate of interest will be calculated using the reference rate (including any margin over or below the reference rate) will be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer at the time of issue of the relevant Notes, specified in the applicable Final Terms and summarised in the relevant issue specific summary annexed to the applicable Final Terms.
		Notes which do not bear any interest will be offered and sold at a discount to their nominal amount. The terms applicable to each Series of such Notes will be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer at the time of issue of the relevant Notes, specified in the applicable Final Terms and summarised in the relevant issue specific summary annexed to the applicable Final Terms.
		Redemption
		The terms under which Notes may be redeemed (including the maturity date and the price at which they will be redeemed on the maturity date as well as any provisions relating to early redemption) will be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer at the time of issue of the relevant Notes, specified in the applicable Final Terms and summarised in the relevant issue specific summary annexed to the applicable Final Terms.
		Representative of holders
		Not applicable
		Additional provisions for Subordinated Notes
		Variation or Substitution
		If Variation or Substitution is specified in the applicable Final Terms and if the whole of the outstanding nominal amount of the Subordinated Notes can no longer be included in full in the Tier 2 capital of the Issuer by reason of their non-compliance with the

		regulatory capital applicable to the Issuer or a regulatory call is triggered as set out in the conditions of the Subordinated Notes, then the Issuer may, subject to the prior written consent of DNB, if required at the relevant time (but without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Subordinated Noteholders), substitute the Subordinated Notes or vary the terms of the Subordinated Notes in order to ensure that they remain or, as appropriate, become compliant with the regulatory capital applicable to the Issuer at the relevant time. However, such variation or substitution shall not result in terms that are materially less favourable to the Subordinated Noteholders and the resulting securities must have at least, <i>inter alia</i> , the same ranking, interest rate, maturity date, redemption rights, existing rights to accrued interest which has not been paid and assigned the same ratings as the Subordinated Notes. <i>Statutory Loss Absorption</i> The Subordinated Notes may become subject to the determination by the relevant supervisory authority or the Issuer (following instructions from the relevant supervisory authority) that all or part of the nominal amount of the Subordinated Notes, including accrued but unpaid interest in respect thereof, must be written off or converted into common equity Tier 1 instruments or otherwise be applied to absorb losses, all as prescribed by the relevant law (i" <b>Statutory Loss Absorption</b> ). Upon any such determination, (i) the relevant proportion of the outstanding nominal amount of the Subordinated Notes subject to Statutory Loss Absorption shall be written off or converted into common equity Tier 1 instruments or otherwise be applied to absorb losses, as prescribed by the relevant law, (ii) such Statutory Loss Absorption shall not constitute an event of default under the conditions of the Subordinated Notes and (iii) the Subordinated Noteholders will have no further claims in respect of the amount so written off or subject to conversion or otherwise as a result of such Statuto
		<ul><li>will cease to have any claims for any principal amount and accrued but unpaid interest which has been subject to write-off.</li><li>In addition, subject to the determination by the Relevant Authority and without the consent of the Noteholders, the Subordinated Notes may be subject to other resolution measures as envisaged under the relevant law.</li></ul>
C.10	Derivative Components:	Not applicable
C.11	Listing and Trading:	Application has been made to Euronext Amsterdam N.V. for Notes
	Zoung and Haumg.	to be issued under the Programme to be admitted to trading on
C.21		NYSE Euronext in Amsterdam. The Notes may also be listed on such other or further stock exchange or markets as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer may be issued on an unlisted basis. The applicable Final Terms will state whether or not

the Notes are to be listed or admitted to trading, as the case may be, and, if so, on which exchanges and/or markets and this
information will also be included in the relevant issue specific summary annexed to the applicable Final Terms.

	Section D - Risks							
D.2	Risks Specific to the Issuer:	When purchasing Notes, investors assume the risk that the Issumative become insolvent or otherwise be unable to make a payments due in respect of the Notes. There is a wide range factors which individually or together could result in the Issue becoming unable to make all payments due in respect of the Notes. It is not possible to identify all such factors or to determine which factors are most likely to occur, as the Issuer may not a aware of all relevant factors and certain factors which it current deems not to be material may become material. The Issuer hidentified a number of factors which could materially adverse affect its business and ability to make payments due under the Notes. These factors include:						
		<ul> <li>Conditions in the global financial markets and economy may materially adversely affect the Issuer's business financial position, results of operations and prospects.</li> <li>Volatility in, and the position of, financial markets, liquidity disruptions or market dislocations can adversely affect the Issuer's banking and funding activities.</li> <li>Changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates may adversely affect the Issuer's business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows.</li> <li>Lack of liquidity is a risk to the Issuer's business and its ability to access sources of liquidity.</li> <li>Reductions or potential reductions in the Issuer's credit ratings could have a significant impact on its borrowing ability and collateral triggers, and on the access to capital and money markets as well as adversely affect the Issuer's business and regulation. Major changes in laws and regulations as well as enforcement action could adversely affect the Issuer's business, financial position, results of operations and prospects.</li> <li>As a result of capital and/or liquidity requirements, the Issuer may not be able to manage its capital and liquidity effectively, which may adversely affect its business performance.</li> <li>Proposals for resolution regimes may lead to fewer assets of the Issuer being available to investors for recourse for their claims, and may lead to lower credit ratings and possibly higher cost of funding.</li> </ul>						

	<ul> <li>The Issuer operates in markets that are highly competitive. If the Issuer is unable to perform effectively, its business and results of operations will be adversely affected.</li> <li>The Issuer's operations and assets are located primarily in the Netherlands. Deterioration or long-term persistence of a difficult economic environment could have a negative effect on the Issuer's results of operations and financial position.</li> <li>The Issuer is subject to significant counterparty risk exposure and exposure to systemic risks which may have an adverse effect on the Issuer's results.</li> <li>The Issuer may be subject to increases in allowances for loan losses.</li> <li>The Issuer depends on the accuracy and completeness of information about customers and counterparties.</li> <li>The Issuer's risk management methods may leave the Issuer's risk management methods may leave the Issuer exposed to unidentified, unanticipated or incorrectly quantified risks, which could lead to material losses or material increases in liabilities (tail risk).</li> <li>The Issuer is subject to changes in financial reporting standards.</li> <li>The value of certain financial instruments recorded at fair value is determined using financial models incorporating assumptions, judgements and estimates that may change over time or may ultimately not turn out to be accurate.</li> <li>The Issuer is subject to reputational risk.</li> <li>The Issuer is subject to additional contributions from the Issuer.</li> <li>The Issuer is subject to additional risk exposure and the</li></ul>
	· · ·
isks Specific to the otes:	There are also risks associated with particular issues of Notes. These include a range of market risks (including that there may be not be an active trading market in Notes, that the value of an investor's investment may be adversely affected by exchange rate

movements or exchange controls where Notes are not denominated in the investor's own currency, that any credit rating assigned to Notes may not adequately reflect all the risks associated with an investment in such Notes and ratings assigned to the Notes may be lowered, suspended or withdrawn and that changes in interest rates will affect the value of Notes which bear interest at a fixed rate), the fact that the conditions of Notes may be modified without the consent of the holder in certain circumstances, that the holder may not receive payment of the full amounts due in respect of Notes as a result of amounts being withheld by the Issuer in order to comply with applicable law and that investors are exposed to the risk of changes in law or regulation affecting the value of their Notes. Other factors include:
<ul> <li>The Notes may be subject to optional redemption by the Issuer.</li> <li>Variable Rate Notes with a multiplier or other leverage factor can be a volatile investment</li> <li>Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may be converted at the discretion of the Issuer.</li> <li>The market value of Inverse Floating Rate Notes are more volatile than market values of other conventional floating rate debt securities.</li> <li>The price of Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium may be more volatile.</li> <li>Holders of Subordinated Notes have limited rights to accelerate.</li> <li>There is a redemption risk in respect of certain issues of Subordinated Notes.</li> <li>Statutory loss absorption of Subordinated Notes could have an adverse effect on the market price of the relevant Subordinated Notes; a Subordinated Notes, including the principal amount plus any accrued but unpaid interest, in the event that Statutory Loss Absorption occurs.</li> <li>No limitation to issue senior or <i>pari passu</i> ranking Notes.</li> <li>Each Noteholder must act independently as Noteholders do not have the benefit of a trustee.</li> <li>The EU Savings Directive may require the collection of withholding tax.</li> <li>Tax consequences of holding the Notes may be complex.</li> <li>Notes held in global form are reliant on third parties.</li> <li>The Base Prospectus must be read together with applicable Final Terms.</li> </ul>

<ul> <li>to write down debt).</li> <li>Definitive Notes where denominations involve integral multiples may be subject to minimum denomination considerations.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>An investor's investment in the Notes may be subject to restrictions and qualifications.</li> <li>Notes denominated in Renminbi ("Renminbi Notes") may be issued under the Programme.</li> </ul>

	Section E - Offer					
E.2b	Reasons for the Offer and Use of Proceeds:	Except as otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, the net proceeds from each issue of Notes will be applied by the Issuer for its general corporate purposes, which include making a profit. If, in respect of any particular issue of Notes, there is a particular identified use of proceeds, this will be stated in the applicable Final Terms and summarised in the relevant issue specific summary annexed to the applicable Final Terms.				
E.3	Terms and Conditions of the Offer:	The terms and conditions of each offer of Notes (including the price and amount) will be determined by agreement between the Issuer and the relevant Dealers at the time of issue, specified in the applicable Final Terms and summarised in the relevant issue specific summary annexed to the applicable Final Terms. An Investor intending to acquire or acquiring any Notes in a Public Offer from an Offeror other than the Issuer will do so, and offers and sales of such Notes to an Investor by such Offeror will be made, in accordance with any terms and other arrangements in place between such Offeror and such Investor including as to price, allocations and settlement arrangements.				
E.4	Interests Material to the Issue:	The Issuer has appointed Dealers for the Programme. The arrangements under which Notes may from time to time be agreed to be sold by the Issuer to, and purchased by, Dealers are set out in the Dealer Agreement made between the Issuer and the Dealers. The relevant Dealers may be paid fees in relation to any issue of Notes under the Programme. Any such Dealer and its affiliates may also have engaged, and may in the future engage, in investment banking and/or commercial banking transactions with, and may perform other services for, the Issuer and its affiliates in the ordinary course of business. If in respect of a particular issue of Notes there is a particular identified interest material to the issue, this will be stated in the applicable Final Terms and summarised in the relevant issue specific summary annexed to the applicable Final Terms.				
E.7	Estimated Expenses:	No expenses will be chargeable by the Issuer to an investor in connection with any offer of Notes. Any expenses chargeable by				

an	Authorised	Offeror	to a	an investo	r shall	be	charged	in
ac	accordance with any contractual arrangements agreed between the							
In	vestor and suc	ch Autho	rised	Offeror at	the tim	e of	the relev	ant
of	fer.							

#### **RISK FACTORS**

The Issuer believes that the following factors may affect its ability to fulfil its obligations under Notes issued under the Programme. Most of these factors are contingencies which may or may not occur and the Issuer is not in a position to express a view on the likelihood of any such contingency occurring.

In addition, factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with Notes issued under the Programme are also described below.

The Issuer believes that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in investing in Notes issued under the Programme, but the inability of the Issuer to pay interest, principal or other amounts on or in connection with any Notes may occur for other reasons and the Issuer does not represent that the statements below regarding the risks of holding any Notes are exhaustive. Additional risks not currently known to the Issuer or that the Issuer now views as immaterial may also have a material adverse effect on the Issuer's future business, operating results on financial condition and affect an investment in Notes issued under the Programme. Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Base Prospectus and reach their own views prior to making any investment decision.

Before making an investment decision with respect to any Notes, prospective investors should form their own opinions, consult their own stockbroker, bank manager, lawyer, accountant or other financial, legal and tax advisers and carefully review the risks entailed by an investment in the Notes and consider such an investment decision in the light of the prospective investor's personal circumstances.

Words and expressions defined in the sections headed "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" below shall have the same meaning in this section.

## Factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with Notes issued under the Programme

#### The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors

Each potential investor in the Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should

- have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained or incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus or any applicable supplement;
- (ii) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact the Notes will have on its overall investment portfolio;
- (iii) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Notes, including Notes with principal or interest payable in one or more currencies, or where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the potential investor's currency;
- (iv) understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes and be familiar with the behavior of any relevant indices and financial markets; and
- (v) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

Some Notes are complex financial instruments. Sophisticated institutional investors generally do not purchase complex financial instruments as stand-alone investments. They purchase complex financial instruments as a way to reduce risk or enhance yield with an understood, measured, appropriate addition of risk to their overall portfolios. A potential investor should not invest in Notes which are complex financial instruments unless it has the expertise (either alone or with a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes will perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of the Notes and the impact this investment will have on the potential investor's overall investment portfolio.

#### Risks related to the structure of a particular issue of Notes

A wide range of Notes may be issued under the Programme. A number of these Notes may have features which contain particular risks for potential investors. Set out below is a description of the most common of such features:

#### The Notes may be subject to optional redemption by the Issuer

The Final Terms of any issue of a Series of Notes under the Programme may specify that such Notes are subject to redemption at the option of the Issuer. Any optional redemption feature of Notes is likely to limit their market value. During any period when the Issuer may elect to redeem Notes, the market value of those Notes generally will not rise substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. This also may be true prior to any redemption period.

The Issuer may be expected to redeem Notes when its cost of borrowing is lower than the interest rate on the Notes. At those times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being redeemed and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time.

#### Variable Rate Notes with a multiplier or other leverage factor can be a volatile investment

Notes with variable interest rates can be volatile investments. If they are structured to include multipliers or other leverage factors, or caps or floors, or any combination of those features or other similar related, their market values may be even more volatile than those for securities that do not include those features.

#### Fixed/Floating Rate Notes

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may bear interest at a rate that the Issuer may elect to convert from a fixed rate to a floating rate, or from a floating rate to a fixed rate. The Issuer's ability to convert the interest rate will affect the secondary market and the market value of the Notes since the Issuer may be expected to convert the rate when it is likely to produce a lower overall cost of borrowing. If the Issuer converts from a fixed rate to a floating rate, the spread on the Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may be less favourable than then prevailing spreads on comparable Floating Rate Notes tied to the same reference rate. In addition, the new floating rate at any time may be lower than the rates on other Notes. If the Issuer converts from a floating rate to a fixed rate, the fixed rate may be lower than then prevailing rates on its Notes.

## The market value of Inverse Floating Rate Notes are more volatile than market values of other conventional floating rate debt securities

Inverse Floating Rate Notes have an interest rate equal to a fixed rate minus a rate based upon a reference rate such as LIBOR. The market values of those Notes typically are more volatile than market values of other conventional floating rate debt securities based on the same reference rate (and with otherwise comparable terms). Inverse Floating Rate Notes are more volatile because an increase in the reference rate not only decreases the interest rate of the Notes, but may also reflect an increase in prevailing

interest rates, which further adversely affects the market value of these Notes.

#### The price of Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium may be more volatile

The market values of securities issued at a substantial discount or premium from their principal amount tend to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do prices for conventional interest-bearing securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of the securities, the greater the price volatility as compared to conventional interest-bearing securities with comparable maturities.

#### **Risks related to Subordinated Notes**

#### Holders of Subordinated Notes have limited rights to accelerate

The Issuer may issue Notes under the Programme which are subordinated to the extent described in Condition 3 of the Conditions of the Notes. Any such Subordinated Notes will constitute unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer and will rank pari passu without any preference among themselves and with all other present and future unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer (other than those subordinated obligations expressed by their terms to rank lower than the Subordinated Notes), save for those preferred by mandatory and/or overriding provisions of law. In the event of liquidation or bankruptcy of the Issuer or in the event of a Moratorium (as defined in Condition 3 of the Conditions of the Notes) with respect to the Issuer, the claims of the holders of the Subordinated Notes ("Subordinated Noteholders") against the Issuer will be subordinated to (a) the claims of depositors (other than in respect of those whose deposits are expressed by their terms to rank equally to or lower than the Subordinated Notes), (b) unsubordinated claims with respect to the repayment of borrowed money and (c) other unsubordinated claims. By virtue of such subordination, payments to a Subordinated Noteholder will, in the event of liquidation or bankruptcy of the Issuer or in the event of a Moratorium with respect to the Issuer, only be made after, and any set-off by a Subordinated Noteholder shall be excluded until, all obligations of the Issuer resulting from higher-ranking deposits, unsubordinated claims with respect to the repayment of borrowed money and other unsubordinated claims have been satisfied. A Subordinated Noteholder may therefore recover less than the holders of deposit liabilities or the holders of other unsubordinated liabilities of the Issuer. Furthermore, the Conditions do not limit the amount of the liabilities ranking senior to any Subordinated Notes which may be incurred or assumed by the Issuer from time to time, whether before or after the issue date of the relevant Subordinated Notes.

In addition, the rights of Subordinated Noteholders are limited in certain respects. In particular, (i) redemption of Subordinated Notes pursuant to Conditions 6(b), (c), (d) or (e) of the Conditions of the Notes may only be effected after the Issuer has obtained the written consent of DNB, and (ii) the Issuer may be required to obtain the prior written consent of DNB before effecting any repayment of Subordinated Notes following an Event of Default. See Conditions 6(f) and 9(b) of the Conditions of the Notes for further details.

Although Subordinated Notes may pay a higher rate of interest than comparable Notes which are not subordinated, there is a real risk that an investor in Subordinated Notes will lose all or some of his investment should the Issuer become insolvent. See also the risk factor "*There is a redemption risk in respect of certain issues of Subordinated Note.*"

#### There is a redemption risk in respect of certain issues of Subordinated Notes

If the applicable Final Terms in respect of Subordinated Notes indicates that such Notes are redeemable at the option of the Issuer, if the whole or at least the minimum percentage of the outstanding nominal amount of the Notes, as specified in the applicable Final Terms, is fully excluded from qualifying as Tier 2 capital of the Issuer for the purposes of the regulatory capital rules applicable to the Issuer at the relevant time (other than the regulatory capital rules in force on the issue date of the relevant Notes) or DNB or other relevant authority has determined that the whole or at least the minimum percentage of the outstanding nominal amount of the Notes, as specified in the applicable Final Terms, is fully excluded from

qualifying as Tier 2 capital of the Issuer for the purposes of the regulatory capital rules applicable to the Issuer at the relevant time (other than the regulatory capital rules in force on the issue date of the relevant Notes) and provided the Issuer has notified the holders of the relevant Notes accordingly, the Issuer may redeem the relevant Notes at the amount and on the date(s) specified in the applicable Final Terms, subject to (i) DNB being satisfied that such disqualification as Tier 2 capital was not reasonably foreseeable at the relevant issue date, and (ii) the prior consent of DNB provided that at the relevant time such consent is required, and upon giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days' irrevocable notice.

The Issuer may choose to redeem the Subordinated Notes at times when prevailing interest rates may be relatively low. In such circumstances an investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a comparable security at an effective interest rate as high as that of the relevant Subordinated Notes. Furthermore, an optional redemption feature of Subordinated Notes may limit their market value. During any period when the Issuer may elect to redeem Subordinated Notes, the market value of those Subordinated Notes generally will not rise substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. This also may be true prior to any redemption period.

#### There is variation or substitution risk in respect of certain Series of Subordinated Notes

If Variation or Substitution is specified in the applicable Final Terms and if a CRD IV Capital Event or another event as specified in Condition 6(e) of the Conditions of the Notes has occurred and is continuing, then the Issuer may, subject to the prior written consent of DNB if required at the relevant time (but without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Subordinated Noteholders), substitute the Subordinated Notes or vary the terms of the Subordinated Notes in order to ensure that they remain or, as appropriate, become compliant with CRD IV or such other regulatory capital rules applicable to the Issuer at the relevant time. The terms and conditions of such varied or substituted Subordinated Notes may have terms and conditions that contain one or more provisions that are substantially different from the terms and conditions of the original Subordinated Notes. However, the Issuer cannot make changes to the terms of the Subordinated Notes or substitute the Subordinated Notes for securities that are materially less favourable to the Subordinated Noteholders and following such variation or substitution the resulting securities must have at least, *inter alia*, the same ranking, interest rate, maturity date, redemption rights, existing rights to accrued interest which has not been paid and assigned the same ratings as the Subordinated Notes. Nonetheless, no assurance can be given as to whether any of these changes will negatively affect any particular Subordinated Noteholder. In addition, the tax and stamp duty consequences of holding such varied or substituted Notes could be different for some categories of Subordinated Noteholders from the tax and stamp duty consequences of their holding the Subordinated Notes prior to such variation or substitution. See Condition 6(e) of the Condition of the Notes for further details.

"CRD IV" and "CRD IV Capital Event" have the meanings ascribed thereto in Condition 7(e) of the Conditions of the Notes.

# Statutory loss absorption of Subordinated Notes could have an adverse effect on the market price of the relevant Subordinated Notes; a Subordinated Noteholder may lose all of its investment in such Subordinated Notes, including the principal amount plus any accrued but unpaid interest, in the event that Statutory Loss Absorption occurs

The Conditions of the Subordinated Notes stipulate that the Subordinated Notes may become subject to the determination by the Relevant Authority or the Issuer (following instructions from the Relevant Authority) that all or part of the nominal amount of the Subordinated Notes, including accrued but unpaid interest in respect thereof, must be written off or converted into common equity Tier 1 instruments or otherwise be applied to absorb losses, all as prescribed by CMD ("**Statutory Loss Absorption**"). Upon any such determination, (i) the relevant proportion of the outstanding nominal amount of the Subordinated Notes subject to Statutory Loss Absorption shall be written off or converted into common equity Tier 1 instruments or otherwise be applied to absorb losses, as prescribed by CMD, (ii) such Statutory Loss Absorption shall not constitute an Event of Default and (iii) the Subordinated Noteholders will have no further claims in respect

of the amount so written off or subject to conversion or otherwise as a result of such Statutory Loss Absorption.

Any written-off amount as a result of Statutory Loss Absorption shall be irrevocably lost and holders of such Subordinated Notes will cease to have any claims for any principal amount and accrued but unpaid interest which has been subject to write-off.

The determination that all or part of the nominal amount of the Subordinated Notes will be subject to Statutory Loss Absorption may be inherently unpredictable and may depend on a number of factors which may be outside of the Issuer's control. Accordingly, trading behaviour in respect of Subordinated Notes which are subject to Statutory Loss Absorption is not necessarily expected to follow trading behaviour associated with other types of securities. Any indication that Subordinated Notes will become subject to Statutory Loss Absorption could have an adverse effect on the market price of the relevant Subordinated Notes. Potential investors should consider the risk that a Subordinated Noteholder may lose all of its investment in such Subordinated Notes, including the principal amount plus any accrued but unpaid interest, in the event that Statutory Loss Absorption occurs.

The "**Relevant Authority**" means DNB or other regulatory authority or governmental body having the power to impose Statutory Loss Absorption on the Subordinated Notes pursuant to CMD; and

"**CMD**" means any relevant laws and regulations applicable to the Issuer at the relevant time pursuant to, or which implement, or are enacted within the context of, a directive or regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing a framework for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms, a first draft of which was published on 6 June 2012, or any other resolution or recovery rules which may from time to time be applicable to the Issuer (including CRD IV). See also the risk factor "*Proposed and new banking legislation dealing with ailing banks give regulators resolution powers (including powers to write down debt)*".

#### No limitation to issue senior or pari passu ranking Notes

The Conditions of the Notes do not restrict the amount of securities which the Issuer may issue and which rank senior or *pari passu* in priority of payments with the Subordinated Notes.

The issue of any such securities may reduce the amount recoverable by Subordinated Noteholders on a winding-up of the Issuer. Accordingly, in the winding-up of the Issuer and after payment of the claims of senior creditors and of depositors, there may not be a sufficient amount to satisfy the amounts owing to the Subordinated Noteholders.

#### **Risks related to the Notes generally**

Set out below is a brief description of certain risks relating to the Notes generally:

#### Each Noteholder must act independently as Noteholders do not have the benefit of a trustee

Because the Notes will not be issued pursuant to an indenture, Noteholders will not have the benefit of a trustee to act upon their behalf and each Noteholder will be responsible for acting independently with respect to certain matters affecting such Noteholder's Note, including accelerating the maturity thereof upon the occurrence of an event of default, enforcing any covenants contained therein and responding to any requests for consents, waivers or amendments. See "*Terms and Conditions of the Notes—Events of Default*".

#### The Notes are subject to modification, waivers and substitution

The conditions of the Notes contain provisions for convening meetings of Noteholders to consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority.

The conditions of the Notes also provide that the Agent may, without the consent of Noteholders, agree to (i) any modification (not being a modification requiring the approval of a meeting of Noteholders) of any of the provisions of Notes which is not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders or (ii) any modification of the Notes which is of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to correct a manifest error or to comply with mandatory provisions of law or (iii) the substitution of another company as principal debtor under any Notes in place of the Issuer, in the circumstances described in Condition 16 of the Conditions of the Notes or (iv) the variation or substitution of certain Subordinated Notes in the circumstances described in Condition 6(e) of the Conditions of the Notes.

#### The EU Savings Directive may require the collection of withholding tax

If a payment of interest were to be made or collected through a Member State which has opted for a withholding system under EC Council Directive 2003/48/EC and an amount in respect of tax were consequently to be withheld from that payment (see the section entitled "*EU Council Directive on Taxation of Savings income*" under "*Taxation*"), none of the Issuer or any Paying Agent or any other person would be obliged to pay additional amounts with respect to any Note as a result of the imposition of such withholding tax. The Issuer is required to maintain a Paying Agent in a Member State that is not obliged to withhold or deduct tax pursuant to Directive 2003/71/EC (as amended, the "Prospectus Directive").

#### Tax consequences of holding the Notes may be complex

Potential investors should consider the tax consequences of investing in the Notes and consult their tax adviser about their own tax situation. In particular, depending on which provision is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Issuer may either (i) make the required withholding or deduction of such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges for the account of the holders of the Notes and shall not pay any additional amounts to the holders of the Notes, if such withholding or deduction is required by law or (ii) pay such additional amounts as shall be necessary in order that the net amounts received by the holders of the Notes after such withholding or deduction shall equal the respective amounts of principal and interest which would otherwise have been receivable in respect of the Notes as the case may be, in the absence of such withholding or deduction. See further "*Taxation*".

#### Noteholders may be subject to withholding tax under FATCA

Under FATCA the Issuer and other non-US financial institutions ("**FFI**") through which payments on Notes (including original issue discount ("**OID**")), if any, principal and redemption proceeds) are made may be required to withhold US tax in certain circumstances. Payments on Notes issued after 31 December 2013 might become subject to US withholding tax under FATCA if the payments were considered (in whole or in part) to be "foreign pass-thru payments" within the meaning of the FATCA rules. Payments on or with respect to the Notes will not become subject to FATCA withholding sooner than 1 January 2017. Furthermore, Notes that are issued before 1 January 2014 or, if later, the date that is six months after regulations defining the term "foreign pass thru payment" are published (the "**grandfathering period**") will not be subject to FATCA withholding in 2017 and later unless the Notes are considered to be equity for US federal income tax purposes or the Notes are "materially modified" for U.S. federal income tax purposes after the end of the grandfathering period. No withholding would be required on payments made directly to an investor that is not an FFI to the extent an investor provides information to the Issuer (or other FFI through which payments on the Notes are made) sufficient for the Issuer (and any other FFI through which payments on the Notes are made) to determine whether the investor is a US person or should otherwise be treated as holding a "United States Account" under FATCA.

If an amount in respect of FATCA withholding tax were to be deducted or withheld from any payments on the Notes, neither the Issuer nor any paying agent would be required to pay any additional amounts as a result of the deduction or withholding of such tax. As a result, investors who are FFIs that have

not entered into an FFI agreement, investors that hold Notes through such FFIs or investors that are not FFIs but have failed to provide required information to an FFI that has entered into an FFI agreement may be subject to withholding tax for which no additional amount will be paid by the Issuer. Holders of Notes should consult their own tax advisers on how these rules may apply to payments they receive under the Notes.

#### Notes held in global form are reliant on third parties

The Notes will initially be held by a common depositary or common safekeeper, as the case may be, on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg or by Euroclear Netherlands, in each case in the form of a Global Note which will be exchangeable for definitive Notes in limited circumstances as more fully described in the section headed "Form of the Notes" below. For as long as any Notes are represented by a Global Note held by a common depositary or common safekeeper, as the case may be, on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, payments of principal, interest (if any) and any other amounts on a Global Note will be made through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (as the case may be) against presentation or surrender (as the case may be) of the relevant Global Note and, in the case of a Temporary Global Note, certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership. The bearer of the relevant Global Note, being the common depositary or common safekeeper, as the case may be, for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg or Euroclear Netherlands, shall be treated by the Issuer and any Paying Agent as the sole holder of the relevant Notes represented by such Global Note with respect to the payment of principal, interest (if any) and any other amounts payable in respect of the Notes.

#### The Base Prospectus must be read together with applicable Final Terms

The conditions of the Notes included in this Base Prospectus apply to the different types of Notes which may be issued under the Programme. The full terms and conditions applicable to each Tranche of Notes can be reviewed by reading the Conditions as set out in this Base Prospectus in the section headed "Terms and Conditions of the Notes", which constitute the basis of all Notes to be offered under the Programme, together with the relevant Final Terms which applies and/or disapplies, supplements and/or amends the Conditions of the Programme in the manner required to reflect the particular terms and conditions applicable to the relevant Series of Notes (or Tranche thereof). Copies of the legal documentation relating to the Programme and copies of the Final Terms relating to each issue of Notes are available for inspection as described in "General Information".

#### Change of law and jurisdiction may impact the Notes

No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible change to Dutch, European or any applicable laws, regulations or administrative practices after the date of this Base Prospectus. Such changes in law may include, but are not limited to, the introduction of a variety of statutory resolution and loss absorption tools which may affect the rights of Noteholders. Such tools may include the ability to write off sums otherwise payable on such Notes (see the risk factors entitled "*Proposed and new banking legislation dealing with ailing banks give regulators resolution powers (including powers to write down debt)*" and " *Statutory loss absorption of Subordinated Notes could have an adverse effect on the market price of the relevant Subordinated Notes; a Subordinated Noteholder may lose all of its investment in such Subordinated Notes, including the principal amount plus any accrued but unpaid interest, in the event that Statutory Loss Absorption occurs*" for further information).

Prospective investors should note that the courts of The Netherlands shall have jurisdiction in respect of any disputes involving any Series of Notes. Noteholders may take any suit, action or proceedings arising out of or in connection with the Senior Notes against the Issuer in any court of competent jurisdiction. The laws of The Netherlands may be materially different from the equivalent law in the home state jurisdiction of prospective investors in its application to the Notes.

## Proposed and new banking legislation dealing with ailing banks give regulators resolution powers (including powers to write down debt)

The Dutch legislator has adopted banking legislation dealing with ailing banks (Special Measures Financial Institutions Act, *Wet bijzondere maatregelen financiële ondernemingen*, the "Dutch Intervention Act"). On 6 June 2012, the European Commission proposed a new Directive on a comprehensive framework for dealing with ailing banks (the "EU Bank Proposals") which contains a number of legislative proposals similar to the Dutch Intervention Act. Pursuant to the Dutch Intervention Act, substantial new powers are granted to DNB and the Dutch Minister of Finance enabling them to deal with, inter alia, ailing Dutch banks prior to insolvency. The Dutch Intervention Act empowers DNB or the Minister of Finance, as applicable, to commence proceedings leading, inter alia, to: (i) transfer of all or part of the business (including deposits) of the relevant bank to a private sector purchaser; (ii) transfer of all or part of the business of the relevant bank to a "bridge bank"; and (iii) public ownership (nationalization) of the relevant bank and expropriation of debt securities (which may include the Notes). Subject to certain exceptions, as soon as any of these proposed proceedings have been initiated by DNB or the Minister of Finance, as applicable, the relevant counterparties of such bank would not be entitled to invoke events of default or set off their claims against the bank.

Within the context of the resolution tools provided in the Dutch Intervention Act, holders of debt securities of a bank (including the holders of Senior Notes and/or Subordinated Notes) subject to resolution could be affected by issuer substitution or replacement, transfer of debt, expropriation, modification of terms and/or suspension or termination of listings. The draft EU Bank Proposals include similar proposals.

The draft EU Bank Proposals include proposals to give regulators resolution powers to write down debt of a failing bank (or to convert such debt into equity) to strengthen its financial position and allow it to continue as a going concern subject to appropriate restructuring. These measures may be applied retrospectively to any debt currently in issue. It is possible that under the Dutch Intervention Act or the EU Bank Proposals or any other future similar proposals, any new resolution powers given to DNB or another relevant authority could be used in such a way as to result in the debt instruments of the Issuer, such as the Senior Notes and/or the Subordinated Notes, absorbing losses or otherwise affecting the rights of Subordinated Noteholders in the course of any resolution of the Issuer. With respect to Subordinated Notes, see Condition 6(j) of the Conditions of the Notes for further detail.

It is at this stage uncertain in what form the EU Bank Proposals will be adopted. However, the Dutch Intervention Act and, if they were to be adopted in their current form, the EU Bank Proposals could negatively affect the position of certain categories of Noteholders and the credit rating attached to certain categories of Notes then outstanding, in particular if and when any of the above proceedings would be commenced against the Issuer, since the application of any such legislation may affect the rights and effective remedies of holders of such Notes as well as their market value.

# Definitive Notes where denominations involve integral multiples may be subject to minimum denomination considerations

In relation to any issue of Notes which have denominations consisting of a minimum Specified Denomination plus one or more higher integral multiples of another smaller amount, it is possible that such Notes may be traded in amounts that are not integral multiples of such minimum Specified Denomination. In such a case a holder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds an amount which is less than the minimum Specified Denomination in his account with the relevant clearing system at the relevant time may not receive a definitive Note in respect of such holding (should definitive Notes be printed) and would need to purchase a principal amount of Notes such that its holding amounts to a Specified Denomination.

If Definitive Notes are issued, holders should be aware that definitive Notes which have a denomination that is not an integral multiple of the minimum Specified Denomination may be illiquid and difficult to trade.

# No limitation on the incurrence of indebtedness ranking pari passu with or senior to the claims of Noteholders

The Conditions of the Notes do not limit the Issuer's ability or the ability of any group entity to incur additional indebtedness, including indebtedness that ranks senior or *pari passu* in priority of payment to the Notes.

Any such additional indebtedness may reduce the amount recoverable by Noteholders on a windingup of the Issuer. Accordingly, in the winding-up of the Issuer and after payment of the claims ranking senior to the Noteholders (such as secured claims), there may not be a sufficient amount to satisfy the amounts owing to the Noteholders.

#### **Risks related to the market generally**

Set out below is a brief description of the principal market risks, including liquidity risk, exchange rate risk, interest rate risk and credit risk:

#### A secondary market may not develop for the Notes

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market does develop, it may not be very liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily or at prices that will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary market. This is particularly the case for Notes that are especially sensitive to interest rate, currency or market risks, are designed for specific investment objectives or strategies or have been structured to meet the investment requirements of limited categories of investors. These types of Notes generally would have a more limited secondary market and more price volatility than conventional debt securities. Illiquidity may have a severely adverse effect on the market value of Notes.

#### The Notes are subject to exchange rate risks and exchange controls

The Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes in the Specified Currency. This presents certain risks relating to currency conversions if an investor's financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or currency unit (the "Investor's Currency") other than the Specified Currency. These include the risk that exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of the Specified Currency or revaluation of the Investor's Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor's Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the value of the Investor's Currency relative to the Specified Currency would decrease (i) the Investor's Currency-equivalent yield on the Notes, (ii) the Investor's Currency-equivalent value of the principal payable on the Notes and (iii) the Investor's Currency-equivalent market value of the Notes.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than expected, or no interest or principal.

#### The price of notes are affected by changes in interest rates

Investment in Fixed Rate Notes involves the risk that subsequent changes in market interest rates may adversely affect the value of the Fixed Rate Notes.

#### The credit ratings of the Notes or the Issuer may not reflect all risks

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to the Notes. The ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors discussed above, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised or withdrawn by the rating agency at any time.

In general, European regulated investors are restricted under the CRA Regulation from using credit ratings for regulatory purposes, unless such ratings are issued by a credit rating agency established in the EU and registered under the CRA Regulation (and such registration has not been withdrawn or suspended), subject to transitional provisions that apply in certain circumstances whilst the registration application is pending. Such general restriction will also apply in the case of credit ratings issued by non-EU credit rating agency or the relevant non-EU rating agency is certified in accordance with the CRA Regulation (and such endorsement action or certification, as the case may be, has not been withdrawn or suspended). Certain information with respect to the credit rating agencies and ratings will be disclosed in the Final Terms.

#### An investor's investment in the Notes may be subject to restrictions and qualifications

An investor's total return on an investment in any Notes will be affected by the level of fees charged by any nominee service provider through which it holds its Notes and/or clearing system used by the investor. Such a person or institution may charge fees for the opening and operation of an investment account, transfers of Notes, custody services and on payments of interest, principal and other amounts. Potential investors are therefore advised to investigate the basis on which any such fees will be charged on the relevant Notes.

#### **Risks relating to Renminbi-denominated Notes**

Notes denominated in Renminbi ("Renminbi Notes") may be issued under the Programme. Renminbi Notes contain particular risks for potential investors.

## Renminbi is not freely convertible and there are significant restrictions on the remittance of Renminbi into and outside the PRC which may adversely affect the liquidity of Renminbi Notes

Renminbi is not freely convertible at present. The government of the PRC (the "PRC Government") continues to regulate conversion between Renminbi and foreign currencies, including the Hong Kong dollar, despite significant reduction in control by it in recent years over trade transactions involving import and export of goods and services as well as other frequent routine foreign exchange transactions. These transactions are known as current account items. Participating banks in Hong Kong have been permitted to engage in the settlement of current account trade transactions in Renminbi under a pilot scheme introduced in July 2009 which originally applied to approved pilot exterprises in five cities in the PRC. The pilot scheme was extended in August 2011 to cover the whole nation and to make the settlement of current account trade transactions and to make the settlement of current account trade transactions and to make the settlement of current account trade transactions and to make the settlement of current account trade transactions and to make the settlement of current account trade transactions and to make the settlement of current account trade transactions and to make the settlement of current account trade transactions and to make the settlement of current account trade transactions in Renminbi available worldwide.

However, remittance of Renminbi by foreign investors into the PRC for purposes such as capital contributions, known as capital account items, is generally only permitted upon obtaining specific approvals from the relevant authorities on a case-by-case basis and subject to a strict monitoring system. Regulations in the PRC on the remittance of Renminbi into the PRC for settlement of capital account items is developing gradually.

On 12 October 2011, MOFCOM promulgated the Circular concerning Certain Issues on Direct Investment involving Cross-border Renminbi (《商務部關於跨境人民幣直接投資有關問題的通知》) (the "MOFCOM Circular"). In accordance with the MOFCOM Circular, the appropriate office of MOFCOM and/or its local counterparts were authorised to approve Renminbi foreign direct investments ("FDI") with certain exceptions based on, amongst others, the size and industry of the investment. The MOFCOM Circular also stipulates that the proceeds of FDI may not be used towards investment in securities, financial derivatives or entrustment loans in the PRC, except for investments in PRC domestic companies listed in the PRC through private placements or share transfers by agreement.

On 13 October 2011, the People's Bank of China (中國人民銀行) (the "PBoC") promulgated the Administrative Measures on Renminbi Settlement of Foreign Direct Investment

(《外商直接投資人民幣結算業務管理辦法》) (the "PBoC FDI Measures"), as part of the implementation of the PBoC's detailed FDI accounts administration system. The system covers almost all aspects in relation to FDI, including capital injections, payments for the acquisition of PRC domestic enterprises, repatriation of dividends and other distributions, as well as Renminbi denominated cross-border loans. On 14 June 2012, the PBoC further issued the implementing rules for the PBoC FDI Measures, special approval for FDI and shareholder loans from the PBoC, which was previously required, is no longer necessary. In some cases however, post-event filing with the PBoC is still necessary.

As the MOFCOM Circular and the PBoC FDI Measures are relatively new circulars, they will be subject to interpretation and application by the relevant authorities in the PRC.

There is no assurance that the PRC Government will continue to gradually liberalise control over crossborder remittance of Renminbi in the future, that the pilot scheme introduced in July 2009 (as extended) will not be discontinued or that new regulations in the PRC will not be promulgated in the future which have the effect of restricting or eliminating the remittance of Renminbi into or outside the PRC. In the event that funds cannot be repatriated outside the PRC in Renminbi, this may affect the overall availability of Renminbi outside the PRC and the ability of the Issuer to source Renminbi to finance its obligations under Notes denominated in Renminbi.

# There is only limited availability of Renminbi outside the PRC, which may affect the liquidity of the Renminbi Notes and the Issuer's ability to source Renminbi outside the PRC to service Renminbi Notes

As a result of the restrictions by the PRC Government on cross-border Renminbi fund flows, the availability of Renminbi outside the PRC is limited. Since February 2004, in accordance with arrangements between the PRC Government and the Hong Kong government, licensed banks in Hong Kong may offer limited Renminbi-denominated banking services to Hong Kong residents and designated business customers. The PBoC has also established a Renminbi clearing and settlement mechanism for participating banks in Hong Kong. On 19 July 2010, further amendments were made to the Settlement Agreement on the Clearing of Renminbi Business (the "Settlement Agreement") between the PBoC and the Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited as the Renminbi clearing bank (the "Renminbi Clearing Bank") to further expand the scope of Renminbi business for participating banks in Hong Kong. Pursuant to the revised arrangements, all corporations are allowed to open Renminbi accounts in Hong Kong, there is no longer any limit on the ability of corporations to convert Renminbi and there is no longer any restriction on the transfer of Renminbi funds between different accounts in Hong Kong.

However, the current size of Renminbi-denominated financial assets outside the PRC is limited. According to statistics published by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority (the "HKMA"), as of [28 February 2012], the total amount of Renminbi deposits held by institutions authorised to engage in Renminbi banking business in Hong Kong amounted to approximately [RMB651,721 million].<sup>1</sup> In addition, participating authorised institutions are also required by the HKMA to maintain a total amount of Renminbi (in the form of cash, its settlement account balance and/or fiduciary account balance with the Renminbi Clearing Bank) of no less than 25 per cent. of their Renminbi deposits, which further limits the availability of Renminbi that participating banks can utilise for conversion services for their customers. Renminbi business participating banks do not have direct Renminbi Iquidity support from the PBoC. They are only allowed to square their open positions with the Renminbi Clearing Bank after consolidating the Renminbi trade position of banks outside Hong Kong that are in the same bank group of the participating banks concerned with their own trade position, and the Renminbi Clearing Bank only has access to onshore liquidity support from the PBoC only for the purpose of squaring open positions of participating banks for limited types of transactions, including open positions resulting from conversion services for corporations relating to cross-border trade settlement, for individual customers of up to RMB20,000 per person per day and for the designated business customers

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The information contained in the sentence to which this is a footnote has been accurately reproduced from information published by the HKMA and as far as the Issuer is aware and is able to ascertain from information published by the HKMA no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.

relating to the Renminbi received in providing their services. The Renminbi Clearing Bank is not obliged to square for participating banks any open positions resulting from other foreign exchange transactions or conversion services and the participating banks will need to source Renminbi from outside the PRC to square such open positions.

Although it is expected that the offshore Renminbi market will continue to grow in depth and size, its growth is subject to many constraints as a result of PRC laws and regulations on foreign exchange. There is no assurance that no new PRC regulations will be promulgated or the Settlement Agreement will not be terminated or amended in the future which will have the effect of restricting availability of Renminbi outside the PRC. The limited availability of Renminbi outside the PRC may affect the liquidity of the Renminbi Notes. To the extent the Issuer is required to source Renminbi outside the PRC to service the Renminbi Notes, there is no assurance that the Issuer will be able to source such Renminbi on satisfactory terms, if at all.

## Investment in the Renminbi Notes is subject to exchange rate risks

The value of Renminbi against the Hong Kong dollar and other foreign currencies fluctuates from time to time and is affected by changes in the PRC and international political and economic conditions as well as many other factors. The Issuer will make all payments of interest and principal with respect to the Renminbi Notes in Renminbi unless otherwise specified. As a result, the value of these Renminbi payments may vary with the changes in the prevailing exchange rates in the marketplace. If the value of Renminbi depreciates against the Hong Kong dollar or other foreign currencies, the value of the investment made by a holder of the Renminbi Notes in Hong Kong dollars or any other foreign currency terms will decline.

### Investment in the Renminbi Notes is subject to currency risk

If the Issuer is not able, or it is impracticable for it, to satisfy its obligation to pay interest and principal on the Renminbi Notes as a result of Inconvertibility, Non-transferability or Illiquidity (each, as defined in the Conditions), the Issuer shall be entitled, on giving not less than five or more than 30 calendar days' irrevocable notice to the investors prior to the due date for payment, to settle any such payment in U.S. Dollars on the due date at the U.S. Dollar Equivalent (as defined in the Conditions) of any such interest or principal, as the case may be.

# Payments with respect to the Renminbi Notes may be made only in the manner designated in the Renminbi Notes

All payments to investors in respect of the Renminbi Notes will be made solely (i) for so long as the Renminbi Notes are represented by global certificates held with the common depositary or common safekeeper, as the case may be, for Clearstream Banking *société anonyme* and Euroclear Bank SA/NV or any alternative clearing system, by transfer to a Renminbi bank account maintained in Hong Kong, (ii) for so long as the Renminbi Notes are represented by global certificates lodged with a sub-custodian for or registered with the CMU, by transfer to a Renminbi bank account maintained in Hong Kong in accordance with prevailing CMU rules and procedures or (iii) for so long as the Renminbi Notes are in definitive form, by transfer to a Renminbi bank account maintained in accordance with prevailing rules and regulations. The Issuer cannot be required to make payment by any other means (including in any other currency or by transfer to a bank account in the PRC).

#### Gains on the transfer of the Renminbi Notes may become subject to income taxes under PRC tax laws

Under the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law and its implementation rules which took effect on 1 January 2008, any gain realised on the transfer of Renminbi Notes by non-resident enterprise Holders may be subject to enterprise income tax if such gain is income derived from sources within the PRC. However, uncertainty remains as to whether the gain realised from the transfer of the Renminbi Notes would be treated as income derived from sources within the PRC and be subject to PRC tax. This will depend on how the

PRC tax authorities interpret, apply or enforce the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law and its implementation rules. According to the arrangement between the PRC and Hong Kong, residents of Hong Kong, including enterprise holders and individual holders, will not be subject to PRC tax on any capital gains derived from a sale or exchange of the Renminbi Notes.

Therefore, if non-resident enterprise Holders are required to pay PRC income tax on gains on the transfer of the Renminbi Notes (such enterprise income tax is currently levied at the rate of 10 per cent. of gains realised, unless there is an applicable tax treaty between PRC and the jurisdiction in which such non-resident enterprise holders of Renminbi Notes reside that reduces or exempts the relevant tax), the value of their investment in the Renminbi Notes may be materially and adversely affected.

#### **OVERVIEW OF THE PROGRAMME**

This overview must be read as an introduction to this Base Prospectus and any decision to invest in any Notes should be based on a consideration of this Base Prospectus as a whole, including the documents incorporated by reference. The following overview does not purport to be complete and is taken from, and is qualified in its entirety by, the remainder of this Base Prospectus and, in relation to the terms and conditions of any particular Tranche of Notes, the applicable Final Terms. The Issuer and any relevant Dealer may agree that Notes shall be issued in a form other than that contemplated in the Terms and Conditions, in which event, if appropriate, a supplement to the Base Prospectus or a new prospectus will be published.

Words and expressions defined in "Form of the Notes" and "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" below, respectively, shall have the same meanings in this summary. Throughout this section the term ABN AMRO is used as a reference to the Issuer and its consolidated subsidiaries and other group companies (including ABN AMRO Group N.V.).

Issuer:	ABN AMRO Bank N.V.
Description:	Programme for the issuance of Medium Term Notes.
Arranger:	ABN AMRO Bank N.V.
Dealers:	ABN AMRO Bank N.V. and any other Dealers appointed in respect of the Notes in accordance with the Programme Agreement
<b>Regulatory Matters:</b>	Each issue of Notes denominated in a currency in respect of which particular laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or reporting requirements apply will only be issued in circumstances which comply with such laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or reporting requirements from time to time (see "Subscription and Sale" below).
Issuing and Principal Paying Agent:	ABN AMRO Bank N.V.
Size:	The Programme amount is unlimited.
Distribution:	Notes may be distributed by way of private or public placement and in each case on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis. The method of distribution of each Tranche will be stated in the applicable Final Terms.
Currencies:	Subject to any applicable legal or regulatory restrictions, such currencies as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer (if any), including, without limitation, Australian dollars, Canadian dollars, euro, Hong Kong dollars, New Zealand dollars, Sterling, Swiss francs, United States dollars and Japanese yen.
Maturities:	Any maturity, subject to applicable laws, regulations and restrictions and subject, in the case of Senior Notes, to a minimum maturity of one month.
Issue Price:	Notes may be issued on a fully-paid basis and at any issue price which is at par or at a discount to, or premium over, par and shall be determined by the Issuer and the Dealers in accordance with market

conditions.

Form of Notes: The Notes are in bearer form. Each Tranche of Notes will be in either NGN or CGN form and will (unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms) initially be represented by a Temporary Global Note which will be deposited on the relevant Issue Date either (i) with, in the case of CGNs, a common depositary or, in the case of NGNs, a common safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other agreed clearing system or (ii) with Euroclear Netherlands. The Temporary Global Note will be exchangeable as described therein for either a Permanent Global Note (as defined herein) or definitive Notes only on the occurrence of an exchange event as described therein. A Permanent Global Note is exchangeable for definitive Notes only upon the occurrence of an Exchange Event, all as described in "Form of the Notes" below and in respect of Global Notes deposited with Euroclear Netherlands only in the limited circumstances as described in the Dutch Securities Giro Transfer Act (Wet giraal effectenverkeer) and in accordance with the rules and regulations of Euroclear Netherlands. Any interest in a Global Note will be transferable only in accordance with the rules and procedures for the time being of either (i) Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other agreed clearing system or (ii) Euroclear Netherlands, as appropriate.

**Fixed Rate Notes:** Fixed interest will be payable on the date or dates specified in the applicable Final Terms and on redemption, and will be calculated on the basis of such Day Count Fraction as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms).

**Floating Rate Notes:** Floating Rate Notes will bear interest either at a rate determined on the same basis as the floating rate under a notional interest-rate swap transaction in the relevant Specified Currency governed by an agreement incorporating the 2006 ISDA Definitions (as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc., and as amended and updated as at the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes of the relevant Series) or on the basis of a reference rate appearing on the agreed screen page of a commercial quotation service or on such other basis as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms).

The Margin (if any) relating to such floating rate will be specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Floating Rate Notes may also have a maximum interest rate, a minimum interest rate or both.

Interest on Floating Rate Notes in respect of each Interest Period, as agreed prior to issue by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer (if any), will be payable on such Interest Payment Dates, and will be calculated on the basis of such Day Count Fraction, as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer (if any) (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms). **Zero Coupon Notes:** Zero Coupon Notes will be offered and sold at a discount to their nominal amount or at par and will not bear interest other than in the case of late payment as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms.

**Redemption:** The applicable Final Terms will indicate either that the Notes cannot be redeemed prior to their stated maturity (other than following an Event of Default) or that such Notes will be redeemable for taxation reasons and/or at the option of the Issuer and/or the Noteholders upon giving notice to the Noteholders or the Issuer, as the case may be, on a date or dates specified prior to such stated maturity and at a price or prices and on such terms as are indicated in the applicable Final Terms.

Regulatory Call Option

The applicable Final Terms in respect of Subordinated Notes will indicate whether such Notes will be redeemable at the option of the Issuer at the amount and on the date(s) specified in the applicable Final Terms subject to (i) the Dutch Central Bank (De Nederlandsche Bank N.V., "DNB") being satisfied that such disqualification as Tier 2 capital was not reasonably foreseeable at the Issue Date and (ii) the prior consent of DNB provided that at the relevant time such consent is required, and upon giving notice to the Noteholders, in the event that the whole or at least the minimum percentage of the outstanding nominal amount of the Notes, as specified in the applicable Final Terms, is fully excluded from qualification as Tier 2 capital of the Issuer for the purposes of the regulatory capital rules applicable to the Issuer at the relevant time (other than the regulatory capital rules in force on the Issue Date of the Notes) or DNB or other relevant authority has determined that the whole or at least the minimum percentage of the outstanding nominal amount of the Notes, as specified in the applicable Final Terms, is fully excluded from qualifying as Tier 2 capital of the Issuer for the purposes of the regulatory capital rules applicable to the Issuer at the relevant time (other than the regulatory capital rules in force on the Issue Date of the Notes) (a "Regulatory Event").

**Denomination of Notes:** Notes will be issued in such denominations as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms save that the minimum denomination of each Note will be such as may be allowed or required from time to time by the relevant central bank (or equivalent body) or any laws or regulations applicable to the relevant Specified Currency.

**Taxation:** All payments in respect of the Notes will be made free and clear of withholding or deducting taxes of The Netherlands, unless the withholding is required by law. In that event, the Issuer will either (i) subject to certain exceptions as provided in Condition 7 of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, pay such additional amounts as will result in the Noteholders receiving such amounts as they would have received in respect of the Notes had no such withholding been required or (ii) make the required withholding or deduction but the Issuer will not pay any additional amounts to compensate Noteholders, as will be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer at the time of issue of the Notes.

If the applicable Final Terms provides that payments are to be made subject to withholding of applicable Dutch taxes (if any), it will also specify that Condition 6(b) will not apply to the Notes.

Negative Pledge:	None.

• •

Cross Default: None.

...

**DI** 1

**Status of the Senior** The Senior Notes will constitute unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer and will rank *pari passu* without any preference among themselves and with all other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer save for those preferred by mandatory and/or overriding provisions of law.

**Status and Characteristics relating to Subordinated Notes:** The Subordinated Notes will constitute unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer and will rank *pari passu* without any preference among themselves and with all other present and future unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer (other than those subordinated obligations expressed by their terms to rank lower than the Subordinated Notes), save for those preferred by mandatory and/or overriding provisions of law.

The claims of the holders of the Subordinated Notes of each Series (the "Subordinated Noteholders") against the Issuer will:

- (i) in the event of the liquidation or bankruptcy of the Issuer; or
- (ii) in the event that a competent court has declared that the Issuer is in a situation which requires special measures (*noodregeling*) in the interests of all creditors, as referred to in Chapter 3.5.5 of the Dutch Act on financial supervision (Wet *op het financieel toezicht*), and for so long as such situation is in force (such situation being hereinafter referred to as a "Moratorium"),

be subordinated to (a) the claims of depositors (other than in respect of those whose deposits are expressed by their terms to rank equally to or lower than the Subordinated Notes), (b) unsubordinated claims with respect to the repayment of borrowed money and (c) other unsubordinated claims.

By virtue of such subordination, payments to a Subordinated Noteholder will, in the event of liquidation or bankruptcy of the Issuer or in the event of a Moratorium with respect to the Issuer, only be made after, and any set-off by a Subordinated Noteholder shall be excluded until, all obligations of the Issuer resulting from higher ranking deposits, unsubordinated claims with respect to the repayment of borrowed money and other unsubordinated claims have been satisfied.

Events of Default of Subordinated Notes are restricted to bankruptcy and liquidation and repayment following an Event of Default may be subject to the prior consent of DNB. The Subordinated Notes of this Series may qualify as Tier 2 capital ("Tier 2 Notes") for the purposes of the regulatory capital rules applicable to the Issuer from time to time.

### Variation or Substitution

If the applicable Final Terms indicate that the Subordinated Notes will be subject to Variation or Substitution and if a CRD IV Capital Event or a Regulatory Event has occurred and is continuing, then the Issuer may, subject to the prior written consent of DNB provided that at the relevant time such consent is required (but without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Subordinated Noteholders) and having given not less than 30 nor more than 60 days' notice (which notice shall be irrevocable), either substitute all, but not some only, of the Subordinated Notes or vary the terms of the Subordinated Notes so that they remain or, as appropriate, become compliant with CRD IV or such other regulatory capital rules applicable to the Issuer at the relevant time, provided that such variation or substitution shall not result in terms that are materially less favourable to the Subordinated Noteholders and that the resulting securities must have at least, inter alia, the same ranking, interest rate, maturity date, redemption rights, existing rights to accrued interest which has not been paid and assigned the same ratings as the Subordinated Notes.

A "CRD IV Capital Event" is deemed to have occurred if the whole of the outstanding nominal amount of Notes can no longer be included in full in the Tier 2 capital of the Issuer by reason of their non-compliance with CRD IV or such other regulatory capital rules applicable to the Issuer at the relevant time.

## Statutory Loss Absorption

Subordinated Notes may become subject to the determination by the Relevant Authority or the Issuer (following instructions from the Relevant Authority) that all or part of the nominal amount of the Subordinated Notes, including accrued but unpaid interest in respect thereof, must be written off or converted into common equity Tier 1 instruments or otherwise be applied to absorb losses, all as prescribed by CMD ("Statutory Loss Absorption"). Upon any such determination, (i) the relevant proportion of the outstanding nominal amount of the Subordinated Notes subject to Statutory Loss Absorption shall be written off or converted into common equity Tier 1 instruments or otherwise be applied to absorb losses, as prescribed by CMD, (ii) such Statutory Loss Absorption shall not constitute an Event of Default and (iii) the Subordinated Noteholders will have no further claims in respect of the amount so written off or subject to conversion or otherwise as a result such Statutory Loss Absorption.

The Subordinated Notes will not be subject to Statutory Loss Absorption if and to the extent CMD is not deemed to apply retrospectively with respect to such Statutory Loss Absorption. In addition, subject to the determination by the Relevant Authority and without the consent of the Noteholders, the Subordinated Notes may be subject to other resolution measures as envisaged under CMD.

"Relevant Authority" means DNB or other regulatory authority or governmental body having the power to impose Statutory Loss Absorption on the Subordinated Notes pursuant to CMD; and

"CMD" means any relevant laws and regulations applicable to the Issuer at the relevant time pursuant to, or which implement, or are enacted within the context of, a directive or regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing a framework for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms, a first draft of which was published on 6 June 2012, or such other resolution or recovery rules which may from time to time be applicable to the Issuer (including CRD IV).

RatingsThe Issuer's long term credit ratings are: A from Standard & Poor's<br/>Credit Market Services France SAS ("S&P"), A2 from Moody's<br/>Investors Service, Limited ("Moody's"), A+ from Fitch Ratings Ltd.<br/>("Fitch") and A (high) from DBRS Ratings Limited ("DBRS").

An S&P's issuer credit rating is a forward-looking opinion about an obligor's overall creditworthiness in order to pay its financial obligations. This opinion focuses on the obligor's capacity and willingness to meet its financial commitments as they come due. It does not apply to any specific financial obligation, as it does not take into account the nature of and provisions of the obligation, its standing in bankruptcy or liquidation, statutory preferences, or the legality and enforceability of the obligation.

The purpose of Moody's ratings is to provide investors with a simple system of gradation by which relative creditworthiness of securities may be noted. Gradations of creditworthiness are indicated by rating symbols, with each symbol representing a group in which the credit characteristics are broadly the same. Issuer Ratings are opinions of the ability of entities to honour senior unsecured financial counterparty obligations and contracts. As such, Issuer Ratings incorporate any external support that is expected to apply to all current and future issuance of senior unsecured financial obligations and contracts, such as explicit support stemming from a guarantee of all senior unsecured financial obligations and contracts, and/or implicit support for issuers subject to joint default analysis (e.g. banks and government-related issuers). Issuer Ratings do not incorporate support arrangements, such as guarantees, that apply only to specific (but not to all) senior unsecured financial obligations and contracts.

Fitch's credit ratings provide an opinion on the relative ability of an entity to meet financial commitments, such as interest, preferred dividends, repayment of principal, insurance claims or counterparty obligations. Credit ratings are used by investors as indications of the likelihood of receiving their money back in accordance with the terms on which they invested. Fitch's credit ratings cover the global spectrum of corporate, sovereign (including supranational and sub-national), financial, bank, insurance, municipal and other public finance entities and the securities or other obligations they issue, as well as structured finance securities backed by receivables or other financial assets. The rating is not a recommendation or suggestion, directly or indirectly, to buy, sell, make or hold any investment, loan or security or any Issuer. The ratings do not comment on the adequacy of market price, the suitability of any investment, loan or security for a particular investor (including without limitation, any accounting and/or regulatory treatment), or the tax-exempt nature or taxability of payments made in respect of any investment, loan or security.

DBRS Corporate rating analysis begins with an evaluation of the fundamental creditworthiness of the issuer, which is reflected in an "issuer rating". Issuer ratings address the overall credit strength of the issuer. Unlike ratings on individual securities or classes of securities, issuer ratings are based on the entity itself and do not include consideration for security or ranking. Ratings that apply to actual securities (secured or unsecured) may be higher, lower or equal to the issuer rating for a given entity. Given the lack of impact from security or ranking considerations, issuer ratings generally provide an opinion of default risk for all industry sectors. As such, issuer ratings in the banking sector relate to the final credit opinion on a bank that incorporates both the intrinsic rating and support considerations, if any. DBRS typically assigns issuer ratings on a long-term basis using its Long Term Obligations Rating Scale; however, on occasion, DBRS may assign a "short-term issuer rating" using its Commercial Paper and Short Term Debt Rating Scale to reflect the issuer's overall creditworthiness over a short-term time horizon.

This information has been accurately reproduced and as far as the Issuer is aware and is able to ascertain from information published by S&P, Moody's, Fitch and DBRS, no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.

Notes issued pursuant to the Programme may be rated or unrated. Where an issue of Notes is rated, its rating will be specified in the applicable Final Terms.

Whether or not each credit rating applied for in relation to the relevant Series of Notes will be issued by a credit rating agency established in the European Union and registered under the EU Credit Rating Agency Regulation (EC No. 1060/2009) will be specified in the applicable Final Terms.

A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, change or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

Listing and admission to trading: Application has been made to Euronext Amsterdam N.V. for the Notes to be issued under the Programme to be admitted to trading and listed on Euronext in Amsterdam. The Notes may also be listed on such other or further stock exchange or stock exchanges as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer (if any) in relation to each issue. Unlisted Notes may also be issued. The applicable Final Terms will state whether or not the Notes are to be listed or admitted to trading, as the case may be, and, if so, on which exchanges and/or markets.

Substitution of Issuer:	the	The Issuer may, if certain conditions have been fulfilled, with the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders which will be deemed to have been given in respect of each issue of Notes on which no payment of principal of or interest on any of the Notes is in default and after written approval of DNB, be replaced and substituted by any directly or indirectly wholly owned subsidiary of the Issuer (the "Substituted Debtor") as principal debtor in respect of the Notes and the relative Coupons.
Governing Law:		The Notes will be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of The Netherlands.
Selling Restrictions:		There are selling restrictions in relation to Australia, the European

Selling Restrictions: There are selling restrictions in relation to Australia, the European Economic Area (including France, the Republic of Italy, The Netherlands and the Kingdom of Norway and the United Kingdom), Hong Kong, Japan, the People's Republic of China, Switzerland, Taiwan, the United States. See "Subscription and Sale" below.

## **IMPORTANT INFORMATION**

## **Responsibility Statement**

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Base Prospectus. To the best of the knowledge and belief of the Issuer (which has taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case) the information contained in this Base Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.

## **Documents incorporated by reference**

The following documents which have previously been published or are published simultaneously with this Prospectus and have been filed with the AFM shall be deemed to be incorporated in, and to form part of, this Base Prospectus:

- (a) the registration document of the Issuer dated 26 June 2013 (the "Registration Document"), including, for the purpose of clarity, the following items incorporated by reference therein:
- (b) The articles of association of the Issuer;
- (c) ABN AMRO Group N.V.'s publicly available audited consolidated annual financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2012 (the "Consolidated Annual Financial Statements 2012") (as set out on pages 217 to 223 in relation to the financial statements 2012, including the notes to the financial statements as set out on pages 224 to 335, pages 128 to 185 (certain information in Chapter 17 (Risk management)), pages 186 to 195 (certain information in Chapter 18 (Capital management)), pages 196 to 208 (certain information in Chapter 19 (Liquidity & funding)), pages 209 to 214 (certain information in Chapter 20 (Securitisation)) and the auditors' report thereon on pages 339 and 340, all as included in ABN AMRO Group N.V.'s Annual Report 2012);
- (d) Chapter 10 (Strategy) on pages 54-59, Chapter 16 (Introduction to risk & capital management) on pages 126-127, Chapter 24 (Definitions of important terms) on pages 349 354, Chapter 25 (Abbreviations) on pages 355 357 and Chapter 26 (Cautionary statement on forward looking statements) on pages 358 359 of ABN AMRO Group N.V.'s Annual Report 2012;
- (e) ABN AMRO Group N.V.'s publicly available audited consolidated annual financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2011 (the "Consolidated Annual Financial Statements 2011") (as set out on pages 149 to 155 in relation to the financial statements 2011, including the notes to the consolidated annual financial statements as set out on pages 156 to 269, pages 76 to 109 (certain information in Chapter 8 (Risk management)), pages 110 to 117 (certain information in Chapter 9 (Capital Management)), pages 118 to 131 (certain information in Chapter 10 (Liquidity and funding)) and the auditors' report thereon on pages 273 and 274, all as included in ABN AMRO Group N.V.'s Annual Report 2011);
- (f) Chapter 20 (Definitions of important terms) on pages 288 to 291, Chapter 21 (Abbreviations) on pages 292 and 293 and the Section "Notes to the reader" in the inside cover of ABN AMRO Group N.V.'s Annual Report 2011;
- (g) the Issuer's publicly available unaudited abbreviated financial statements 2012 for the financial year ended 31 December 2012 prepared on the basis of article 2:403 of the Dutch Civil Code (*Burgerlijk Wetboek*);
- (h) the Issuer's publicly available unaudited abbreviated financial statements 2011 for the financial year ended 31 December 2011 prepared on the basis of article 2:403 of the Dutch Civil Code (*Burgerlijk Wetboek*); and

(i) the press release titled "ABN AMRO reports net profit of EUR 415 million for first quarter of 2013" dated 17 May 2013. The information set out therein is unaudited,

save that any statement contained in a document which is incorporated by reference herein shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for the purpose of this Base Prospectus to the extent that a statement contained herein modifies or supersedes such earlier statement (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise).

Any information contained in any of the documents specified above which is not incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus is either not relevant to investors or is covered elsewhere in this Base Prospectus.

The Issuer will provide, without charge, to each person to whom a copy of this Base Prospectus has been delivered, upon the request of such person, a copy of any or all of the documents deemed to be incorporated herein by reference. Requests for such documents should be directed to the Issuer at its registered office at: Gustav Mahlerlaan 10, 1082 PP Amsterdam, The Netherlands, by telephone: +31 20 6282 282 or by e-mail: investorrelations@nl.abnamro.com. Such documents can also be obtained in electronic form from the Issuer's website (http://www.abnamro.com/en/investor-relations/debt-investors/unsecured-funding/euro-medium-term-notes.html). The other information included on or linked to through this website or in any website referred to in any document incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus is not a part of this Base Prospectus.

The Issuer will, in the event of any significant new factor, material mistake or inaccuracy relating to the information included in this Base Prospectus which is capable of affecting the assessment of any Notes, prepare a supplement to this Base Prospectus or publish a new base prospectus for use in connection with any subsequent issue of Notes. If the terms of this Programme are modified or amended in a manner which would make this Base Prospectus, as supplemented, inaccurate or misleading, a new base prospectus will be prepared.

This Base Prospectus and any supplement will be valid for listing Notes on Euronext in Amsterdam and/or any other exchange in an unlimited aggregate nominal amount.

### Consent

## INFORMATION ON PUBLIC OFFERS OF NOTES WHERE THERE IS NO EXEMPTION FROM THE OBLIGATION UNDER THE PROSPECTUS DIRECTIVE TO PUBLISH A PROSPECTUS

# Restrictions on public offers of Notes in Relevant Member States where there is no exemption from the obligation under the Prospectus Directive to publish a prospectus

Certain Tranches of Notes with a denomination of less than EUR100,000 (or its equivalent in any other currency) may, subject as provided below, be offered in any member state of the European Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each, a "Relevant Member State") in circumstances where there is no exemption from the obligation under the Prospectus Directive to publish a prospectus. Any such offer is referred to as a "Public Offer".

This Base Prospectus has been prepared on a basis that permits Public Offers of Notes in The Netherlands (a "Public Offer Jurisdiction"). Any person making or intending to make a Public Offer of Notes in a Public Offer Jurisdiction on the basis of this Base Prospectus must do so only with the consent of the Issuer– see "Consent given in accordance with Article 3.2 of the Prospectus Directive (Retail Cascades)" below.

If after the date of this Base Prospectus the Issuer intends to add one or more Relevant Member States to the list of Public Offer Jurisdictions for any purpose, it will prepare a supplement to this Base Prospectus specifying such Relevant Member State(s) and any relevant additional information required by the Prospectus Directive. Such supplement will also set out provisions relating to the consent of the Issuer to the use of this Base Prospectus in connection with any Public Offer in any such additional Public Offer Jurisdiction.

Save as provided above, none of the Issuer and the Dealers has authorised, nor do they authorise, the making of any Public Offer of Notes in circumstances in which an obligation arises for the Issuer or the Dealers to publish or supplement a prospectus for such offer.

### Consent given in accordance with Article 3.2 of the Prospectus Directive (Retail Cascades)

In the context of any Public Offer of Notes in a Public Offer Jurisdiction, the Issuer accepts responsibility in that Public Offer Jurisdiction for the content of this Base Prospectus in relation to any person (an "Investor") in that Public Offer Jurisdiction to whom an offer of any Notes is made by any financial intermediary to whom the Issuer has given its consent to use this Base Prospectus (an "Authorised Offeror") provided that the offer is made in compliance with all conditions attached to the giving of the consent. Such consent and conditions are described below under "Consent". None of the Issuer and the Dealers has any responsibility for any of the actions of any Authorised Offeror, including compliance by an Authorised Offeror with any applicable conduct of business rules or other local regulatory or securities law requirements in that Public Offer Jurisdiction in relation to such Public Offer.

Save as provided below, none of the Issuer and the Dealers has authorised the making of any Public Offer and the Issuer has not consented to the use of this Base Prospectus by any other person in connection with any Public Offer of Notes. Any Public Offer made without the consent of the Issuer is unauthorised and none of the Issuer and the Dealers accepts any responsibility or liability for the actions of the persons making any such unauthorised offer.

If, in the context of a Public Offer, an Investor is offered Notes by a person which is not an Authorised Offeror, the Investor should check with such person whether anyone is responsible for this Base Prospectus for the purposes of the Public Offer and, if so, who that person is. If the Investor is in any doubt about whether it can rely on this Base Prospectus and/or who is responsible for its contents it should take legal advice.

## Consent

Subject to the conditions set out below under "Common Conditions to Consent":

(a) Specific Consent: if (and only if) Part B of the applicable Final Terms specifies "Specific Consent" as "Applicable", the Issuer consents to the use of this Base Prospectus in connection with a Public Offer of Notes in any Public Offer Jurisdiction by any of the Dealers and by:

- (i) any financial intermediary named as an Initial Authorised Offeror in the applicable Final Terms ; and
- (ii) any financial intermediary appointed after the date of the applicable Final Terms and whose name is published on the website of the Issuer (www.abnamro.com/nl/investor-relations/debt-investors/unsecured-funding/index.html) and identified as an Authorised Offeror in respect of the relevant Public Offer; and

(b) General Consent: if (and only if) Part B of the applicable Final Terms specifies "General Consent" as "Applicable", the Issuer hereby offers to grant its consent to the use of this Base Prospectus in connection with a Public Offer of Notes in any Public Offer Jurisdiction by any financial intermediary which accepts such offer by publishing on its website the following statement (with the information in square brackets completed with the relevant information) (the "Acceptance Statement"):

"We, [insert legal name of financial intermediary], refer to the [insert title of relevant Notes] (the "Notes") described in the Final Terms dated [insert date] (the "Final Terms") published by ABN AMRO Bank N.V. (the "Issuer"). In consideration of the Issuer offering to grant their consent to our use of the Base Prospectus (as defined in the Final Terms) in connection with the offer of the Notes in [insert name(s) of relevant Public Offer Jurisdiction(s)] (the "Public Offer") in accordance with the Authorised Offeror Terms and subject to the conditions to such consent, each as specified in the Base Prospectus, we hereby accept such offer. Accordingly, we are using the Base Prospectus in connection with the Public Offer in accordance with the consent of the Issuer on the Authorised Offeror Terms and subject to the conditions of such consent."

Any financial intermediary falling within this sub-paragraph (b) who wishes to use this Base Prospectus in connection with a Public Offer is required, for the duration of the relevant Offer Period specified in the applicable Final Terms, to publish a duly completed Acceptance Statement on its website.

The consent referred to above relates to Public Offers occurring within 12 months from the date of this Base Prospectus.

### Common conditions to consent

The conditions to the consent of the Issuer are (in addition to the conditions described in either subparagraph (a) or sub-paragraph (b) under " Consent" above) that such consent:

- (a) is only valid in respect of the relevant Tranche of Notes;
- (b) is only valid during the Offer Period specified in the applicable Final Terms;

(c) only extends to the use of this Base Prospectus to make Public Offers of the relevant Tranche of Notes in such of the Public Offer Jurisdictions as are specified in the applicable Final Terms; and

(d) any other conditions specified in the applicable Final Terms.

## ARRANGEMENTS BETWEEN INVESTORS AND AUTHORISED OFFERORS

AN INVESTOR INTENDING TO ACQUIRE OR ACQUIRING ANY NOTES IN A PUBLIC OFFER FROM AN AUTHORISED OFFEROR OTHER THAN THE ISSUER WILL DO SO, AND OFFERS AND SALES OF SUCH NOTES TO AN INVESTOR BY SUCH AUTHORISED OFFEROR WILL BE MADE, IN ACCORDANCE WITH ANY TERMS AND OTHER ARRANGEMENTS IN PLACE BETWEEN SUCH AUTHORISED OFFEROR AND SUCH INVESTOR INCLUDING AS TO PRICE, ALLOCATIONS, EXPENSES AND SETTLEMENT ARRANGEMENTS. THE ISSUER WILL NOT BE A PARTY TO ANY SUCH ARRANGEMENTS WITH SUCH INVESTORS (OTHER THAN DEALERS) IN CONNECTION WITH THE PUBLIC OFFER OR SALE OF THE NOTES CONCERNED AND, ACCORDINGLY, THIS BASE PROSPECTUS AND ANY FINAL TERMS WILL NOT CONTAIN SUCH INFORMATION. THE INVESTOR MUST LOOK TO THE RELEVANT AUTHORISED OFFEROR AT THE TIME OF SUCH OFFER FOR THE PROVISION OF SUCH INFORMATION AND THE AUTHORISED OFFEROR WILL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR SUCH INFORMATION. THE ISSUER (EXCEPT WHERE THE DEALER IS THE RELEVANT AUTHORISED OFFEROR) HAS NO RESPONSIBILITY OR LIABILITY TO AN INVESTOR IN RESPECT OF SUCH INFORMATION.

## IN THE EVENT OF AN OFFER BEING MADE BY A FINANCIAL INTERMEDIARY, SUCH FINANCIAL INTERMEDIARY WILL PROVIDE INFORMATION TO INVESTORS ON THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE OFFER AT THE TIME THE OFFER IS MADE.

## SETTLEMENT, CLEARANCE AND CUSTODY

### The following is a summary of the settlement, clearance and custody arrangements for the Notes.

The Issuer shall not be liable for the failure of (a) Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg to pay any accountholder, and (b) any accountholder to pay the ultimate investors on whose behalf they act as nominee or custodian (whether via an Intermediary or otherwise), once payment has been made by, or on behalf of, the Issuer to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg. See the section headed "Risk Factors" above.

# Holding of the Notes through a clearing system: Settlement and clearance of the Notes within Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or Euroclear Netherlands

The Notes of each Series are to be held through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or Euroclear Netherlands, three large international clearing systems for securities.

*Clearstream, Luxembourg:* Clearstream, Luxembourg is incorporated under the laws of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg. Clearstream, Luxembourg is registered as a bank in Luxembourg and as such is subject to regulation by the Luxembourg Commission for the Supervision of the Financial Sector (CSSF). Clearstream, Luxembourg as operator of a securities settlement system under Luxembourg law is also supervised by the Central Bank of Luxembourg according to the law of 10 November 2009 on payment services.

*Euroclear:* Euroclear is a provider of settlement and related securities services for cross-border transactions involving domestic and international bonds, equities, derivatives and investment funds. Euroclear holds securities and book-entry interests in securities for participating organisations and facilitates the clearance and settlement of securities transactions between participants as defined in the Terms and Conditions governing use of Euroclear (T&C). Euroclear is also a specialised settlement bank, authorised to provide certain banking services. These facilitate settlement and enable clients to optimise their assets. Non-participants in the Euroclear System as defined in the T&C may hold and transfer book-entry interests in the securities as defined in the T&C through direct accounts with a participant in the Euroclear System or indirectly via a securities intermediary that holds a book-entry interest in the securities through Euroclear.

*Euroclear Netherlands:* Euroclear Netherlands is the business name for the central institute under the Dutch Securities Transfer Giro Act (*Wet giraal effectenverkeer*) with the statutory name Nederlands Centraal Instituut voor Giraal Effectenverkeer B.V., formerly known as NECIGEF. Euroclear Netherlands acts as the Central Securities Depository and is supervised by the Minister of Finance. In May 2002, NECIGEF was taken over by the Euroclear Group, a group of companies founded in Belgium that work together in post trade services. Euroclear Netherlands is the service provider of the ESES platform, together with Euroclear Belgium and Euroclear France. The system provides real-time settlement services, Euroclear Netherlands offers custody and securities administration services and manages giro-based securities transfers on behalf of its clients, including (i) the registration of master data (stock classes and contacts); (ii) account administration (holdings and clients); and (iii) transactions settlement (giro-based securities transfers and management). Access to Euroclear Netherlands under its admission policy is available to credit institutions and investment firms. Euroclear Netherlands may include securities as defined in the Securities Giro Transfer Act in its book-entry system and, subsequently will keep the respective securities in custody. Euroclear Netherlands accepts securities in registered form and bearer form embodied in a global note.

Custodial and depositary links have been established with Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear Netherlands to facilitate the initial issue and settlement of the Notes and cross-market transfers of the Notes associated with secondary trading. Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear Netherlands each holds securities for participating organisations and facilitates the clearance and settlement of securities transactions between their respective participants through electronic book-entry changes in the

accounts of such participants, eliminating the need for physical movement of certificates and any risk from lack of simultaneous transfers of securities and cash. Interests in Notes will be held through financial institutions as direct and indirect participants in Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or Euroclear Netherlands. Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or Euroclear Netherlands, as the case may be, and every other intermediate holder in the chain to the ultimate economic ownership of book-entry interests in the Global Notes, will be responsible for establishing and maintaining accounts for their participants and customers having interests in the book-entry interests in the relevant Notes.

The Issuer will not impose any fees in respect of the Notes. Prospective investors should note, however, that they may be required to bear certain fees and charges for custodial, nominee, transfer and clearing services charged by the relevant clearing system(s) and/or any intermediaries for the holding, transfer or redemption of the Notes. Prospective investors in Notes should contact any relevant intermediaries for further details of these fees and charges.

#### Selling the Notes: Trading in Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear Netherlands

Secondary market sales of book-entry interests in the Global Notes will be conducted in accordance with the normal rules and operating procedures of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear Netherlands. Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear Netherlands are under no obligation to perform or to continue to perform such procedures, and such procedures may be discontinued at any time. None of the Issuer, the Arranger, any Dealer or the Agent will have any responsibility for the performance by Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or Euroclear Netherlands or their respective direct or indirect participants or accountholders of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations.

# Holding and selling the Notes through a clearing system other than Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or Euroclear Netherlands

Secondary market sales of interests in the Global Notes may be conducted in accordance with the normal rules and operating procedures of the domestic clearing system or interests in the Global Notes may be transferred to a direct or indirect participant of another clearing system in accordance with the standard arrangements for such cross-market transfers. None of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg, Euroclear Netherlands nor any other clearing system is under any obligation to perform or to continue to perform such procedures, and such procedures may be discontinued at any time. None of the Issuer, the Arranger, the relevant Dealer or the Agent will have any responsibility for the performance by Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg, Euroclear Netherlands any other clearing or settlements system or their respective direct or indirect participants or accountholders of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations.

### **Custody arrangements**

Since the Global Notes will be deposited with a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or with Euroclear Netherlands, and primary settlement and clearance facilities will be provided by Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or Euroclear Netherlands, investors in the Notes must make arrangements for their Notes to be held in custody with an accountholder (or indirect accountholder) of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or Euroclear Netherlands, as the case may be. For these purposes, an indirect accountholder of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or Euroclear Netherlands may include an accountholder of another clearing system in respect of which arrangements have been made for the clearance of Notes of the relevant Series. Consequently, prospective investors in the Notes must have, or open, an investment account with an intermediary which is an accountholder of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or Euroclear Netherlands (as the case may be) or another clearing system in respect of which arrangements have been made to settle and clear the Notes. Intermediaries may charge a fee for the opening and operation of an investment account. The fees charged by one intermediary may differ from those charged by another intermediary and prospective investors should contact any intermediaries they may appoint directly for such information. Most banks and securities dealers in major financial centres worldwide maintain, or have access to, an account with, Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or Euroclear Netherlands (as the case may be) through which Notes may be held or transferred following issue.

Investment account and other nominee or custodian arrangements with respect to the Notes will be supplied by the intermediaries subject to their standard terms and conditions for the provision of such services. None of the Issuer, the Arranger or the relevant Dealer accept responsibility for the provision of such services or for the consequences of, or arising from, the use of such investment account or custody or nominee services.

### FORM OF THE NOTES

Notes will be issued in series (each a "Series"). Each Series may comprise one or more tranches ("Tranches" and each a "Tranche") issued on different dates. The Notes of each Series will all be subject to identical terms, whether as to currency, interest, maturity or otherwise, or terms which are identical except that the issue dates, the amount of the first payment of interest and/or the denomination thereof may be different. The Notes of each Tranche will all be subject to identical terms in all respects except that a Tranche may comprise Notes of different denominations.

Each Tranche of Notes will (unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms) be initially represented by a temporary global note (the "Temporary Global Note") (or, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, a permanent global note (the "Permanent Global Note", together with the Temporary Global Notes, the "Global Notes" and each a "Global Note")), without interest coupons or talons, which in either case, will:

- (i) if the Global Notes are intended to be issued in new global note ("NGN") form, as stated in the applicable Final Terms, be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche to a common safekeeper (the "Common Safekeeper") for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg; and
- (ii) if the Global Notes are not intended to be issued in NGN Form ("CGN"), be delivered to a common depositary (the "Common Depository") for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other agreed clearing system or (ii) be deposited with Euroclear Netherlands.

Notes to be held in Euroclear Netherlands may not be issued in NGN form.

Whilst any Note is represented by a Temporary Global Note and subject to TEFRA D selling restrictions, payments of principal and interest (if any) due prior to the Exchange Date (as defined below) will be made (against presentation of the Temporary Global Note if the Temporary Global Note is not intended to be issued in NGN form) only to the extent that certification (in a form to be provided) to the effect that the beneficial owners of such Note are not U.S. persons or persons who have purchased for resale to any U.S. person, as required by U.S. Treasury regulations, has been received by the relevant clearing system(s) and the relevant clearing system(s) have given a like certification (based on the certifications they have received) to the Agent. Any reference in this section to the relevant clearing system(s) shall mean the clearing and/or settlement system(s) specified in the applicable Final Terms.

On and after the date (the "Exchange Date") which is not less than 40 days nor (if the Temporary Global Note has been deposited with Euroclear Netherlands) more than 90 days after the date on which the Temporary Global Note is issued, interests in the Temporary Global Note will be exchangeable (free of charge), upon request as described therein, either for interests in a Permanent Global Note without interest coupons or talons or for definitive Notes (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms) in each case (if the Notes are subject to TEFRA D selling restrictions) against certification of beneficial ownership as described in the second sentence of the preceding paragraph. The holder of a Temporary Global Note will not be entitled to collect any payment of interest or principal due on or after the Exchange Date unless, upon due certification, exchange of the Temporary Global Note for an interest in a Permanent Global Note or for definitive Notes is improperly withheld or refused.

Pursuant to the Agency Agreement (as defined under "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" below) the Agent shall arrange that, where a Temporary Global Note representing a further Tranche of Notes is issued, the Notes of such Tranche shall be assigned an ISIN and a common code by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg which are different from the ISIN and common code assigned to Notes of any other Tranche of the same Series until at least the expiry of the distribution compliance period (as defined in

Regulation S under the Securities Act) applicable to the Notes of such Tranche.

Payments of principal and interest (if any) on a Permanent Global Note will be made through the relevant clearing system(s) (against presentation or surrender (as the case may be) of the relevant Permanent Global Note if the Permanent Global Note is not intended to be issued in NGN form) without any requirement for certification. Definitive Notes will be in the standard euromarket form. Definitive Notes and Global Notes will be to bearer.

A Permanent Global Note will be exchangeable (free of charge), in whole in accordance with the applicable Final Terms, for security printed definitive Notes with, where applicable, interest coupons or coupon sheets and talons attached. Such exchange may be made only upon the occurrence of an Exchange Event. An "Exchange Event" means (1) the Issuer has been notified that both Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or, if applicable, Euroclear Netherlands has been closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holiday, statutory or otherwise) or has announced an intention permanently to cease business or has in fact done so and no successor clearing system is available or (2) the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay additional amounts as provided for or referred to in Condition 7 which would not be required were the Notes represented by the Permanent Global Note in definitive form. The Issuer will promptly give notice to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 upon the occurrence of an Exchange Event. In the event of the occurrence of an Exchange and in the event of the occurrence of an Exchange Event as described in (2) above, the Issuer may also give notice to the Agent requesting exchange. Any such exchange shall occur no later than 15 days after the date on which the relevant notice is received by the Agent. Global Notes and definitive Notes will be issued pursuant to the Agency Agreement.

In case of Notes represented by a Permanent Global Note deposited with Euroclear Netherlands, on the occurrence of an Exchange Event as described above, an exchange (*uitlevering*) for definitive Notes will only be possible in the limited circumstances as described in the Dutch Securities Giro Transfer Act (*Wet giraal effectenverkeer*, "*Wge*") and in accordance with the rules and regulations of Euroclear Netherlands.

The following legend will appear on all Global Notes, definitive Notes and interest coupons (including talons) which are subject to TEFRA D selling restrictions:

"Any United States person who holds this obligation will be subject to limitations under the United States income tax laws, including the limitations provided in sections 165(j) and 1287(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986."

The sections referred to provide that United States holders, with certain exceptions, will not be entitled to deduct any loss on Notes or interest coupons and will not be entitled to capital gains treatment of any gain on any sale, disposition, redemption or payment of principal in respect of Notes or interest coupons.

The following legend will appear on all Global Notes held through Euroclear Netherlands:

"Notice: This Note is issued for deposit with Nederlands Centraal Instituut voor Giraal Effectenverkeer B.V. ("Euroclear Netherlands") at Amsterdam, The Netherlands. Any person being offered this Note for transfer or any other purpose should be aware that theft or fraud is almost certain to be involved."

A Note may be accelerated by the holder thereof in certain circumstances described in Condition 9 of the Notes. In such circumstances, where any Note is still represented by a Global Note and a holder of such Note so represented and credited to his account with the relevant clearing system(s) (other than Euroclear Netherlands) gives notice that it wishes to accelerate such Note, unless within a period of 15 days payment has been made in full of the amount due in accordance with the terms of such Global Note, holders of interests in such Global Note credited to their accounts with the relevant clearing system(s) (other than Euroclear Netherlands) will become entitled to proceed directly against the Issuer on the basis of statements

of account provided by the relevant clearing system(s) (other than Euroclear Netherlands) on and subject to the terms of the relevant Global Note. In the case of a Global Note deposited with Euroclear Netherlands, the rights of Noteholders will be exercised in accordance with the Wge.

### FORM OF FINAL TERMS

Set out below is the form of Final Terms which will be completed for each Tranche of Notes issued under the Programme with a denomination of less than EUR 100,000 (or its equivalent in another currency).

Date: []

## ABN AMRO Bank N.V.

(incorporated in The Netherlands with its statutory seat in Amsterdam and registered in the Commercial Register of the Amsterdam Chamber of Commerce under number 34334259)

### Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes] (the "Notes")

### under the Programme for the issuance of Medium Term Notes

[The Base Prospectus referred to below (as completed by these Final Terms) has been prepared on the basis that, except as provided in sub-paragraph (ii) below, any offer of Notes in any Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each, a "**Relevant Member State**") will be made pursuant to an exemption under the Prospectus Directive, as implemented in that Relevant Member State, from the requirement to publish a prospectus for offers of the Notes. Accordingly any person making or intending to make an offer of the Notes may only do so in:

(i) circumstances in which no obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive, in each case, in relation to such offer; or

(ii) those Public Offer Jurisdictions mentioned in "Public Offer" in Paragraph 8 of Part B below, provided such person is one of the persons mentioned in "Public Offer" in Paragraph 8 of Part B below and that such offer is made during the Offer Period specified for such purpose therein.

Neither the Issuer nor any Dealer has authorised, nor do they authorise, the making of any offer of Notes in any other circumstances].<sup>2</sup>

[The Base Prospectus referred to below (as completed by these Final Terms) has been prepared on the basis that any offer of Notes in any Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each, a "Relevant Member State") will be made pursuant to an exemption under the Prospectus Directive, as implemented in that Relevant Member State, from the requirement to publish a prospectus for offers of the Notes. Accordingly any person making or intending to make an offer in that Relevant Member State of the Notes may only do so in circumstances in which no obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive, in each case, in relation to such offer. Neither the Issuer nor any Dealer has authorised, nor do they authorise, the making of any offer of Notes in any other circumstances].<sup>3</sup>

The expression Prospectus Directive means Directive 2003/71/EC (and amendments thereto, including the 2010 PD Amending Directive, to the extent implemented in the Relevant Member State), and includes any relevant implementing measure in the Relevant Member State and the expression 2010 PD Amending Directive means Directive 2010/73/EU.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Consider to include this legend where a Public Offer of Notes is anticipated.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Consider including this legend where only an exempt offer of Notes is anticipated.

### PART A – CONTRACTUAL TERMS

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions (the "Conditions") set forth in the base prospectus dated 2 July 2013 [as supplemented by a supplement dated [*date*]], which [together] constitute[s] a base prospectus (the "**Base Prospectus**") for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive. This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive and must be read in conjunction with the Base Prospectus. Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of these Final Terms and the Base Prospectus. The Base Prospectus is available for viewing at www.abnamro.com/debtinvestors and during normal business hours at the registered office of the Issuer at Gustav Mahlerlaan 10, 1082 PP Amsterdam, The Netherlands and copies may be obtained from the Issuer at that address.

[The following alternative language applies if the first Tranche of an issue which is being increased was issued under a base prospectus with an earlier date. Consider whether a drawdown prospectus is required in this case, for example, because the final terms of the first Tranche included information which is no longer permitted to be included in final terms under the Prospectus Directive]

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions (the "Conditions") set forth in the base prospectus dated [*original date*]. This document constitutes the Final Terms of the securities described herein for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive and must be read in conjunction with the base prospectus dated 2 July 2013 [as supplemented by a supplement dated [*date*]] which [together] constitute[s] a base prospectus (the "**Base Prospectus**") for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive. Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the securities is only available on the basis of the combination of these Final Terms and the Base Prospectus. [Copies of such documents are available for viewing at www.abnamro.com/debtinvestors and during normal business hours at the registered office of the Issuer, currently at Gustav Mahlerlaan 10, 1082 PP Amsterdam, The Netherlands and copies may be obtained from the Issuer at that address.]]

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as "Not Applicable" (N/A). Note that the numbering should remain as set out below, even if "Not Applicable" is indicated for individual paragraphs or sub-paragraphs. Italics denote directions for completing the Final Terms.]

[When adding any other final terms or information consideration should be given as to whether such terms or information constitute "significant new factors" and consequently trigger the need for a supplement to the Base Prospectus under Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.]

1.	Issuer:		ABN AMRO Bank N.V.
2.	(i)	Series Number:	[]
	(ii)	Tranche Number:	[]
	(iii)	Date on which the Notes become fungible:	[Not Applicable/The Notes shall be consolidated, form a single series and be interchangeable for trading purposes with the [insert earlier <i>Tranches</i> ] on [[insert date]/the Issue Date/exchange of the Temporary Global Note for interests in the Permanent Global Note, as referred to in paragraph 23 below [which is expected to occur on or about [insert date]].]
3.	Specifi	ed Currency or Currencies:	[]

т.	nggie	gate Nominal Amount.	
	_	Tranche:	[]
	_	Series:	[]
5.	Issue I	Price of Tranche:	[] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount [plus accrued interest from [ <i>insert date</i> ] ( <i>in the case of fungible issues only, if applicable</i> )]
6.	(a)	Specified Denominations:	[]
	(b)	Calculation Amount	[]
			(If only one Specified Denomination, insert the Specified Denomination. If more than one Specified Denomination, insert the highest common factor. Note: There must be a common factor in the case of two or more Specified Denominations.)
7.	(i)	Issue Date:	[]
	(ii)	Interest Commencement Date:	[specify/Issue Date/Not Applicable]
			(N.B. An Interest Commencement Date will not be relevant for certain Notes, for example Zero Coupon Notes.)
8.	Matur	ity Date:	[ <i>Fixed rate – specify date/Floating rate –</i> Interest Payment Date falling in or nearest to [ <i>specify</i> <i>month and year</i> ]]
9.	Interes	st Basis:	[[] per cent. Fixed Rate]
			[[ <i>specify Reference Rate</i> ] +/- [] per cent. Floating Rate]
			[Zero Coupon]
			(further particulars specified below)
10.	Reden	nption/Payment Basis:	Subject to any purchase and cancellation or early redemption, the Notes will be redeemed on the Maturity Date at [100] per cent. of their nominal amount.
11.	Chang	e of Interest Basis:	[Specify the date when any fixed to floating rate change occurs or cross refer to paragraphs 14 and 15 below and identify there] [Not Applicable]
12.	Put/Ca	all Options:	[Investor Put]
			[Issuer Call]

Aggregate Nominal Amount:

4.

			[Regulatory Call]
			[(further particulars specified below)]
13.	Status	s of the Notes:	[Senior/Subordinated]
PRO	VISION	S RELATING TO INTEREST (IF AN	Y) PAYABLE
14.	Fixed	Rate Note Provisions	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
			(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub- paragraphs of this paragraph)
	(i)	Rate(s) of Interest:	[] per cent. per annum payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date
	(ii)	Interest Payment Date(s):	[] in each year [up to and including the Maturity Date] [in each case subject to adjustment in accordance with the [Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention] [and [] as Business Centre(s) for the definition of "Business Day"][, Unadjusted]]
			(NB: This will need to be amended in the case of long or short coupons)
	(iii)	Fixed Coupon Amount(s):	[] per Calculation Amount
	(iv)	Broken Amount(s):	[[] per Calculation Amount, payable on the Interest Payment Date falling [in/on] []/Not Applicable]
	(v)	Day Count Fraction:	[30/360 or Actual/Actual (ICMA)]
	(vi)	Determination Date(s):	[[] in each year/Not Applicable]
			(Insert regular interest payment dates, ignoring issue date or maturity date in the case of a long or short first or last coupon)
			NB: This will need to be amended in the case of regular interest payment dates which are not of equal duration
			NB: Only relevant where Day Count Fraction is Actual/Actual (ICMA)
15.	Float	ing Rate Note Provisions	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
			(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub- paragraphs of this paragraph)
	(i)	Interest Period(s):	[]

(ii)	First Interest Payment Date:	[]
(iii)	Specified Interest Payment Dates:	[Not Applicable/[•] in each year[, subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business Day Convention set out in (iv) below]]
(iv)	Business Day Convention:	[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/None]
(v)	Unadjusted:	[No/Yes/Not applicable]
		(Only applicable in case a Business Day Convention applies. Insert "No" if the amount of interest payable in respect of the relevant Interest Period should also be adjusted in accordance with the applicable Business Day Convention. Insert "Yes" if the amount of interest should be calculated as if the relevant Interest Payment Date were not subject to adjustment in accordance with the applicable Business Day Convention.)
(vi)	Business Centre(s):	[specify/Not Applicable]
(vii)	Manner in which the Rate of Interest and Interest Amounts	[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination]
	is to be determined:	
(viii)	is to be determined: Screen Rate Determination:	[Yes/No]
(viii)		[Yes/No] [for example, LIBOR or EURIBOR]
(viii)	Screen Rate Determination:	
(viii)	<ul> <li>Screen Rate Determination:</li> <li>Reference Rate:</li> <li>Interest Determination</li> </ul>	[for example, LIBOR or EURIBOR]
(viii)	<ul> <li>Screen Rate Determination:</li> <li>Reference Rate:</li> <li>Interest Determination</li> </ul>	[for example, LIBOR or EURIBOR] [] (Second London business day prior to the start of each Interest Period if LIBOR (other than euro LIBOR) and the second day on which the TARGET2 System is open prior to the start of each Interest
(viii)	<ul> <li>Screen Rate Determination:</li> <li>Reference Rate:</li> <li>Interest Determination Determination Date(s):</li> <li>Relevant Screen</li> </ul>	[for example, LIBOR or EURIBOR] [] (Second London business day prior to the start of each Interest Period if LIBOR (other than euro LIBOR) and the second day on which the TARGET2 System is open prior to the start of each Interest Period if EURIBOR or euro LIBOR)

		– Relevant Financial Centre:	[For example, London (in case LIBOR)/Euro-zone (where Euro-zone means the region comprised of the countries whose lawful currency is the euro)(in case of EURIBOR)]
	(ix)	ISDA Determination:	[Yes/No]
		– Floating Rate Option:	[]
		– Designated Maturity:	[]
		– Reset Date:	[]
	(x)	Margin(s):	[+/-] [ ] per cent. per annum
	(xi)	Minimum Rate of Interest:	[] per cent. per annum
	(xii)	Maximum Rate of Interest:	[] per cent. per annum
	(xiii)	Day Count Fraction:	[Actual/Actual (ISDA)
			Actual/365 (Fixed)
			Actual/365 (Sterling)
			Actual/360
			30/360
			30E/360
			30E/360 (ISDA)]
16.	Zero	Coupon Note Provisions	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
			(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub- paragraphs of this paragraph)
	(i)	Accrual Yield:	[] per cent. per annum
	(ii)	Reference Price:	[]
	(iii)	Day Count Fraction in relation to Early Redemption Amounts and late payment:	[Actual/Actual (ISDA)/Actual/365 (Fixed)/Actual/365 (Sterling)/Actual/360/30/360/30E/360/30E/360 (ISDA)]
PROV	VISION	S RELATING TO REDEMPTION	
17.	Issuer	Call:	[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub- paragraphs of this paragraph)
	(i)	Optional Redemption	[]
C1450 -	202 6.0	- 6	3

Date(s):

(ii)	Optional Redemption Amount(s):	[] per Calculation Amount
(iii)	If redeemable in part:	
	(a) Minimum Redemption Amount:	[]
	(b) Maximum Redemption Amount:	[]
(iv)	Notice period (if other than	[]
	as set out in the Conditions):	(N.B. If setting notice periods which are different to those provided in the Conditions, the Issuer is advised to consider the practicalities of distribution of information through intermediaries, for example, clearing systems and custodians, as well as any other notice requirements which may apply, for example, as between the Issuer and the Agent)
Invest	tor Put:	[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub- paragraphs of this paragraph)
(i)	Optional Redemption Date(s):	[]
(ii)	Optional Redemption Amount(s):	[] per Calculation Amount
(iii)	Notice period (if other than	[]
	as set out in the Conditions):	(N.B. If setting notice periods which are different to those provided in the Conditions, the Issuer is advised to consider the practicalities of distribution of information through intermediaries, for example, clearing systems and custodians, as well as any other notice requirements which may apply, for example, as between the Issuer and the Agent)
Regul	atory Call:	[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub- paragraphs of this paragraph)
(i)	Minimum percentage of the outstanding nominal amount of the Notes for the purposes of Condition 6(e):	[100 per cent./specify other]
(ii)	Optional Redemption Date(s):	[]

64458-5-393-v6.0

18.

19.

(iii)	Optional	Redemption
	Amount(s):	

(iv) Notice period (if other than as set out in the Conditions):

20. Final Redemption Amount of each Note:

21. Early Redemption Amount(s) payable

on redemption for taxation reasons or

22. Variation or Substitution:

on event of default:

[] per Calculation Amount

[]

(N.B. If setting notice periods which are different to those provided in the Conditions, the Issuer is advised to consider the practicalities of distribution of information through intermediaries, for example, clearing systems and custodians, as well as any other notice requirements which may apply, for example, as between the Issuer and the Agent)

[] per Calculation Amount

(N.B. If the Final Redemption Amount is other than 100 per cent. of the nominal value, the Notes will be derivative securities for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive and the requirements of Annex XII to the Prospectus Directive Regulations will apply.)

[] per Calculation Amount

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

# GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES

- 23. Form of Notes:
  - (a) Form:

[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a Permanent Global Note which is exchangeable for definitive Notes [on 60 days' notice given at any time/only upon an Exchange Event] [[and] in respect of Global Notes deposited with Euroclear Netherlands only in the limited circumstances as described in the Wge and in accordance with the rules and regulations of Euroclear Netherlands].]

[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for definitive Notes on and after the Exchange Date]

[Permanent Global Note exchangeable for definitive Notes [on 60 days' notice given at any time/only upon an Exchange Event] [[and] in respect of Global Notes deposited with Euroclear Netherlands only in the limited circumstances as described in the Wge and in accordance with the

rules and regulations of Euroclear Netherlands].]

(Ensure that this is consistent with the wording in the "Form of the Notes" section in the Base Prospectus and the Notes themselves.)

(b) New Global Note:

24. Additional Financial Centre(s):

- 25. Talons for future Coupons to be attached to definitive Notes (and dates on which such Talons mature):
- 26. For the purposes of Condition 13, notices to be published in the Financial Times (generally yes, but not for domestic issues):
- 27. Whether Condition 7(a) of the Notes applies (in which case Condition 6(b) of the Notes will not apply) or whether Condition 7(b) and Condition 6(b) of the Notes apply:
- 28. Calculation Agent as referred to in Condition 5(d):

[Yes][No]

[N.B. If the Notes are to be deposited with either Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. or Clearstream Banking, société anonyme, it is intended that the Notes will be designated as New Global Notes. If the Notes are to be deposited with Euroclear Netherlands, it is intended that the Notes will be designated as Classic Global Notes.]

[Not Applicable/give details]

(Note that this paragraph relates to the place of payment and not Interest Period end dates to which sub-paragraph 15(vi) relates)

[Yes, as the Notes have more than 27 coupon payments, talons may be required if, on exchange into definitive form, more than 27 coupon payments are left/No]

[Yes/No]

[Condition 7(a) applies and Condition 6(b) does not apply/Condition 7(b) and Condition 6(b) apply]

[Not Applicable/*specify*]

(Note that this paragraph only applies in respect of Notes due in Renminbi)

## RESPONSIBILITY

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in these Final Terms. [[Relevant third party information] relating to paragraph [•] above, which has been extracted from [*specify source*]. The Issuer confirms that such information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware and is able to ascertain from information published by [*specify source*], no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.]

Signed on behalf of ABN AMRO Bank N.V.:

By: \_\_\_\_\_

Duly authorised

Duly authorised

By: \_\_\_\_\_

## **PART B – OTHER INFORMATION**

# 1. LISTING AND ADMISSION TO TRADING

[Application has been made by the Issuer (or on its behalf) for the Notes to be admitted to trading on [NYSE Euronext in Amsterdam/specify relevant regulated market and, if relevant, admission to an official list] with effect from [].] [Application is expected to be made by the Issuer (or on its behalf) for the Notes to be admitted to trading on [NYSE Euronext in Amsterdam/specify relevant regulated market and, if relevant, admission to an official list] with effect from [].] [Not Applicable.]

## 2. **RATINGS**

Ratings:

The Notes to be issued [have [not] been / are expected to be] rated:

[S & P: []]

[Moody's: []]

[Fitch: []]

[[Other]: []]

[and endorsed by [insert details including full legal name of credit rating agency/ies]]

[Need to include a brief explanation of the meaning of the ratings if this has previously been published by the rating provider.]

(The above disclosure should reflect the rating allocated to Notes of the type issued under the Programme generally or, where the issue has been specifically rated, that rating.)

Insert one (or more) of the following options, as applicable:

[Insert full legal name of credit rating agency/ies] [is]/[are] established in the EEA and [has]/[have each] applied for registration under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 (the "**CRA Regulation**), although notification of the corresponding registration decision has not yet been provided by the [relevant competent authority]]. [[Insert full legal name of credit rating agency/ies] [is]/[are] established in the EEA and registered under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 (the "**CRA Regulation**.] [[Insert full legal name of credit

*rating agency/ies*] [is]/[are] not established in the EEA and is not certified under Regulation (EU) No 1060/2009, as amended (the "**CRA Regulation**") and the rating it has given to the Notes is not endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the EEA and registered under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 (the "**CRA Regulation**").]

### 3. INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE

[Save for any fees payable to the [Managers/Dealers], so far as the Issuer is aware, no person involved in the issue of the Notes has an interest material to the offer. – *Amend as appropriate if there are other interests*]

[(When adding any other description, consideration should be given as to whether such matters described constitute "significant new factors" and consequently trigger the need for a supplement to the Offering Circular under Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.)]

# 4. REASONS FOR THE OFFER; ESTIMATED NET PROCEEDS AND TOTAL EXPENSES

[(i)	Reasons for the offer:	[]
		(See ["Use of Proceeds"] wording in Base Prospectus – if reasons for offer different from making profit and/or hedging certain risks will need to include those reasons here.)
[(ii)]	Estimated net proceeds	[]
		(If proceeds are intended for more than one use will need to split out and present in order of priority. If proceeds insufficient to fund all proposed uses state amount and sources of other funding.)
[(iii)]	Estimated total expenses:	[]
		[Include breakdown of expenses]
YIEL	<b>D</b> (Fixed Rate Notes only)	
	Indication of yield:	[]
		[Calculated as [include details of method of calculation in summary form] on the Issue Date.]
		The yield is calculated at the Issue Date on the basis of the Issue Price. It is not an indication of

#### 6. **HISTORIC INTEREST RATES** (*Floating Rate Notes only*)

Details of historic [LIBOR/EURIBOR/other] rates can be obtained from [Reuters].

future yield.

5.

## 7. **OPERATIONAL INFORMATION**

- (i) ISIN Code:
- (ii) Common Code:
- (iii) [Other relevant code:]
- (iv) Any clearing system(s) other than Euroclear Bank
   S.A./N.V. and Clearstream Banking, société anonyme and the relevant identification number(s):
- (v) Delivery:
- (vi) Names and addresses of initial Paying Agent(s) (if any):
- (vii) Names and addresses of additional Paying Agent(s) (if any):
- (viii) Intended to be held in a manner which would allow Eurosystem eligibility:

- []
- []
- []

[Not Applicable/give name(s) and numbers(s)][N.B. If the Notes are designated as NGNs, this must be "Not Applicable"]

[If Euroclear Netherlands is selected, and in item 23 Temporary Global Note exchangeable for definitive Notes on and after the Exchange Date is selected, further legal advice is required.]

Delivery [against/free of] payment

[]

[]

[Yes] [No]

[Note that the designation "yes" does not necessarily mean that the Notes will be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue or at any or all times during their life. Such recognition will depend upon the ECB being satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility criteria have been met. The Notes will be deposited initially upon issue with [one of the ICSDS acting as common safekeeper/ [a non-ICSD] common safekeeper.]] [Include this text if "yes" selected in which case bearer Notes must be issued in NGN form ]

## 8. **DISTRIBUTION**

- (i) Method of distribution:
- (ii) If syndicated, names and addresses of Managers and underwriting commitments:

[Syndicated/Non-syndicated]

[Not Applicable/give names, addresses and underwriting commitments]

(Include names and addresses of entities agreeing to underwrite the issue on a firm commitment basis

and names and addresses of the entities agreeing to place the issue without a firm commitment or on a "best efforts" basis if such entities are not the same as the Managers.)

- (iii) Date of Syndication Agreement:
- (iv) Stabilising Manager(s) (if any):
- (v) If non-syndicated, name and address of relevant Dealer:
- (vi) Total commission and concession:
- (vii) U.S. Selling Restrictions:
- (viii) Public Offer:

[]

[Not Applicable/give name]

[Not Applicable/specify name and address of dealer]

[] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount

[Regulation S Category 2; TEFRA D/TEFRA C/TEFRA not applicable]<sup>4</sup>

[Not Applicable]

(*If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph*)

[The Issuer does not consent to the use of the Base Prospectus in connection with a Public Offer of the Notes by any person.]

[General consent: Applicable/Not Applicable]

[The Issuer consents to the use of the Base Prospectus in connection with a Public Offer of the Notes during the period from [*specify date*] until [*specify date*] (the "**Offer Period**") in [specify relevant Member State(s) - which must be jurisdictions where the Base Prospectus and any supplements have been passported] ("**Public Offer Jurisdictions**") by any financial intermediary which is authorised to make such offers under the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (Directive 2004/39/EC) and which satisfies [the following conditions: [set out clear and objective conditions].]

[Specific consent: Applicable/Not Applicable]

[The Issuer consents to the use of the Base Prospectus in connection with a Public Offer of the Notes during the period from [*specify date*] until [*specify date*] (the "**Offer Period**") by [insert names and addresses of financial intermediaries]

<sup>-</sup>

TEFRA will only apply in respect of issues of Notes with a maturity of more than one year.

("Initial Authorised Offeror[s]") in [specify relevant Member State(s) - which must be jurisdictions where the Base Prospectus and any supplements have been passported] ("Public Offer Jurisdictions") [and subject to the following conditions: [set out clear and objective conditions], for so long as they are authorised to make such offers under the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (Directive 2004/39/EC)].]

# 9. TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE OFFER

Offer Price:	[Issue Price][ The offer price of the Notes will be between [•] and [•]. The final offer price will be determined by the Issuer and [ <i>the relevant</i> <i>Dealer/financial intermediary</i> ] on [ <i>date</i> ] in accordance with prevailing market conditions and will be published [no later than/on [ <i>date</i> ]] on the website of [the Issuer [http://www.abnamro.com/en/investor- relations/debt-investors/unsecured-funding/euro- medium-term-notes.html)]/[ <i>the relevant</i> <i>Dealer/financial intermediary</i> ] [ <i>include website</i> ]].
[Conditions to which the offer is subject:]	[Not Applicable/give details]
[Description of the application process]:	[Not Applicable/give details]
[Details of the minimum and/or maximum amount of application]:	[Not Applicable/give details]
[Description of possibility to reduce subscriptions and manner for refunding excess amount paid by applicants]:	[Not Applicable/give details]
[Details of the method and time limits for paying up and delivering the Notes:]	[Not Applicable/give details]
[Manner in and date on which results of the offer are to be made public:]	[Not Applicable/give details]
[Procedure for exercise of any right of pre-emption, negotiability of subscription rights and treatment of subscription rights not exercised:]	[Not Applicable/give details]
[Categories of potential investors to which the Notes are offered and whether tranche(s) have been	[Not Applicable/give details]

reserved for certain countries:]

[Process for notification to applicants of the amount allotted and the indication whether dealing may begin before notification is made:]

[Amount of any expenses and taxes specifically charged to the subscriber or purchaser:]

[Name(s) and address(es), to the extent known to the Issuer, of the placers in the various countries where the offer takes place.]

[Not Applicable/give details]

[Not Applicable/give details]

[None/give details]

## ANNEX TO THE FINAL TERMS

## SUMMARY OF THE NOTES

Summaries are made up of disclosure requirements known as "Elements". These elements are numbered in Sections A - E (A.1 - E.7).

This summary contains all the Elements required to be included in a summary for this type of securities and Issuer. Because some Elements are not required to be addressed, there may be gaps in the numbering sequence of the Elements.

Even though an Element may be required to be inserted in the summary because of the type of securities and Issuer, it is possible that no relevant information can be given regarding the Element. In this case a short description of the Element is included in the summary with the mention of "Not Applicable".

Words and expressions defined in the "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" below or elsewhere in this Base Prospectus have the same meanings in this summary. The term ABN AMRO is used below as a reference to the Issuer and its consolidated subsidiaries and other group companies (including ABN AMRO Group N.V.).

		Section A – Introduction and Warnings
A.1	Introduction:	This summary must be read as an introduction to the Base Prospectus (including these Final Terms) and any decision to invest in the Notes should be based on a consideration of the Base Prospectus as a whole, including these Final Terms and any information incorporated by reference. Following the implementation of the Prospectus Directive (Directive 2003/71/EC) in each Member State of the European Economic Area, no civil liability will attach to the Responsible Persons in any such Member State solely on the basis of this summary, including any translation thereof, unless it is misleading, inaccurate or inconsistent when read together with the other parts of the Base Prospectus, including any information incorporated by reference or it does not provide, when read together with the other parts of the Base Prospectus, key information in order to aid investors when considering whether to invest in the Notes. Where a claim relating to the information contained in the Base Prospectus is brought before a court in a Member State of the European Economic Area, the plaintiff may, under the national legislation of the Member States, be required to bear the costs of translating the Base Prospectus before the legal proceedings are initiated.
A.2	Consent:	[Not Applicable]
		[The Notes may be offered in circumstances where there is no exemption from the obligation under the Prospectus Directive to publish a prospectus. Any such offer is referred to as a " <b>Public Offer</b> ". [The Issuer does not consent to the use of the Base Prospectus in connection with a Public Offer of the Notes by any person. / The Issuer consents to the use of the Base Prospectus in connection with a Public Offer of the Notes subject to the

following conditions:
(i) the consent is only valid in respect of the Notes;
<ul><li>(ii) the consent is only valid during the Offer Period specified in paragraph 8(viii) of Part B of these Final Terms;</li></ul>
(iii) the only Offerors authorised to use the Base Prospectus to make a Public Offer of the Notes [is/are] [the relevant Manager[s] [and] [(i) the Initial Authorised Offeror[s] named in paragraph 8(viii) of Part B of these Final Terms and (ii) any financial intermediary appointed after the date of these Final Terms and whose name is published on the website of the Issuer (http://www.abnamro.com/nl/investor-relations/debt- investors/unsecured-funding/index.html) and identified as an Authorised Offeror in respect of the Public Offer;]/[any financial intermediary which acknowledges on its website that it has been duly appointed as a financial intermediary to offer the Notes during the Offer Period and states that it is relying on the Base Prospectus to do so, provided that such financial intermediary has in fact been so appointed;] <sup>5</sup>
<ul><li>(iv) the consent only extends to the use of the Base Prospectus to make Public Offers of the Notes in each Public Offer Jurisdiction specified in paragraph 8(viii) of Part B of these Final Terms; and</li></ul>
<ul><li>(v) the consent is subject to any other conditions set out in paragraph 8(viii) of Part B of these Final Terms.</li></ul>
[Any Offeror who meets all of the other conditions stated above and wishes to use the Base Prospectus in connection with a Public Offer is required to publish on its website that it is relying on the Base Prospectus for the Public Offer with the consent of the Issuer.] <sup>6</sup>
AN INVESTOR INTENDING TO ACQUIRE OR ACQUIRING ANY NOTES IN A PUBLIC OFFER FROM AN OFFEROR OTHER THAN THE ISSUER WILL DO SO, AND OFFERS AND SALES OF SUCH NOTES TO AN INVESTOR BY SUCH OFFEROR WILL BE MADE, IN ACCORDANCE WITH ANY TERMS AND OTHER ARRANGEMENTS IN PLACE BETWEEN SUCH OFFEROR AND SUCH INVESTOR INCLUDING AS TO PRICE, ALLOCATIONS AND SETTLEMENT ARRANGEMENTS. THE INVESTOR MUST LOOK TO THE OFFEROR AT THE TIME OF SUCH OFFER FOR THE PROVISION OF SUCH INFORMATION AND THE OFFEROR WILL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR SUCH INFORMATION. NONE OF THE ISSUER OR ANY

 $<sup>^5</sup>$  Tailor appropriately based on the authorisation set out in paragraph 8(viii) of Part B of the Final Terms.  $^6$  Delete unless the corresponding second option in (ii) above is selected.

DEALER HAS ANY RESPONSIBILITY OR LIABILITY TO AN INVESTOR IN RESPECT OF SUCH INFORMATION.
If, in the context of a Public Offer, an investor is offered Notes by a person which is not an Authorised Offeror, the investor should check with such person whether anyone is responsible for this Base Prospectus for the purposes of the Public Offer and, if so, who that person is. If the investor is in any doubt about whether it can rely on this Base Prospectus and/or who is responsible for its contents it should take legal advice.

	Section B – Issuer				
<b>B.1</b>	Legal name of the Issuer:	ABN AMRO Bank N.V. (the "Issuer")			
	Commercial name of the Issuer:	ABN AMRO			
B.2	Domicile, legal form, legislation, country of incorporation	The Issuer is a private limited liability company ( <i>naamloze vennootschap</i> ) incorporated the laws of The Netherlands on 9 April 2009. The Issuer's corporate seat ( <i>statutaire zetel</i> ) is in Amsterdam, The Netherlands and its registered office is Gustav Mahlerlaan 10, 1082 PP Amsterdam, The Netherlands.			
B.4b	Trends:	The revenues and results of operations of the Issuer and the industry in which it operates are affected by, among other factors, general economic conditions in the Netherlands and other markets, including economic cycles, the financial markets, the Dutch mortgage market, banking industry cycles and fluctuations in interest rates and exchange rates, monetary policy, demographics, and other competitive factors. Revenues came under pressure due to weaker demand for certain banking products. Loan impairments increased due to a rise in defaults and a decline in the value of (commercial) property portfolios, among other things. Since the start of the financial crisis, money markets and capital markets have been very volatile. In these conditions, access to funding and capital markets, as well as hedging and other risk management strategies, may not be as effective as they would be under normal market conditions during 2011 and 2012 in the primary markets, it is difficult to predict if this trend will continue. The Issuer is subject to the threat of illiquidity and/or extreme price volatility, either directly or indirectly, through exposures to securities, loans and other commitments. Although there was some moderation in market conditions during 2011 and 2012 in the primary markets, it is difficult to predict if this trend will continue.			

		The financial services industry is subject to intensive regulation (including in relation to solvability and liquidity). The Issuer's costs were driven up by preparations for and the introduction of new or revised regulations. Since 2009, as many emergency government programs slowed or wound down, global regulatory and legislative focus generally moved to a second phase of broader reform and a restructuring of financial institution regulation. Legislators and regulators, both in Europe and in the United States, are currently introducing a wide range of proposals that, if enacted, could result in major changes to the way the Issuer's global operations are regulated.
B.5	The Group:	<ul> <li>ABN AMRO Group N.V. is the Issuer's sole shareholder. The Issuer is the only direct subsidiary of ABN AMRO Group N.V. and ABN AMRO Group N.V. has no significant activities other than holding the shares in the Issuer. The managing board and the supervisory board of ABN AMRO Group N.V. are composed of the same members as the Issuer.</li> <li>All shares in the capital of ABN AMRO Group N.V. are held by <i>Stichting administratiekantoor beheer financiele instellingen</i> (trade name NL Financial Investments, "NLFI"). NLFI holds a total voting interest of 100% in ABN AMRO Group N.V.</li> <li>NLFI issued exchangeable depositary receipts for shares (without the cooperation of ABN AMRO Group N.V.) to the Dutch State. As sole holder of all issued exchangeable depositary receipts, the Dutch State holds an indirect economic interest of 100% in ABN AMRO Group N.V.</li> <li>The Issuer has various direct and indirect subsidiaries through the state of the state holds an indirect and indirect subsidiaries through the state of the state of the state holds an indirect and indirect subsidiaries through the state of the state holds and the state holds hold the state holds hold the state holds hold the state holds hold the state hold the hold hold hold hold hold hold hold hold</li></ul>
B.9	Profit Forecast or Estimate:	which part of its business is operated. Not applicable. There is no profit forecast or estimate included in the Base Prospectus.
B.10	Audit Report Qualifications:	Not applicable There are no qualifications in the audit report on the historical financial information included in the Base Prospectus.
B.12	Key Financial Information:	The tables below set out selected consolidated financial information for the years ended 2012, 2011 and 2010. The reported figures have been impacted by several items which are related to the demerger of the Issuer from RBS N.V. and the separation of Fortis Bank (Nederland) N.V. from Fortis Bank SA/NV and the integration of the Issuer and Fortis Bank (Nederland) N.V. For a better understanding of underlying trends, the results of operations of ABN AMRO have been adjusted for these items where indicated (and presented as underlying results). Reconciliation of the reported results for the years ended and as at 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010 have been audited. Underlying results and reconciling items, where included, have been extracted from management accounts and have neither been audited or reviewed

(as applicable).
------------------

# Results of operations for the years ended 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010

	Year ended 31 December								
		2012			2011			2010	
		(Reconcil			(Reconci			(Reconci	
	(Repo	ing	(Underlyi	(Repor	ling	(Underly	(Repor	ling	(Underly
	rted)	items)	ng)	ted)	items)	ing)	ted)	items)	ing)
				(in n	villions of a	euros)			
Net interest income	5,028	-	5,028	4,998	-	4,998	4,905	-	4,905
Net fee and commission income	1,556	-	1,556	1,811	-	1,811	1,766	-	1,766
Other non-interest income	754	-	754	985	-	985	126	(862)	988
Operating income	7,338	-	7,338	7,794	-	7,794	6,797	(862)	7,659
Operating expenses	4,959	450	4,509	5,357	362	4,995	6,229	894	5,335
Impairment charges on loans and other									
receivables	1,228	-	1,228	1,757	-	1,757	837	-	837
Profit/(loss) before tax	1,151	(450)	1,601	680	(362)	1,042	(269)	(1,756)	1,487
					(2.4)				
Income tax (expense)/credit	203	(113)	316	(9)	(91)	82	145	(265)	410
Profit/(loss) for the period	948	(337)	1,285	689	(271)	960	(414)	(1,491)	1,077

	Year ended 31 December			
	2012	2011	2010 <sup>(1)</sup>	
Underlying cost/income ratio	61%	64%	70%	
Return on average Equity (IFRS-EU)	10.0%	7.8%	8.9% <sup>(1)</sup>	
Return on average RWA (in bps)	103	85	93 <sup>(1)</sup>	

	As at 31 December			
	2012	2011	<b>2010</b> <sup>(1)</sup>	
RWA/Total assets	31%	29%	31%	
billion)	163.1	146.6	164.2	
Risk-weighted assets (in EUR billion) FTEs	121.5	118.3 24,22	116.3	
	23,059	5	26,161	

<sup>(1)</sup> The 2010 average figures are based on year-end 2010 position instead of average.

# Selected consolidated balance sheet movements for the years ended 31 December 2012, 2011 and 2010

	Selected Consolidated Balance Sheet At 31 December		
	2012	2011	2010
	(in millions	of euros)	
Assets			
Cash and balances at central banks	9,796	7,641	906
Financial assets held for trading	22,804	29,523	24,300
Financial investments	21,407	18,721	20,197
Loans and receivables – banks	46,398	61,319	41,117
Loans and receivables - customers	276,283	272,008	273,944
Other	17,716	15,470	16,818
Total assets	394,404	404,682	377,282
Liabilities			
Financial liabilities held for trading	18,782	22,779	19,982
Due to banks	21,263	30,962	21,536
Due to customers	216,021	213,616	209,466
Issued debt	94,043	96,310	86,591
Subordinated liabilities	9,566	8,697	8,085
Other	20,692	20,898	19,510
Total liabilities	380,367	393,262	365,170
Equity			
Equity attributable to shareholders of the	14,018	11,400	12,099
parent company	10	20	10
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests	19	20	13
Total equity	14,037	11,420	12,112
Total liabilities and equity	394,404	404,682	377,282

<b>B.12</b>	Key Financial Information:	The tables below set out selected consolidated financial information for the first quarter of 2013. In 2012, ABN AMRO finalised the integration of ABN AMRO Bank and Fortis Bank Nederland. As of the first quarter of 2013, ABN AMRO presents		
		its results on a reported basis, which means that historical period		
		will no longer be adjusted for costs related to the integration.		
		Furthermore, all 2012 figures have been adjusted for comparison		
		following adoption of the amended pension accounting standard		
		(IAS 19). The reported results for the first quarter of 2013 have not		
		been audited.		

# First quarter income statements for 2013, 2012 and 2011

	Selected Consolidated Balance Sheet		
	Q1 2013	Q1 2012	Q1 2011
	(in	millions of euros)	
Underlying results			
Net interest income	1,305	1,237	1,264
Net fee and commission income	412	403	487
Other non-interest income	-8	275	281
Operating income	1,709	1,915	2,032
Personnel expenses	619	570	617
Other expenses	551	548	559
Operating expenses	1,170	1,118	1,176
Operating result	539	797	856
Loan impairments	-38	187	125
Operating profit before taxes	577	610	731
Income tax expenses	162	124	148
Profit for the period	415	486	583
	Selected Co	nsolidated Balan At end of Q1	ce Sheet
	Q1 2013	Q1 2012	Q1 2011
	(in millions of euros)		
Other indicators			
Underlying cost/income ratio	68%	58%	58%
Return on average Equity (IFRS)	12%	17%	19%
Return on average RWA (in bps)	137	160	208
NII / average Total assets (in bps)	128	122	131
Cost of risk (in bps) *	-13	61	45

\* Cost of Risk is calculated as the annualised total loan impairments over the average RWA

B.12	Key Financial Information:	There has been no (i) material adverse change in the Issuer's prospects or (ii) significant change in the financial position of the Issuer and its subsidiaries since 31 December 2012. There has been no (i) material adverse change in the ABN AMRO Group N.V.'s prospects or (ii) significant change in the financial position of ABN AMRO Group N.V. and its subsidiaries since 31 December 2012.
B.13	Recent Events:	Not applicable. There are no recent events particular to the Issuer which are to a material extent relevant to the evaluation of the Issuer's solvency
<b>B.14</b>	Dependence upon group entities:	Not applicable

B.15	Principal Activities:	ABN AMRO is a full-service bank, supporting retail, private banking and commercial banking clients in The Netherlands and selectively abroad. In addition to its strong position in The Netherlands, ABN AMRO is active in a number of specialised activities such as Energy, Commodities & Transportation (ECT) and Clearing, private banking and asset based lending in a select number of countries.
		ABN AMRO is organised into Retail & Private Banking (" <b>R&amp;PB</b> "), Commercial & Merchant Banking (" <b>C&amp;MB</b> ") and Group Functions. Each member of the Managing Board is responsible for either a business segment or a support unit within Group Functions. The Chairman of the Managing Board oversees the general management of ABN AMRO and is responsible for Group Audit and the Corporate Office.
		For financial reporting purposes, in 2011 the Managing Board adopted a further refinement of ABN AMRO's segment reporting as follows:
		• Retail Banking;
		• Private Banking;
		Commercial Banking;
		• Merchant Banking;
		Group Functions.
		Retail & Private Banking
		R&PB consists of the business lines Retail Banking, Private Banking Netherlands and Private Banking International, each of which serves a different client base with a tailored business proposition.
		Retail Banking
		Retail Banking offers Mass Retail and Preferred Banking clients a wide variety of banking, loan and insurance products and services through the branch network, online, via Advice & Service centres, via intermediaries and through subsidiaries. The majority of the loan portfolio of Retail Banking consists of residential mortgages.
		Private Banking
		Private Banking provides total solutions to its clients' global wealth management needs and offers an array of products and services designed to address their individual situation. Private Banking operates under the brand name ABN AMRO MeesPierson in The Netherlands and internationally under ABN AMRO Private Banking and local brands such as Banque Neuflize OBC in France and Bethmann Bank in Germany. The International Diamond &

Jewelry Group, a leading provider of global financial services to the diamond and jewellery industry, is part of Private Banking International. ABN AMRO offers private banking services to clients with freely investable assets exceeding EUR 1 million (or USD 1 million in Asia).
Commercial & Merchant Banking
For small businesses up to large corporate companies, C&MB offers a range of comprehensive and innovative products, in-depth sector knowledge and customised financial advice.
C&MB offers a comprehensive product range and services to commercial clients in The Netherlands and surrounding countries – Germany, Belgium, France and the United Kingdom – as more than 80% of the bank's commercial clients conduct their international business in these countries. C&MB serves Dutch- based corporates with international activities, offering a one-stop shop for all financial solutions and tailor-made services. Clients have access to the bank's international network including the ten largest financial and logistics hubs in the world, including New York, São Paulo, London, Frankfurt, Singapore and Hong Kong. Internationally, C&MB offers selected specialised activities where it holds or can achieve a top-5 position: Energy, Commodities & Transportation (ECT) and ABN AMRO Clearing globally, and Lease and Commercial Finance in selected markets. C&MB is organised into Commercial Banking and Merchant Banking.
Commercial Banking
Commercial Banking serves commercial clients with annual turnover up to EUR 500 million and clients in the public sector, commercial finance and leasing. To address the international business needs of its clients, the Commercial Banking International network offers a broad range of products and services by having a local presence in selected areas and globally through partner bank agreements. Commercial Banking has set up agreements with partner banks to offer services to clients in countries where ABN AMRO is not present. Commercial Banking consists of two business lines: Business Banking and Corporate Clients.
Business Banking offers small and medium-sized businesses with turnover up to EUR 30 million a comprehensive range of standard and customised products through the service models YourBusiness Banking and Relationship Management.
Corporate Clients serves Netherlands-based companies with an annual turnover between EUR 30 and 500 million as well as clients in the public sector. ABN AMRO Lease, ABN AMRO Commercial Finance and Commercial Banking International are part of Corporate Clients and provide solutions to clients in all C&MB segments.
Merchant Banking

		Merchant Banking serves Netherlands-based corporates, financial institutions and real estate investors and developers as well as international companies active in Energy, Commodities & Transportation ("ECT"). Merchant Banking is organised into two business lines: Large Corporates & Merchant Banking ("LC&MB") and Markets. LC&MB offers a full array of banking products and services, including Cash & Liquidity Management, Debt Solutions and Corporate Finance & Capital Markets. Markets serves the bank's entire client base and has two global businesses: Securities Financing and Clearing. <i>Group Functions</i> Group Functions supports ABN AMRO's businesses by delivering services in the areas of audit, corporate governance, finance, risk, human resources, legal, compliance, communication, change management, technology, operations, property management, sustainability, and housing. Group Functions is organised into four areas, each of them headed by a Managing Board member: Technology, Operations & Property Services ("TOPS"), Finance ("Finance"), Risk Management & Strategy ("RM&S"), and Integration, Communication & Compliance ("ICC"). Group Audit reports directly to the Chairman of the Managing Board and the Chairman of the Audit Committee. The Company Secretary holds an independent position under joint supervision of the Chairman of both the Managing Board and the Supervisory Board
<b>B.16</b>	Controlling Persons:	ABN AMRO Group N.V. is ABN AMRO Bank's sole shareholder. As of the date of this Base Prospectus, all shares in the capital of ABN AMRO Group N.V. are held by <i>Stichting</i> <i>administratiekantoor beheer financiele instellingen</i> (trade name NL Financial Investments, "NLFI"). NLFI holds a total voting interest of 100% in ABN AMRO Group N.V. NLFI is responsible for managing the shares in ABN AMRO Group N.V. and exercising all rights associated with these shares under Dutch law, including voting rights. Material or principal decisions require the prior approval of the Dutch Minister of Finance, who can also give binding voting instructions with respect to such decisions. NLFI is not permitted to dispose of or encumber the shares, except pursuant to an authorization from and on behalf of the Dutch Minister of Finance. NLFI issued exchangeable depositary receipts for shares (without the cooperation of ABN AMRO Group N.V.) to the Dutch State. As sole holder of all issued exchangeable depositary receipts, the Dutch State holds an indirect economic interest of 100% in ABN AMRO Group N.V.
B.17	Ratings assigned to the Issuer or its Debt	The Issuer's long term credit ratings are: A from Standard & Poor's Credit Market Services France SAS (" <b>S&amp;P</b> "), A2 from Moody's

Securities:	Investors Service, Limited (" <b>Moody's</b> "), A+ from Fitch Ratings Ltd. (" <b>Fitch</b> ") and A (high) from DBRS Ratings Limited (" <b>DBRS</b> ").
	Notes issued pursuant to the Programme may be rated or unrated. Where an issue of Notes is rated, its rating will be specified in the applicable Final Terms and the relevant issue specific summary annexed to the applicable Final Terms.
	Whether or not each credit rating applied for in relation to the relevant Series of Notes will be issued by a credit rating agency established in the European Union and registered under the EU Credit Rating Agency Regulation (EC No. 1060/2009) will be specified in the applicable Final Terms.
	A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, change or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

		Section C – The Notes
C.1	Description of Type and Class of Notes:	[ <i>currency</i> ] [ <i>amount</i> ] [[•] Fixed Rate/Floating Rate/Zero Coupon] [Senior/Subordinated] Notes due [•].
		The Notes are issued as Series number $[\bullet]$ , Tranche number $[\bullet]$ .
		[The Notes shall be consolidated, form a single series and be interchangeable for trading purposes with the [ <i>insert description of the Series</i> ] on [ <i>date</i> /the Issue Date/exchange of the Temporary Global Note for interests in the Permanent Global Note.]
		The Notes are in bearer form and will [initially] be in the form of [a temporary global Note/a permanent global Note].
		The global note will be issued in [New Global Note ("NGN") form and will be deposited on or around the issue date of the Notes with a common safekeeper for Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. and/or Clearstream Banking, société anonyme / Classic Global Note ("CGN") form and will be deposited on or around the issue date of the Notes [with a common depositary [for Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. and/or Clearstream Banking, société anonyme] [and/or] [•] / with Nederlands Centraal Instituut voor Giraal Effectenverkeer B.V. ("Euroclear Netherlands").]
		[The temporary global Note will be exchangeable [for a permanent global Note/for definitive Notes] upon certain conditions [including upon certification of non-U.S. beneficial ownership as required by U.S. Treasury regulations].]
		The permanent global Note is exchangeable for definitive Notes only in limited circumstances described therein [and the limited

		circumstances as described in the Securities Giro Act ( <i>Wet giraal effectenverkeer</i> ) and in accordance with the rules and regulations of Euroclear Netherlands]. Any interest in a global Note will be transferable only in accordance with the rules and procedures for the time being of [Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. and/or Clearstream Banking, société anonyme] [and/or] [•]/Euroclear Netherlands].
		ISIN Code: [•]
C.2	Currency:	The Notes are denominated in [•].
C.5	Free Transferability:	The Issuer and the Dealers have agreed restrictions on offers, sales and deliveries of Notes and on the distribution of offering material in [Australia], [the European Economic Area] (including [France], [the Republic of Italy], [The Netherlands], [the Kingdom of Norway] and [the United Kingdom]), [Hong Kong], [Japan, [the People's Republic of China], [Switzerland], [Taiwan] and [the United States].
C.8	The Rights Attaching to the Notes, including Ranking and Limitations to those Rights:	Notes issued under the Programme will have terms and conditions relating to, among other matters: [Status] The Notes [and any relative Coupons] constitute unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer and will rank <i>pari passu</i> without any preference among themselves and with all other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer save for those preferred by mandatory provisions of law.] <sup>7</sup> [Status]
		<ul> <li>The Notes [and any relative Coupons] constitute unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer and will rank <i>pari passu</i> without any preference among themselves and with all other present and future unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer (other than those subordinated obligations expressed by their terms to rank lower than the Notes), save for those preferred by mandatory and/or overriding provisions of law.</li> <li>The claims of the holders of the Subordinated Notes of each Series (the "Subordinated Noteholders") against the Issuer will:</li> <li>(iii) in the event of the liquidation or bankruptcy of the Issuer; or</li> <li>(iv) in the event that a competent court has declared that the Issuer is in a situation which requires special measures (<i>noodregeling</i>) in the interests of all creditors, as referred</li> </ul>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Delete in case of Subordinated Notes

supervision ( <i>Wet op het financieel toezicht</i> ), and for so long as such situation is in force ("Moratorium"),
be subordinated to (a) the claims of depositors (other than in respect of those whose deposits are expressed by their terms to rank equally to or lower than the Subordinated Notes), (b) unsubordinated claims with respect to the repayment of borrowed money and (c) other unsubordinated claims.
By virtue of such subordination, payments to a Subordinated Noteholder will, in the event of liquidation or bankruptcy of the Issuer or in the event of a Moratorium with respect to the Issuer, only be made after, and any set-off by a Subordinated Noteholder shall be excluded until, all obligations of the Issuer resulting from higher ranking deposits, unsubordinated claims with respect to the repayment of borrowed money and other unsubordinated claims have been satisfied.
The Notes of this Series may qualify as Tier 2 capital (" <b>Tier 2 Notes</b> ") for the purposes of the regulatory capital rules applicable to the Issuer from time to time.] <sup>8</sup>
[Events of Default
The terms of the Notes will contain, amongst others, the following events of default:
<ul> <li>(i) default in payment of any principal or interest due in respect of the Notes, continuing for a specified period of time;</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>(ii) non-performance or non-observance by the Issuer of any of its other obligations under the conditions of the Notes, continuing for a specified period of time; and</li> </ul>
(iii) events relating to the bankruptcy, liquidation, or Moratorium of the Issuer.] <sup>9</sup>
[Events of Default Subordinated Notes
Events of Default of Subordinated Notes are restricted to bankruptcy and liquidation and repayment following an Event of Default may be subject to the prior consent of by the Dutch Central Bank ( <i>De Nederlandsche Bank N.V., "DNB"</i> ).] <sup>10</sup>
Meetings
The conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Delete in case of Senior Notes <sup>9</sup> Delete in case of Subordinated Notes. <sup>10</sup> Delete in case of Senior Notes

		bind all Noteholders including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority. <i>Taxation</i> All payments in respect of the Notes will be made free and clear of withholding or deducting taxes of The Netherlands, unless the withholding is required by law. In that event, the Issuer will[, subject to customary exceptions, pay such additional amounts as will result in the Noteholders receiving such amounts as they would have received in respect of the Notes had no such withholding been required/make the required withholding or deduction but the Issuer will not pay any additional amounts to compensate Noteholders. <i>Future issues</i> The conditions of the Notes do not restrict the amount of securities which the Issuer may issue and which rank senior or <i>pari passu</i> in priority of payments with the Notes. <i>Prescription</i> The Notes [and related Coupons] will become void unless claims in respect of principal [and /or interest] are made within a period of five years after the date on which such payment first became due. <i>Issuer Substitution</i> The Issuer may, if certain conditions have been fulfilled, with the consent of the Noteholders [or Couponholders] which will be deemed to have been given in respect of each issue of Notes on which no payment of principal of or interest on any of the Notes is in default, in the case of Subordinated Notes, and after written approval of the Dutch Central Bank ( <i>De Nederlandsche Bank</i> <i>N.V.</i> ), be replaced and substituted by any directly or indirectly wholly owned subsidiary of the Issuer as principal debtor in respect of the Notes and relative Coupons.
		Governing law Dutch law.
C.9	The Rights Attaching to the Notes (Continued), including information as to Interest, Maturity, Yield and the Perpresentative of	Interest [The Notes bear interest from [•] at a fixed rate of [•] per cent. per annum payable in arrear on [•] [and [•]] in each year, subject to adjustment for non-business days. [The amount of interest payable on each interest payment date is [•].]
	the Representative of the Holders:	Based upon the issue price of $[\bullet]$ , at the issue date the anticipated yield of the Notes is $[\bullet]$ per cent. per annum.]

r	
	[The Notes bear interest at floating rates calculated by reference to [ <i>specify reference rate</i> ] [plus/minus] a margin of $[\bullet]$ per cent. Interest will be paid [annually/semi-annually/quarterly] in arrear on $[\bullet]$ [, $[\bullet]$ , $[\bullet]$ and $[\bullet]$ ] in each year, subject to adjustment for non-business days. The amount of interest payable on each interest payment date will be published by [ <i>Agent</i> ] in accordance with the conditions of the Notes.]
	[The Notes do not bear interest.]
	Maturity
	Unless previously redeemed, or purchased and cancelled, the Notes will be redeemed on $[\bullet]$ at $[\bullet]$ per cent. of their nominal amount.
	Early Redemption
	[None, other than following an event of default as set out in the Conditions of the Notes].
	[The Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole [or in part] [at any time/on $[\bullet]$ ] at $[\bullet]$ plus any accrued interest (subject to a notice period set out in the conditions of the Notes or these Final Terms) for any reason[, if the Issuer is obliged to pay additional amounts to the Noteholders as referred in <i>Taxation</i> above] [or if at least $[\bullet]$ per cent. of the outstanding nominal amount of the Notes is fully excluded from qualifying as Tier 2 capital,] [subject to certain conditions set out in the conditions of the Notes].
	[The Issuer shall, at the option of the holder of any Note redeem such Note on $[\bullet]$ at $[\bullet]$ together with any accrued interest (subject to a notice period set out in the conditions of the Notes or these Final Terms).]
	Representative of the Noteholders
	Not Applicable.
	[Variation and Substitution
	If the whole of the outstanding nominal amount of the Notes can no longer be included in full in the Tier 2 capital of the Issuer by reason of their non-compliance with the regulatory capital applicable to the Issuer or a regulatory call is triggered as set out in the conditions of the Notes, then the Issuer may, subject to the prior written consent of DNB, if required at the relevant time (but without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Subordinated Noteholders), substitute the Notes or vary the terms of the Subordinated Notes in order to ensure that they remain or, as appropriate, become compliant with the regulatory capital applicable to the Issuer at the relevant time. However,

		such variation or substitution shall not result in terms that are materially less favourable to the Subordinated Noteholders and the resulting securities must have at least, <i>inter alia</i> , the same ranking, interest rate, maturity date, redemption rights, existing rights to accrued interest which has not been paid and assigned the same ratings as the Notes.] <sup>11</sup> [Loss Absorption The Notes may become subject to the determination by the relevant supervisory authority or the Issuer (following instructions from the relevant supervisory authority) that all or part of the nominal amount of the Subordinated Notes, including accrued but unpaid interest in respect thereof, must be written off or converted into common equity Tier 1 instruments or otherwise be applied to absorb losses, all as prescribed by the relevant law ("Statutory Loss Absorption"). Upon any such determination, (i) the relevant proportion of the outstanding nominal amount of the Notes subject to Statutory Loss Absorption shall be written off or converted into converted into common equity Tier 1 instruments or otherwise be applied to absorb losses, all as prescribed by the relevant law ("Statutory Loss Absorption"). Upon any such determination, (i) the relevant proportion of the outstanding nominal amount of the Notes subject to Statutory Loss Absorption shall be written off or converted into common equity Tier 1 instruments or otherwise be applied to absorb losses, as prescribed by the relevant law, (ii) such Statutory Loss Absorption shall not constitute an event of default under the conditions of the Notes and (iii) the Subordinated Noteholders will have no further claims in respect of the amount so written
		off or subject to conversion or otherwise as a result of such Statutory Loss Absorption. Any written-off amount as a result of Statutory Loss Absorption shall be irrevocably lost and holders of such Notes will cease to have any claims for any principal amount and accrued but unpaid interest which has been subject to write-off. In addition, subject to the determination by the Relevant Authority and without the consent of the Noteholders, the Subordinated Notes may be subject to other resolution measures as envisaged under the relevant law.] <sup>12</sup>
C.10	Derivative Components:	Not applicable.
C.11	Listing and Trading:	[Application has been made for the Notes to be admitted to trading on NYSE Euronext in Amsterdam with effect from $[\bullet]$ .]
C.21		[Application has been made for the Notes to be admitted to [listing, trading and/or quotation] on $[\bullet]$ with effect from $[\bullet]$ .]
		[The Issuer does not intend to make any application for the Notes to be admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system.]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Delete in case of Senior Notes and in case of Subordinated Notes where *Variation or Substitution* is specified as *Not Applicable*. <sup>12</sup> Delete in case of Senior Notes.

	Section D - Risks		
D.2	Risks Specific to the Issuer:	When purchasing Notes, investors assume the risk that the Issuer may become insolvent or otherwise be unable to make all payments due in respect of the Notes. There is a wide range of factors which individually or together could result in the Issuer becoming unable to make all payments due in respect of the Notes. It is not possible to identify all such factors or to determine which factors are most likely to occur, as the Issuer may not be aware of all relevant factors and certain factors which it currently deems not to be material may become material. The Issuer has identified a number of factors which could materially adversely affect its business and ability to make payments due under the Notes. These factors include:	
		<ul> <li>Conditions in the global financial markets and economy may materially adversely affect the Issuer's business financial position, results of operations and prospects.</li> <li>Volatility in, and the position of, financial markets, liquidity disruptions or market dislocations can adversely affect the Issuer's banking and funding activities.</li> <li>Changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates may adversely affect the Issuer's business, financial position,</li> </ul>	
		<ul> <li>results of operations and cash flows.</li> <li>Lack of liquidity is a risk to the Issuer's business and its ability to access sources of liquidity.</li> <li>Reductions or potential reductions in the Issuer's credit ratings could have a significant impact on its borrowing ability and liquidity management through reduced funding capacity and collateral triggers, and on the access to capital and money markets as well as adversely affect the Issuer's business and results of operations.</li> </ul>	
		<ul> <li>The financial services industry is subject to intensive regulation. Major changes in laws and regulations as well as enforcement action could adversely affect the Issuer's business, financial position, results of operations and prospects.</li> <li>As a result of capital and/or liquidity requirements, the Issuer may not be able to manage its capital and liquidity affectively, which may adversely affect its huginess.</li> </ul>	
		<ul> <li>effectively, which may adversely affect its business performance.</li> <li>Proposals for resolution regimes may lead to fewer assets of the Issuer being available to investors for recourse for their claims, and may lead to lower credit ratings and possibly higher cost of funding.</li> <li>The Issuer operates in markets that are highly</li> </ul>	
		<ul> <li>competitive. If the Issuer is unable to perform effectively, its business and results of operations will be adversely affected.</li> <li>The Issuer's operations and assets are located primarily in the Netherlands. Deterioration or long-term</li> </ul>	

		<ul> <li>persistence of a difficult economic environment could have a negative effect on the Issuer's results of operations and financial position.</li> <li>The Issuer is subject to significant counterparty risk exposure and exposure to systemic risks which may have an adverse effect on the Issuer's results.</li> <li>The Issuer may be subject to increases in allowances for loan losses.</li> <li>The Issuer depends on the accuracy and completeness of information about customers and counterparties.</li> <li>The Issuer is subject to operational risks that could adversely affect its business.</li> <li>The Issuer's risk management methods may leave the Issuer exposed to unidentified, unanticipated or incorrectly quantified risks, which could lead to material losses or material increases in liabilities (tail risk).</li> <li>The Issuer is subject to changes in financial reporting standards.</li> <li>The value of certain financial instruments recorded at fair value is determined using financial models incorporating assumptions, judgements and estimates that may change over time or may ultimately not turn out to be accurate.</li> <li>The Issuer is subject to reputational risk.</li> <li>The Issuer is subject to additional contributions from the Issuer.</li> <li>The Issuer is subject to additional contributions from the Issuer.</li> <li>The Issuer is subject to additional risk exposure as a consequence of the Legal Demerger, Legal Separation, EC Remedy and Legal Merger that could adversely affect its business.</li> <li>The Issuer is subject to additional risk exposure as a consequence of the Legal Demersery. Legal Separation, EC Remedy and Legal Merger that could adversely affect its business.</li> </ul>
		affect its business.
D.3	Risks Specific to the Notes:	There are also risks associated with the Notes. These include a range of market risks (including that there may be not be an active trading market in the Notes, that the value of an investor's investment may be adversely affected by exchange rate movements or exchange controls where the Notes are not denominated in the investor's own currency, [that any credit rating assigned to the Notes may not adequately reflect all the

<ul> <li>risks associated with an investment in such Notes and ratings assigned to the Notes may be lowered, suspended or withdrawn] [and that changes in interest rates will affect the value of the Notes which bear interest at a fixed rate]), the fact that the conditions of the Notes may be modified without the consent of the Notes in certain circumstances, that the holder may not receive payment of the full amounts due in respect of the Notes as a result of amounts being withheld by the Issuer in order to comply with applicable law and that investors are exposed to the risk of changes in law or regulation affecting the value of their Notes. Other factors include: <ul> <li>[The Notes are subject to optional redemption by the Issuer.]</li> <li>Variable Rate Notes with a multiplier or other leverage factor can be a volatile investment</li> <li>[Fixed/Floating Rate Notes are converted at the discretion of the Issuer.]</li> <li>[The market value of Inverse Floating Rate Notes are more volatile than market values of other conventional floating rate debt securities.]</li> <li>[The price of Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium may be more volatil.]</li> <li>[There is a redemption risk in respect of the Notes.]</li> <li>[There is variation or substitution risk in respect the Notes.]</li> <li>[Statutory loss absorption of Subordinated Notes could have an adverse effect on the market price of the relevant Subordinated Notes; a Subordinated Notes, including the principal amount plus any accrued but unpaid interest, in the event that Statutory Loss Absorption occurs.]</li> <li>No limitation to issue senior or <i>pari passu</i> ranking Notes.</li> <li>Each Noteholder must act independently as the Noteholders do not have the benefit of a trustee.</li> <li>The Notes may be subject to withholding tax under FATCA.</li> <li>Notes held in global form are reliant on third parties.</li> </ul></li></ul>
<ul> <li>complex.</li> <li>Noteholders may be subject to withholding tax under FATCA.</li> <li>Notes held in global form are reliant on third parties.</li> <li>The Base Prospectus must be read together with</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>applicable Final Terms.</li> <li>Proposed and new banking legislation dealing with ailing banks give regulators resolution powers (including powers to write down debt).</li> <li>[Definitive Notes where denominations involve integral multiples may be subject to minimum denomination</li> </ul>

considerations.]
• An investor's investment in the Notes may be subject to
restrictions and qualifications.
• [Notes denominated in Renminbi ("Renminbi Notes")
may be issued under the Programme.]

	Section E - Offer		
E.2b	Reasons for the Offer and Use of Proceeds:	The net proceeds from each issue of Notes will be used for [general corporate purposes of the Issuer, which include making a profit and/or hedging certain risks]/ $[\bullet]$ ].	
E.3	Terms and Conditions of the Offer:	The Issue Price of the Notes is [•] per cent. of their principal amount.	
		[Summarise any public offer <sup>13</sup> .]	
		An Investor intending to acquire or acquiring any Notes in a Public Offer from an Offeror other than the Issuer will do so, and offers and sales of such Notes to an Investor by such Offeror will be made, in accordance with any terms and other arrangements in place between such Offeror and such Investor including as to price, allocations and settlement arrangements.]	
E.4	Interests Material to the Issue:	[Syndicated Issue: The Issuer has appointed [•], [•] and [•] (the "Managers") as Managers of the issue of the Notes. The arrangements under which the Notes are sold by the Issuer to and purchased by, Managers are set out in the Syndication Agreement made between the Issuer and the Managers]	
		[Non-Syndicated Issue: The Issuer has appointed [•] (the " <b>Dealer</b> ") as Dealer in respect of the issue of the Notes. The arrangements under which the Notes are sold by the Issuer to, and purchased by, Dealer are set out in the Dealer Agreement made between, amongst others, the Issuer and the Dealer]	
		[Stabilising Manager(s): [•] [and [•].]	
		The [Dealers/Managers] will be paid aggregate commissions equal to [•] per cent. of the nominal amount of the Notes.	
		Any [Dealer/Manager] and its affiliates may also have engaged, and may in the future engage, in investment banking and/or commercial banking transactions with, and may perform other services for, the Issuer and [its/their respective] affiliates in the ordinary course of business.	
E.7	Estimated Expenses:	No expenses will be chargeable by the Issuer to an investor in	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Copy language from paragraph 9, *Terms and Conditions of the Offer* of Part B of the Final Terms when completed

connection with any offer of Notes. Any expenses chargeable by an Authorised Offeror to an investor shall be charged in accordance with any contractual arrangements agreed between the Investor and such Authorised Offeror at the time of the
relevant offer.

Set out below is the form of Final Terms which will be completed for each Tranche of Notes issued under the Programme with a denomination of at least EUR 100,000 (or its equivalent in another currency).

#### ABN AMRO Bank N.V.

## (incorporated in The Netherlands with its statutory seat in Amsterdam and registered in the Commercial Register of the Amsterdam Chamber of Commerce under number 34334259)

#### Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes] (the "Notes")

#### under the Programme for the issuance of Medium Term Notes

## PART A – CONTRACTUAL TERMS

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions (the "Conditions") set forth in the base prospectus dated 2 July 2013 [as supplemented by a supplement dated [*date*]], which [together] constitute[s] a base prospectus (the "**Base Prospectus**") for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive. This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive and must be read in conjunction with the Base Prospectus. Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of these Final Terms and the Base Prospectus. The Base Prospectus is available for viewing at www.abnamro.com/debtinvestors and during normal business hours at the registered office of the Issuer at that address.

[The following alternative language applies if the first Tranche of an issue which is being increased was issued under a base prospectus with an earlier date. Consider whether a drawdown prospectus is required in this case, for example, because the final terms of the first Tranche included information which is no longer permitted to be included in final terms under the Prospectus Directive]

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions (the "Conditions") set forth in the base prospectus dated [*original date*]. This document constitutes the Final Terms of the securities described herein for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive and must be read in conjunction with the base prospectus dated 2 July 2013 [as supplemented by a supplement dated [*date*]] which [together] constitute[s] a base prospectus (the "**Base Prospectus**") for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive. Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the securities is only available on the basis of the combination of these Final Terms and the Base Prospectus. [Copies of such documents are available for viewing at www.abnamro.com/debtinvestors and during normal business hours at the registered office of the Issuer, currently at Gustav Mahlerlaan 10, 1082 PP Amsterdam, The Netherlands and copies may be obtained from the Issuer at that address.]]

The expression Prospectus Directive means Directive 2003/71/EC (and amendments thereto, including the 2010 PD Amending Directive, to the extent implemented in the Relevant Member State), and includes any relevant implementing measure in the Relevant Member State and the expression 2010 PD Amending Directive means Directive 2010/73/EU.

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as "Not Applicable" (N/A). Note that the numbering should remain as set out below, even if "Not Applicable" is indicated for individual paragraphs or sub-paragraphs. Italics denote directions for completing the Final Terms.]

[When adding any other final terms or information consideration should be given as to whether such terms or information constitute "significant new factors" and consequently trigger the need for a supplement to the Base Prospectus under Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.]

1.	Issuer:		ABN AMRO Bank N.V.
2.	(i) Series Number:		[]
	(ii)	Tranche Number:	[]
	(iii)	Date on which the Notes become fungible:	[Not Applicable/The Notes shall be consolidated, form a single series and be interchangeable for trading purposes with the [ <i>insert earlier Tranches</i> ] on [[ <i>insert date</i> ]/the Issue Date/exchange of the Temporary Global Note for interests in the Permanent Global Note, as referred to in paragraph 23 below [which is expected to occur on or about [ <i>insert date</i> ]].]
3.	Specifi	ed Currency or Currencies:	[]
4.	Aggreg	gate Nominal Amount:	
	_	Tranche:	[]
	_	Series:	[]
5.	Issue Price of Tranche:		[] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount [plus accrued interest from [ <i>insert date</i> ] ( <i>in the case</i> of fungible issues only, if applicable)]
6.	(a)	Specified Denominations:	[]
			(Note – where multiple denominations above [EUR 100,000] or equivalent are being used the following sample wording should be followed:
			"[EUR 100,000] and integral multiples of [EUR 1,000] in excess thereof up to and including [EUR 199,000]. No Notes in definitive form will be issued with a denomination above [EUR 199,000].")
			(N.B. If an issue of Notes is (i) NOT admitted to trading on an European Economic Area exchange; and (ii) only offered in the European Economic Area in circumstances where a prospectus is not required to be published under the Prospectus Directive the EUR [100,000] minimum denomination is not required.)
	(b)	Calculation Amount	[]
			(If only one Specified Denomination, insert the Specified Denomination. If more than one Specified Denomination, insert the highest common factor. Note: There must be a common factor in the case of two or more Specified Denominations.)

7.	(i)	Issue Date:		[]
	(ii)	Interest Date:	Commencement	[specify/Issue Date/Not Applicable]
				(N.B. An Interest Commencement Date will not be relevant for certain Notes, for example Zero Coupon Notes.)
8.	Maturity Date:			[ <i>Fixed rate – specify date/Floating rate –</i> Interest Payment Date falling in or nearest to [ <i>specify month and year</i> ]]
9.	Interest	t Basis:		[[] per cent. Fixed Rate]
				[[ <i>specify Reference Rate</i> ] +/- [] per cent. Floating Rate]
				[Zero Coupon]
				(further particulars specified below)
10.	Redemption/Payment Basis:			Subject to any purchase and cancellation or early redemption, the Notes will be redeemed on the Maturity Date at [100] per cent. of their nominal amount.
11.	Change of Interest Basis:			[Specify the date when any fixed to floating rate change occurs or cross refer to paragraphs 14 and 15 below and identify there] [Not Applicable]
12.	Put/Call Options:			[Investor Put]
				[Issuer Call]
				[Regulatory Call]
				[(further particulars specified below)]
13.	Status	of the Notes:		[Senior/Subordinated]
PROV	ISIONS	RELATING	TO INTEREST (IF ANY	Y) PAYABLE
14.	Fixed 1	Rate Note Pr	ovisions	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
				(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub- paragraphs of this paragraph)
	(i)	Rate(s) of In	terest:	[] per cent. per annum payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date
	(ii)	Interest Payr	ment Date(s):	[] in each year [up to and including the Maturity Date] [in each case subject to adjustment in accordance with the [Following Business Day

			Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention] [and [] as Business Centre(s) for the definition of "Business Day"][, Unadjusted]]
			(NB: This will need to be amended in the case of long or short coupons)
	(iii)	Fixed Coupon Amount(s):	[] per Calculation Amount
	(iv)	Broken Amount(s):	[[] per Calculation Amount, payable on the Interest Payment Date falling [in/on] []/Not Applicable]
	(v)	Day Count Fraction:	[30/360 or Actual/Actual (ICMA)]
	(vi)	[Determination Date(s):	[[] in each year/Not Applicable]
			(Insert regular interest payment dates, ignoring issue date or maturity date in the case of a long or short first or last coupon)
			NB: This will need to be amended in the case of regular interest payment dates which are not of equal duration
			NB: Only relevant where Day Count Fraction is Actual/Actual (ICMA)]
15.			
15.	Float	ing Rate Note Provisions	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
13.	Float	ing Rate Note Provisions	[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub- paragraphs of this paragraph)
13.	Float (i)	ing Rate Note Provisions Interest Period(s):	(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-
13.			(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub- paragraphs of this paragraph)
13.	(i)	Interest Period(s):	(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub- paragraphs of this paragraph) []
15.	(i) (ii)	Interest Period(s): First Interest Payment Date: Specified Interest Payment	<ul> <li>(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub- paragraphs of this paragraph)</li> <li>[]</li> <li>[]</li> <li>[Not Applicable/[•] in each year[, subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business Day</li> </ul>
15.	(i) (ii) (iii)	Interest Period(s): First Interest Payment Date: Specified Interest Payment Dates:	<ul> <li>(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub- paragraphs of this paragraph)</li> <li>[]</li> <li>[]</li> <li>[] []</li> <li>[Not Applicable/[•] in each year[, subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business Day Convention set out in (iv) below]]</li> <li>[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day</li> </ul>

		subject to adjustment in accordance with the applicable Business Day Convention.)
(vi)	Business Centre(s):	[specify/Not Applicable]
(vii)	Manner in which the Rate of Interest and Interest Amounts is to be determined:	[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination]
(viii)	Screen Rate Determination:	[Yes/No]
	– Reference Rate:	[for example, LIBOR or EURIBOR]
	<ul> <li>Interest</li> <li>Determination</li> <li>Date(s):</li> </ul>	[]
		(Second London business day prior to the start of each Interest Period if LIBOR (other than euro LIBOR) and the second day on which the TARGET2 System is open prior to the start of each Interest Period if EURIBOR or euro LIBOR)
	– Relevant Screen Page:	[]
		(In the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters EURIBOR01 ensure it is a page which shows a composite rate due to the fallback provisions in the Conditions)
	– Relevant Time:	[For example, 11.00 a.m. London time (in case of LIBOR)/Brussels time (in case of EURIBOR)]
	<ul> <li>Relevant Financial Centre:</li> </ul>	[For example, London (in case LIBOR)/Euro-zone (where Euro-zone means the region comprised of the countries whose lawful currency is the euro)(in case of EURIBOR)]
(ix)	ISDA Determination:	[Yes/No]
	– Floating Rate Option:	[]
	– Designated Maturity:	[]
	– Reset Date:	[]
(x)	Margin(s):	[+/-] [] per cent. per annum
(xi)	Minimum Rate of Interest:	[] per cent. per annum
(xii)	Maximum Rate of Interest:	[] per cent. per annum
(xiii)	Day Count Fraction:	[Actual/Actual (ISDA)

Actual/365 (Fixed) Actual/365 (Sterling) Actual/360 30/360 30E/360 30E/360 (ISDA)] 16. **Zero Coupon Note Provisions** [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph) (i) Accrual Yield: [] per cent. per annum (ii) **Reference Price:** [] [Actual/Actual (ISDA)/Actual/365 (iii) Day Count Fraction in relation to Early Redemption (Fixed)/Actual/365 Amounts and late payment: (Sterling)/Actual/360/30/360/30E/360/30E/360 (ISDA)] **PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION** 

17.	Issuer Call:			[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub- paragraphs of this paragraph)
	(i)	Optional Redemption Date(s): Optional Redemption Amount(s): If redeemable in part:		[]
	(ii)			[] per Calculation Amount
	(iii)			
		Rea	nimum demption nount:	[]
		Red	ximum demption nount:	[]
	(iv)	-	iod (if other than the Conditions):	[]

(N.B. If setting notice periods which are different to those provided in the Conditions, the Issuer is advised to consider the practicalities of distribution of information through intermediaries, for example,

clearing systems and custodians, as well as any other notice requirements which may apply, for example, as between the Issuer and the Agent)

[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph)

[]

[] per Calculation Amount

[]

(N.B. If setting notice periods which are different to those provided in the Conditions, the Issuer is advised to consider the practicalities of distribution of information through intermediaries, for example, clearing systems and custodians, as well as any other notice requirements which may apply, for example, as between the Issuer and the Agent)

[Applicable/Not Applicable] (*If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph*)

[100 per cent./specify other]

[]

[] per Calculation Amount

[]

(N.B. If setting notice periods which are different to those provided in the Conditions, the Issuer is advised to consider the practicalities of distribution of information through intermediaries, for example, clearing systems and custodians, as well as any other notice requirements which may apply, for example, as between the Issuer and the Agent)

[] per Calculation Amount

(N.B. If the Final Redemption Amount is other than 100 per cent. of the nominal value, the Notes will be

Note:

20.

Final Redemption Amount of each

19. Regulatory Call:

- (i) Minimum percentage of the outstanding nominal amount of the Notes for the purposes of Condition 6(e):
- (ii) Optional Redemption Date(s):
- (iii) Optional Redemption Amount(s):
- (iv) Notice period (if other than as set out in the Conditions):

Investor Put:

(i)

18.

(ii) Optional Redemption Amount(s):

Optional Redemption Date(s):

(iii) Notice period (if other than as set out in the Conditions):

derivative securities for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive and the requirements of Annex XII to the Prospectus Directive Regulations will apply.)

21. Early Redemption Amount(s) payable on redemption for taxation reasons or on event of default:

22. Variation or Substitution:

[Applicable / Not Applicable]

[] per Calculation Amount

### GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES

- 23. Form of Notes:
  - (a) Form:

[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a Permanent Global Note which is exchangeable for definitive Notes [on 60 days' notice given at any time/only upon an Exchange Event] [[and] in respect of Global Notes deposited with Euroclear Netherlands only in the limited circumstances as described in the Wge and in accordance with the rules and regulations of Euroclear Netherlands].]

[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for definitive Notes on and after the Exchange Date]

[Permanent Global Note exchangeable for definitive Notes [on 60 days' notice given at any time/only upon an Exchange Event] [[and] in respect of Global Notes deposited with Euroclear Netherlands only in the limited circumstances as described in the Wge and in accordance with the rules and regulations of Euroclear Netherlands].]

(Ensure that this is consistent with the wording in the "Form of the Notes" section in the Base Prospectus and the Notes themselves. N.B. The exchange upon notice/at any time options should not be expressed to be applicable if the Specified Denomination of the Notes in paragraph 6 includes language substantially to the following effect: "[EUR 100,000] and integral multiples of [EUR 1,000] in excess thereof up to and including [EUR 199,0001." Furthermore, such Specified Denomination construction is not permitted in relation to any issue of Notes which is to be represented on issue by a Temporary Global Note *exchangeable for definitive Notes.*))

(b) New Global Note:

[Yes][No]

[N.B. If the Notes are to be deposited with either

24. Additional Financial Centre(s):

- 25. Talons for future Coupons to be attached to definitive Notes (and dates on which such Talons mature):
- 26. For the purposes of Condition 13, notices to be published in the Financial Times (generally yes, but not for domestic issues):
- 27. Whether Condition 7(a) of the Notes applies (in which case Condition 6(b) of the Notes will not apply) or whether Condition 7(b) and Condition 6(b) of the Notes apply:
- 28. Calculation Agent as referred to in Condition 5(d):

Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. or Clearstream Banking, société anonyme, it is intended that the Notes will be designated as New Global Notes. If the Notes are to be deposited with Euroclear Netherlands, it is intended that the Notes will be designated as Classic Global Notes.]

[Not Applicable/give details]

(Note that this paragraph relates to the place of payment and not Interest Period end dates to which sub-paragraph 15(vi) relates)

[Yes, as the Notes have more than 27 coupon payments, talons may be required if, on exchange into definitive form, more than 27 coupon payments are left/No]

[Yes/No]

[Condition 7(a) applies and Condition 6(b) does not apply/Condition 7(b) and Condition 6(b) apply]

[Not Applicable/specify]

(Note that this paragraph only applies in respect of Notes due in Renminbi)

# RESPONSIBILITY

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in these Final Terms. [[Relevant third party information] relating to paragraph [•] above, which has been extracted from [*specify source*]. The Issuer confirms that such information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware and is able to ascertain from information published by [*specify source*], no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.]

Signed on behalf of ABN AMRO Bank N.V.:

By: \_\_\_\_\_

By: \_\_\_\_\_

Duly authorised

Duly authorised

## **PART B – OTHER INFORMATION**

## 1. LISTING AND ADMISSION TO TRADING

(i) Listing and admission to trading:

[Application has been made by the Issuer (or on its behalf) for the Notes to be admitted to trading on [NYSE Euronext in Amsterdam/specify relevant regulated market and, if relevant, admission to an official list] with effect from [].] [Application is expected to be made by the Issuer (or on its behalf) for the Notes to be admitted to trading on [NYSE Euronext in Amsterdam/specify relevant regulated market and, if relevant, admission to an official list] with effect from [].] [Not Applicable.]

- []
- (ii) Estimate of total expenses related to admission to trading:

## 2. **RATINGS**

Ratings:

The Notes to be issued [have [not] been / are expected to be] rated:

- [S & P: []]
- [Moody's: []]
- [Fitch: []]
- [[Other]: []]

[and endorsed by [insert details including full legal name of credit rating agency/ies]]

[Need to include a brief explanation of the meaning of the ratings if this has previously been published by the rating provider.]

(The above disclosure should reflect the rating allocated to Notes of the type issued under the Programme generally or, where the issue has been specifically rated, that rating.)

Insert one (or more) of the following options, as applicable:

[*Insert full legal name of credit rating agency/ies*] [is]/[are] established in the EEA and [has]/[have each] applied for *registration* under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 (the "**CRA Regulation**),

although notification of the corresponding registration decision has not yet been provided by the [relevant competent authority]]. [[Insert full legal name of credit rating agency/ies] [is]/[are] established in the EEA and registered under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 (the "CRA Regulation.] [[Insert full legal name of credit rating agency/ies] [is]/[are] not established in the EEA and is not certified under Regulation (EU) No 1060/2009, as amended (the "CRA Regulation") and the rating it has given to the Notes is not endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the EEA and registered under Regulation (EC) No 1060/2009 (the "CRA Regulation").]

## 3. INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE

[Save for any fees payable to the [Managers/Dealers], so far as the Issuer is aware, no person involved in the issue of the Notes has an interest material to the offer. – *Amend as appropriate if there are other interests*]

[(When adding any other description, consideration should be given as to whether such matters described constitute "significant new factors" and consequently trigger the need for a supplement to the Offering Circular under Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.)]

#### 4. **YIELD** (*Fixed Rate Notes only*)

Indication of yield:

[]

[]

[]

[]

The yield is calculated at the Issue Date on the basis of the Issue Price. It is not an indication of future yield.

## 5. **HISTORIC INTEREST RATES** (Floating Rate Notes only)

Details of historic [LIBOR/EURIBOR/other] rates can be obtained from [Reuters].

#### 6. **OPERATIONAL INFORMATION**

- (i) ISIN Code:
- (ii) Common Code:
- (iii) [Other relevant code:]
- (iv) Any clearing system(s) other than Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. and Clearstream Banking, société anonyme and the relevant identification number(s):

Delivery:

[Not Applicable/give name(s) and numbers(s)][N.B. If the Notes are designated as NGNs, this must be "Not Applicable"]

[If Euroclear Netherlands is selected, and in item 23 Temporary Global Note exchangeable for definitive Notes on and after the Exchange Date is selected, further legal advice is required.]

Delivery [against/free of] payment

(v)

- (vi) Names and addresses of initial Paying Agent(s) (if any):
- (vii) Names and addresses of additional Paying Agent(s) (if any):
- (viii) Intended to be held in a manner which would allow Eurosystem eligibility:

[]

[]

[Yes] [No]

[Note that the designation "yes" does not necessarily mean that the Notes will be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue or at any or all times during their life. Such recognition will depend upon the ECB being satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility criteria have been met. The Notes will be deposited initially upon issue with [one of the ICSDS acting as common safekeeper/ [a non-ICSD] common safekeeper.]] [Include this text if "yes" selected in which case bearer Notes must be issued in NGN form ]

## 7. **DISTRIBUTION**

- (i) Method of distribution:
- (ii) If syndicated, names of Managers and underwriting commitments:
- (iii) Stabilising Manager(s) (if any):
- (iv) If non-syndicated, name of relevant Dealer:
- (v) U.S. Selling Restrictions:

[Syndicated/Non-syndicated]

[Not Applicable]

[Not Applicable/give name]

[Not Applicable/specify name and address of dealer]

[Regulation S Category 2; TEFRA D/TEFRA C/TEFRA not applicable]<sup>14</sup>

14

TEFRA will only apply in respect of issues of Notes with a maturity of more than one year.

#### TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

The following are the Terms and Conditions of Notes to be issued by the Issuer which will be incorporated by reference into each Global Note and which will be endorsed on (or, if permitted by the relevant stock exchange and agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer (if any), incorporated by reference into) each definitive Note in the standard euromarket form. The applicable Final Terms in relation to any Tranche of Notes may specify other terms and conditions which shall to the extent so specified or to the extent inconsistent with the following Terms and Conditions, replace or modify the following Terms and Conditions for the purpose of such Tranche of Notes. Save in the case of public offers of structured Notes (including, for these purposes, Subordinated Notes) in Germany, the applicable Final Terms will be endorsed on, incorporated by reference into, or attached to, each Global Note and definitive Note in the standard euromarket form. Reference should be made to "Form of the Notes" above for a description of the content of Final Terms which includes the definition of certain terms used in the following Terms and Conditions.

This Note is one of a series of Notes issued by ABN AMRO Bank N.V. (in such capacity, the "Issuer", which expression shall include any substituted debtor or transferee pursuant to Condition 16) pursuant to the Agency Agreement (as defined below). References herein to the "Notes" shall be references to the Notes of this Series (as defined below) and shall mean (i) in relation to any Notes represented by a global Note (a "Global Note"), units of the lowest Specified Denomination in the Specified Currency, (ii) definitive Notes issued in exchange (or part exchange) for a Global Note and (iii) any Global Note. The Notes and the Coupons (as defined below) also have the benefit of an Agency Agreement dated 2 July 2013 (as supplemented or amended from time to time, the "Agency Agreement") made between the Issuer, ABN AMRO Bank N.V. as issuing and principal paying agent and agent bank (in such capacity the "Agent", which expression shall include any successor agent) and the other paying agents named therein (together with the Agent, the "Paying Agents", which expression shall include any additional or successor paying agents).

Interest bearing definitive Notes in the standard euromarket form (unless otherwise indicated in the applicable Final Terms) have interest coupons ("Coupons") and, if indicated in the applicable Final Terms, talons for further Coupons ("Talons") attached on issue. Any reference herein to Coupons or coupons shall, unless the context otherwise requires, be deemed to include a reference to Talons or talons. Any reference herein to "Noteholders" shall mean the holders of the Notes, and shall, in relation to any Notes represented by a Global Note, be construed as provided below. Any reference herein to "Couponholders" shall mean the holders of the Coupons, and shall, unless the context otherwise requires, include the holders of the Talons, and holders of Talons shall be referred to herein as "Talonholders". Any holders mentioned above include those having a credit balance in the collective depots held by Nederlands Centraal Instituut voor Giraal Effectenverkeer B.V. ("Euroclear Netherlands") or one of its participants.

The Final Terms for this Note is endorsed hereon or attached hereto and supplements these Terms and Conditions (the "Conditions") and may specify other terms and conditions which shall, to the extent so specified or to the extent inconsistent with the Conditions, replace or modify the Conditions for the purposes of this Note. References herein to the "applicable Final Terms" are to the Final Terms for this Note.

As used herein, "Tranche" means Notes which are identical in all respects (including as to listing) and "Series" means a Tranche of Notes together with any further Tranche or Tranches of Notes which are (i) expressed to be consolidated and form a single series and (ii) are identical in all respects (including as to listing and admission to trading) from the date on which such consolidation is expressed to take effect except for their respective Issue Dates, Interest Commencement Dates and/or Issue Prices.

Copies of the Agency Agreement and the applicable Final Terms are available for viewing at the specified offices of each of the Agent and the other Paying Agents and at the registered offices of the Issuer and of the Agent and copies may be obtained from those offices. The Noteholders and the Couponholders are

deemed to have notice of, and are entitled to the benefit of, all the provisions of the Agency Agreement and the applicable Final Terms which are binding on them.

Words and expressions defined in the Agency Agreement or used in the applicable Final Terms shall have the same meanings where used in the Conditions unless the context otherwise requires or unless otherwise stated.

#### 1. Form, Denomination and Title

The Notes are in bearer form and, in the case of definitive Notes, serially numbered, in the Specified Currency, the Specified Denomination(s) and the Specified Form(s).

This Note may be a Fixed Rate Note, a Floating Rate Note, a Zero Coupon Note or a combination of any of the foregoing, depending upon the Interest Basis shown in the applicable Final Terms.

This Note may be a Senior Note or a Subordinated Note, as indicated in the applicable Final Terms.

Notes in definitive form are issued with Coupons attached, unless they are Zero Coupon Notes in which case references to Coupons and Couponholders in the Conditions are not applicable.

Subject as set out below, title to the Notes and Coupons will pass by delivery. For Notes held by Euroclear Netherlands deliveries will be made in accordance with the Dutch Giro Securities Transfer Act (*Wet giraal effectenverkeer*, "Wge"). Except as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or as required by law or applicable regulations, the Issuer, the Agent and any Paying Agent may deem and treat the bearer of any Note or Coupon as the absolute owner thereof (whether or not overdue and notwithstanding any notice of ownership or writing thereon or notice of any previous loss or theft thereof) for all purposes but, in the case of any Global Note, without prejudice to the provisions set out in the next succeeding paragraph.

For so long as any of the Notes is represented by a Global Note held on behalf of Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. ("Euroclear") and/or Clearstream Banking, société anonyme ("Clearstream, Luxembourg"), each person (other than Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg) who is for the time being shown in the records of Euroclear or of Clearstream, Luxembourg as the holder of a particular nominal amount of such Notes (in which regard any certificate or other document issued by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as to the nominal amount of Notes standing to the account of any person shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes save in the case of manifest error) shall be treated by the Issuer and any Paying Agent as the holder of such Notes in accordance with respect to the payment of principal or interest on the Notes, for which purpose the bearer of the relevant Global Note shall be treated by the Issuer and any Paying Agent as the holder of such Notes in accordance with and subject to the terms of the relevant Global Note (and the expressions "Noteholder" and "holder of Notes" and related expressions shall be construed accordingly). Notes which are represented by a Global Note held by a common depositary or a common safekeeper for Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg will be transferable only in accordance with the rules and procedures for the time being of Euroclear or of Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be.

Where Notes represented by a permanent Global Note are deposited with Euroclear Netherlands, a Noteholder shall not have the right to request delivery (*uitlevering*) of his Notes under the Wge other than as set out in the Global Note and in accordance with the rules and regulations of Euroclear Netherlands.

References to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg shall, whenever the context so permits, be deemed to include a reference to any additional or alternative clearing system specified in the applicable Final Terms but shall not include Euroclear Netherlands.

### 2. Status of the Senior Notes

The Senior Notes and the relative Coupons constitute unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer and rank *pari passu* without any preference among themselves and with all other present and

future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer save for those preferred by mandatory and/or overriding provisions of law.

### **3.** Status and Characteristics relating to Subordinated Notes

The Subordinated Notes and the relative Coupons constitute unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer and rank *pari passu* without any preference among themselves and with all other present and future unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer (other than those subordinated obligations expressed by their terms to rank lower than the Subordinated Notes), save for those preferred by mandatory and/or overriding provisions of law.

The claims of the holders of the Subordinated Notes of this Series and the relative Coupons against the Issuer are:

- (i) in the event of the liquidation or bankruptcy of the Issuer; or
- (ii) in the event that a competent court has declared that the Issuer is in a situation which requires special measures (*noodregeling*) in the interests of all creditors, as referred to in Chapter 3.5.5 of the Dutch Act on financial supervision (*Wet op het financieel toezicht*, the "Wft"), and for so long as such situation is in force (such situation being hereinafter referred to as a "Moratorium"),

subordinated to (a) the claims of depositors (other than in respect of those whose deposits are expressed by their terms to rank equally to or lower than the Subordinated Notes), (b) unsubordinated claims with respect to the repayment of borrowed money and (c) other unsubordinated claims.

By virtue of such subordination, payments to a Noteholder will, in the event of liquidation or bankruptcy of the Issuer or in the event of a Moratorium with respect to the Issuer, only be made after, and any set-off by a Noteholder shall be excluded until, all obligations of the Issuer resulting from higher ranking deposits, unsubordinated claims with respect to the repayment of borrowed money and other unsubordinated claims have been satisfied.

The Subordinated Notes of this Series may qualify as tier 2 capital ("Tier 2 Notes") for the purposes of the regulatory capital rules applicable to the Issuer from time to time.

#### 4. Interest

#### (a) Interest on Fixed Rate Notes

Each Fixed Rate Note bears interest on its outstanding nominal amount from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date at the rate(s) per annum equal to the Fixed Rate(s) of Interest payable in arrear on the Interest Payment Date(s) in each year up to and including the Maturity Date.

If the Notes are in definitive form, except as provided in the applicable Final Terms, the amount of interest payable on each Interest Payment Date in respect of the Fixed Interest Period ending on (but excluding) such date will amount to the Fixed Coupon Amount. Payments of interest on any Interest Payment Date will, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, amount to the Broken Amount so specified.

As used in the Conditions, "Fixed Interest Period" means the period from (and including) an Interest Payment Date (or the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the next (or first) Interest Payment Date.

If a Business Day Convention is specified in the applicable Final Terms and (x) if there is no numerically corresponding day in the calendar month in which an Interest Payment Date should occur or (y)

if any Interest Payment Date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, then, if the Business Day Convention specified is:

- (1) the Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day; or
- (2) the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day; or
- (3) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day.

If a Business Day Convention is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number of days for calculating the amount of interest payable in respect of the relevant Fixed Interest Period shall also be adjusted in accordance with such Business Day Convention, unless "Unadjusted" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, in which case such amount of interest shall be calculated as if the relevant Interest Payment Date were not subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business Day Convention specified in the applicable Final Terms.

In this Condition, "Business Day" means a day which is both:

- (A) a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in any Business Centre specified in the applicable Final Terms; and
- (B) either (1) in relation to any sum payable in a Specified Currency other than euro, a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the principal financial centre of the country of the relevant Specified Currency (if other than any Business Centre and which if the Specified Currency is Australian dollars or New Zealand dollars shall be Sydney and Auckland, respectively) or (2) in relation to any sum payable in euro, a day on which the TARGET2 System is open. In these Conditions, "TARGET2 System" means the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer (TARGET2) System.

Except in the case of Notes in definitive form, where an applicable Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken Amount is specified in the applicable Final Terms, interest shall be calculated in respect of any period by applying the Rate of Interest to:

- (A) in the case of Fixed Rate Notes which are represented by a Global Note, the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of the Fixed Rate Notes represented by such Global Note; or
- (B) in the case of Fixed Rate Notes in definitive form, the Calculation Amount

and, in each case, multiplying such sum by the applicable Day Count Fraction, and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest sub-unit of the relevant Specified Currency, half of any such sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention. Where the Specified Denomination of a Fixed Rate Note in definitive form is a multiple of the Calculation Amount, the amount of interest payable in respect of such Fixed Rate Note shall be the product of the amount (determined in the manner provided above) for the Calculation Amount and the amount by which the Calculation Amount is multiplied to reach the Specified Denomination without any further rounding.

"Day Count Fraction" means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of interest in accordance with this Condition 4:

- (i) if "Actual/Actual (ICMA)" is specified in the applicable Final Terms:
  - (a) in the case of Notes where the number of days in the relevant period from (and including) the most recent Interest Payment Date (or, if none, the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the relevant payment date (the "Accrual Period") is equal to or shorter than the Determination Period during which the Accrual Period ends, the number of days in such Accrual Period divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such Determination Period and (2) the number of Determination Dates (as specified in the applicable Final Terms) that would occur in one calendar year assuming interest was to be payable in respect of the whole of that year; or
  - (b) in the case of Notes where the Accrual Period is longer than the Determination Period during which the Accrual Period ends, the sum of:
    - (1) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the Determination Period in which the Accrual Period begins divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Dates that would occur in one calendar year assuming interest was to be payable in respect of the whole of that year; and
    - (2) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the next Determination Period divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Dates that would occur in one calendar year assuming interest was to be payable in respect of the whole of that year; and
- (ii) if "30/360" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number of days in the period from and including the most recent Interest Payment Date (or, if none, the Interest Commencement Date) to but excluding the relevant payment date (such number of days being calculated on the basis of a year of 360 days with 12 30-day months) divided by 360.

In these Conditions:

"Determination Period" means each period from (and including) a Determination Date to (but excluding) the next Determination Date (including, where either the Interest Commencement Date or the final Interest Payment Date is not a Determination Date, the period commencing on the first Determination Date prior to, and ending on the first Determination Date falling after, such date);

"euro" means the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Communities, as amended; and

"sub-unit" means, with respect to any currency other than euro, the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and with respect to euro, means one cent.

## (b) Interest on Floating Rate Notes

(i) Interest Payment Dates

Each Floating Rate Note bears interest on its outstanding nominal amount from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date at the rate equal to the Rate of Interest payable in arrear on either:

(A) the Specified Interest Payment Date(s) in each year specified in the applicable Final Terms; or

(B) if no Specified Interest Payment Date(s) is/are specified in the applicable Final Terms, each date (each such date, together with each Specified Interest Payment Date, an "Interest Payment Date") which falls the number of months or other period specified as the Interest Period in the applicable Final Terms after the preceding Interest Payment Date or, in the case of the first Interest Payment Date, after the Interest Commencement Date.

Such interest will be payable in respect of each Interest Period (which expression shall, in the Conditions, mean the period from (and including) an Interest Payment Date (or the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the next (or first) Interest Payment Date).

If a Business Day Convention is specified in the applicable Final Terms and (x) if there is no numerically corresponding day in the calendar month in which an Interest Payment Date should occur or (y) if any Interest Payment Date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, then, if the Business Day Convention specified is:

- (1) in any case where Interest Periods are specified in accordance with Condition 4(b)(i)(B) above, the Floating Rate Convention, such Interest Payment Date (i) in the case of (x) above, shall be the last day that is a Business Day in the relevant month and the provisions of (B) below shall apply mutatis mutandis or (ii) in the case of (y) above, shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event (A) such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day and (B) each subsequent Interest Payment Date shall be the last Business Day in the month which falls the number of months or other period specified as the Interest Payment Date occurred; or
- (2) the Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day; or
- (3) the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day; or
- (4) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day.

If a Business Day Convention is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number of days for calculating the amount of interest payable in respect of the relevant Interest Period shall also be adjusted in accordance with such Business Day Convention, unless "Unadjusted" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, in which case such amount of interest shall be calculated as if the relevant Interest Payment Date were not subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business Day Convention specified in the applicable Final Terms.

In this Condition, "Business Day" means a day which is both:

- (A) a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in any Business Centre specified in the applicable Final Terms; and
- (B) either (1) in relation to any sum payable in a Specified Currency other than euro, a

day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the principal financial centre of the country of the relevant Specified Currency (if other than any Business Centre and which if the Specified Currency is Australian dollars or New Zealand dollars shall be Sydney and Auckland, respectively) or (2) in relation to any sum payable in euro, a day on which the TARGET2 System is open. In these Conditions, "TARGET2 System" means the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer (TARGET2) System.

## (ii) Rate of Interest

The Rate of Interest payable from time to time in respect of Floating Rate Notes will be determined in the manner specified in the applicable Final Terms on the following basis:

(A) ISDA Determination

Where ISDA Determination is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will be the relevant ISDA Rate plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms) the Margin (if any). For the purposes of this sub-paragraph (A), "ISDA Rate" for an Interest Period means a rate equal to the Floating Rate that would be determined by the Agent under an interest rate swap transaction if the Agent were acting as Calculation Agent for that swap transaction under the terms of an agreement incorporating the 2006 ISDA Definitions, as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc., and as amended and updated as at the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes (the "ISDA Definitions") and under which:

- (1) the Floating Rate Option is as specified in the applicable Final Terms;
- (2) the Designated Maturity is the period specified in the applicable Final Terms; and
- (3) the relevant Reset Date is either (i) if the applicable Floating Rate Option is based on the London inter-bank offered rate ("LIBOR") or on the Euro-zone inter-bank offered rate ("EURIBOR"), the first day of that Interest Period or (ii) in any other case, as specified in the applicable Final Terms.

For the purposes of this sub-paragraph (A), "Floating Rate", "Calculation Agent", "Floating Rate Option", "Designated Maturity" and "Reset Date" have the meanings given to those terms in the ISDA Definitions.

When this sub-paragraph (A) applies, in respect of each relevant Interest Period the Agent will be deemed to have discharged its obligations under Condition 4(b)(iv) in respect of the determination of the Rate of Interest if it has determined the Rate of Interest in respect of such Interest Period in the manner provided in this sub-paragraph (A).

(B) Screen Rate Determination

Where Screen Rate Determination is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be either:

- (1) if the Reference Rate is a composite quotation or customarily supplied by one entity, the Agent will determine the Reference Rate which appears on the Relevant Screen Page as of the Relevant Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date;
- (2) in any other case, the Agent will determine the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of the Reference Rates which appear on the Relevant Screen Page as of the Relevant Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date;
- (3) if, in the case of (1) above, such rate does not appear on that page or, in the case of (2) above, fewer than three such rates appear on that page or if, in either case, the Relevant Screen Page is unavailable, the Agent will:
  - (A) request the principal Relevant Financial Centre office of each of the Reference Banks to provide a quotation of the Reference Rate at approximately the Relevant Time on the Interest Determination Date to prime banks in the Relevant Financial Centre interbank market in an amount that is representative for a single transaction in that market at that time; and
  - (B) determine the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of such quotations;
- (4) if fewer than two such quotations as referred to in (3) above are provided as requested, the Agent will determine the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of the rates as communicated to (and at the request of) the Agent by the Reference Banks or any two or more of them, at which such banks were offered, at approximately the Relevant Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date in the Relevant Financial Centre of the Specified Currency, deposits in the Specified Currency for the relevant Interest Period by leading banks in the Relevant Financial Centre of the Specified Currency or, if fewer than two of the Reference Banks provide the Agent with such offered rates, the offered rate for deposits in the Specified Currency for the relevant Interest Period, or the arithmetic mean (rounded as provided above) of the offered rates for deposits in the Specified Currency for the relevant Interest Period, at which, at approximately the Relevant Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date, any one or more banks (which bank or banks is or are in the opinion of the Issuer suitable for such purpose) informs the Agent it is quoting to leading banks in the Relevant Financial Centre of the Specified Currency;
- (5) If, in the case of (2) above, five or more such offered quotations are available on the Relevant Screen Page, the highest (or, if there is more than one such highest quotation, one only of such quotations) and the lowest (or, if there is more than one such lowest quotation, one only of such quotations) shall be disregarded by the Agent for the purpose of determining the arithmetic mean (rounded as provided above) of such offered quotations,

and the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be the sum of the Margin and the rate or (as the case may be) the arithmetic mean so determined; provided, however, that if the Agent is unable to determine a rate or (as the case may be) an arithmetic mean in accordance with the above provisions in relation to any Interest Period, the Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes during such Interest Period will be the sum of the Margin and the rate or (as the case may be) the arithmetic mean last determined in relation to the Notes in respect of a preceding Interest Period (though substituting, where a different Margin is to be applied to the relevant Interest Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Period, the Margin relating to the relevant Interest Period, in place of the Margin relating to that last preceding Interest Period).

In this Condition 4, the expression "Reference Banks" means, in the case of (1) above, those banks whose offered rates were used to determine such quotation when such quotation last appeared on the Relevant Screen Page and, in the case of (2) above, those banks whose offered quotations last appeared on the Relevant Screen Page when no fewer than three such offered quotations appeared.

(iii) Minimum and/or Maximum Rate of Interest

If the applicable Final Terms specifies a Minimum Rate of Interest for any Interest Period, then the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall in no event be less than such Minimum Rate of Interest and/or if it specifies a Maximum Rate of Interest for any Interest Period, then the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall in no event be greater than such Maximum Rate of Interest.

(iv) Determination of Rate of Interest and Calculation of Interest Amounts

The Agent will at or as soon as practicable after each time at which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, determine the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period.

The Agent will calculate the amount of interest (the **Interest Amount**) payable on the Floating Rate Notes for the relevant Interest Period by applying the Rate of Interest to:

- (A) in the case of Floating Rate Notes which are represented by a Global Note, the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of the Notes represented by such Global Note; or
- (B) in the case of Floating Rate Notes in definitive form, the Calculation Amount

and, in each case, multiplying such sum by the applicable Day Count Fraction, and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest sub-unit of the relevant Specified Currency, half of any such sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention. Where the Specified Denomination of a Floating Rate Note in definitive form is a multiple of the Calculation Amount, the Interest Amount payable in respect of such Note shall be the product of the amount (determined in the manner provided above) for the Calculation Amount and the amount by which the Calculation Amount is multiplied to reach the Specified Denomination without any further rounding.

"Day Count Fraction" means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of interest in accordance with this Condition 4(b):

(i) if "Actual/Actual (ISDA)" or "Actual/Actual" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of that Interest Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (A) the actual number of days in that portion of the Interest Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (B) the actual number of days in that portion of the Interest Period falling in a non-

leap year divided by 365);

- (ii) if "Actual/365 (Fixed)" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 365;
- (iii) if "Actual/365 (sterling)" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 365 or, in the case of an Interest Payment Date falling in a leap year, 366;
- (iv) if "Actual/360" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 360;
- (v) if "30/360", "360/360" or "Bond Basis" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number of days in the Interest Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

$$= \frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$$

Day Count Fraction =

where:

" $Y_1$ " is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls;

" $Y_2$ " is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

" $M_1$ " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls;

" $M_2$ " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

" $D_1$ " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless such number is 31, in which case  $D_1$  will be 30; and

" $D_2$ " is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Interest Period, unless such number would be 31 and D1 is greater than 29, in which case  $D_2$  will be 30;

(vi) if "30E/360" or "Eurobond Basis" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number of days in the Interest Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction =

$$\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$$

where:

" $Y_1$ " is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls;

" $Y_2$ " is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

"M<sub>1</sub>" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls;

"M<sub>2</sub>" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

 $"D_1"$  is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case  $D_1$  will be 30; and

"D<sub>2</sub>" is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Interest Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case  $D_2$  will be 30;

(vii) if "30E/360 (ISDA)" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number of days in the Interest Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction =  $\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30 \times (M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$ 

where:

" $Y_1$ " is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls:

" $Y_2$ " is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

" $M_1$ " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls:

"M2" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls;

" $D_1$ " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case  $D_1$  will be 30; and

 $"D_2"$  is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Interest Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February but not the Maturity Date or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case  $D_2$  will be 30.

(v) Notification of Rate of Interest and Interest Amount

> The Agent will cause the Rate of Interest and each Interest Amount for each Interest Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified to the Issuer and any stock exchange on which the relevant Floating Rate Notes are for the time being listed and notice thereof to be published in accordance with Condition 13 as soon as possible after their determination but in no event later than the fourth Amsterdam Business Day thereafter. Each Interest Amount and Interest Payment Date so notified may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) in the event of an extension or shortening of the Interest Period. Any such amendment will be promptly notified to each stock exchange on which the relevant Floating Rate Notes are for the time being listed and to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13. If the Calculation Amount is less than the

minimum Specified Denomination the Agent shall not be obliged to publish each Interest Amount but instead may publish only the Calculation Amount and the Interest Amount in respect of a Note having the minimum Specified Denomination. For the purposes of this paragraph, the expression "Amsterdam Business Day" means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in Amsterdam.

(vi) Certificates to be Final

All certificates, communications, opinions, determinations, calculations, quotations and decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of the provisions of this paragraph (b) by the Agent shall (in the absence of wilful default, bad faith or manifest error) be binding on the Issuer, the Agent, the other Paying Agents and all Noteholders and Couponholders and (in the absence as aforesaid) no liability to the Issuer, the Noteholders or the Couponholders shall attach to the Agent in connection with the exercise or non-exercise by it of its powers, duties and discretions pursuant to such provisions.

## (c) Accrual of Interest

Each Note (or in the case of the redemption of part only of a Note, that part only of such Note) will cease to bear interest (if any) from the date for its redemption unless payment of principal is improperly withheld or refused. In such event, interest will continue to accrue until whichever is the earlier of:

- (1) the date on which all amounts due in respect of such Note have been paid; and
- (2) five days after the date on which the full amount of the moneys payable has been received by the Agent and notice to that effect has been given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 or individually.

## 5. Payments

#### (a) Method of Payment

Subject as provided below:

- payments in a Specified Currency other than euro or Renminbi will be made by credit or transfer to an account in the relevant Specified Currency maintained by the payee with, or by a cheque in such Specified Currency drawn on, a bank in the principal financial centre of the country of such Specified Currency (which, if the Specified Currency is Australian dollars or New Zealand dollars, shall be Sydney and Auckland, respectively);
- (ii) payments in euro will be made by credit or transfer to a euro account (or any other account to which euro may be credited or transferred) specified by the payee or, at the option of the payee, by a euro cheque; and
- (iii) payments in Renminbi will be made by credit or transfer to a Renminbi account maintained in Hong Kong in accordance with prevailing rules and regulations and as further specified in the relevant Global Note.

Payments will be subject in all cases to any fiscal or other laws and regulations applicable thereto in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 7.

# (b) Presentation of Notes and Coupons

Payments of principal in respect of definitive Notes will (subject as provided below) be made in the manner provided in paragraph (a) above only against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part

payment of any sum due, endorsement) of definitive Notes, and payments of interest in respect of definitive Notes will (subject as provided below) be made as aforesaid only against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment of any sum due, endorsement) of Coupons, in each case at the specified office of any Paying Agent (in the case of any payments to be made in U.S. dollars, outside the United States (as defined below)).

Fixed Rate Notes in definitive form (other than Long Maturity Notes (as defined below)) should be presented for payment together with all unmatured Coupons appertaining thereto (which expression shall for this purpose include Coupons falling to be issued on exchange of matured Talons), failing which the amount of any missing unmatured Coupon (or, in the case of payment not being made in full, the same proportion of the amount of such missing unmatured Coupon as the sum so paid bears to the sum due) will be deducted from the sum due for payment. Each amount of principal so deducted will be paid in the manner mentioned above against surrender of the relative missing Coupon at any time before the expiry of ten years after the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 7) in respect of such principal (whether or not such Coupon would otherwise have become due. Upon any Fixed Rate Note becoming due and repayable prior to its Maturity Date, all unmatured Talons (if any) appertaining thereto will become void and no further Coupons in respect of any such Talons will be made or issued, as the case may be.

Upon the date on which any Floating Rate Note or Long Maturity Note in definitive form becomes due and repayable, unmatured Coupons and Talons (if any) relating thereto (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment or, as the case may be, exchange for further Coupons shall be made in respect thereof. Where any such Note is presented for redemption without all unmatured Coupons or Talons relating to it, redemption shall be made only against the provision of such indemnity as the Issuer may require. A "Long Maturity Note" is a Fixed Rate Note (other than a Fixed Rate Note which on issue had a Talon attached) whose nominal amount on issue is less than the aggregate interest payable thereon provided that such Note shall cease to be a Long Maturity Note on the Interest Payment Date on which the aggregate amount of interest remaining to be paid after that date is less than the nominal amount of such Note.

If the due date for redemption of any definitive Note is not an Interest Payment Date, interest (if any) accrued in respect of such Note from (and including) the preceding Interest Payment Date or, as the case may be, the Interest Commencement Date shall be payable only against surrender of the relevant definitive Note.

Payments of principal and interest (if any) in respect of Notes represented by any Global Note will (subject as provided below) be made in the manner specified above in relation to definitive Notes and otherwise in the manner specified in the relevant Global Note, where applicable, against presentation or surrender, as the case may be, of such Global Note at the specified office of any Paying Agent outside the United States. A record of each payment made, distinguishing between any payment of principal and any payment of interest, will be made on such Global Note either by such Paying Agent to which it was presented or in the records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, as applicable.

The holder of a Global Note shall be the only person entitled to receive payments in respect of Notes represented by such Global Note and the Issuer will be discharged by payment to, or to the order of, the holder of such Global Note in respect of each amount so paid. Each of the persons shown in the records of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as the beneficial holder of a particular nominal amount of Notes represented by such Global Note must look solely to Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, for his share of each payment so made by the Issuer to, or to the order of, the holder of such Global Note. No person other than the holder of such Global Note shall have any claim against the Issuer in respect of any payments due on that Global Note.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, U.S. dollar payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes will be made at the specified office of a Paying Agent in the United States (which expression, as used herein, means the United States of America (including the States and the District of Columbia, its territories, its

possessions and other areas subject to its jurisdiction)) if:

- the Issuer has appointed Paying Agents with specified offices outside the United States with the reasonable expectation that such Paying Agents would be able to make payment in U.S. dollars at such specified offices outside the United States of the full amount of principal and interest on the Notes in the manner provided above when due;
- (ii) payment of the full amount of such principal and interest at all such specified offices outside the United States is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or other similar restrictions on the full payment or receipt of principal and interest in U.S. dollars; and
- (iii) such payment is then permitted under United States law without involving, in the opinion of the Issuer, adverse tax consequences to the Issuer.

## (c) Payment Day

If the date for payment of any amount in respect of any Note or Coupon is not a Payment Day, the holder thereof shall not be entitled to payment until the next following Payment Day in the relevant place and shall not be entitled to further interest or other payment in respect of such delay. For these purposes (unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms), "Payment Day" means any day which (subject to Condition 8) is:

- (i) a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in:
  - (A) the relevant place of presentation; and
  - (B) any Financial Centre specified in the applicable Final Terms; and
- (ii) either (1) in relation to any sum payable in a Specified Currency other than euro, a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the principal financial centre of the country of the relevant Specified Currency (which if the Specified Currency is Australian dollars or New Zealand dollars shall be Sydney and Auckland, respectively) or (2) in relation to any sum payable in euro, a day on which the TARGET2 System is open.

# (d) Payment of US Dollar Equivalent

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if by reason of Inconvertibility, Non-transferability or Illiquidity, the Issuer is not able to satisfy payments of principal or interest in respect of the Notes when due in Renminbi in Hong Kong, the Issuer may, on giving not less than five or more than 30 calendar days' irrevocable notice to the Noteholders prior to the due date for payment, settle any such payment in U.S. dollars on the due date at the U.S. Dollar Equivalent of any such Renminbi-denominated amount.

For the purposes of these Conditions, "U.S. Dollar Equivalent" means the Renminbi amount converted into U.S. dollars using the Spot Rate for the relevant Determination Date.

For the purpose of this paragraph (d):

"Calculation Agent" shall be such person as specified in the applicable Final Terms;

"CNY" means the lawful currency of the PRC;

"Determination Business Day" means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealings in foreign exchange) in Hong Kong, London and in New York City;

"Determination Date" means the day which is two Determination Business Days before the due date for any payment of the relevant amount under these Conditions;

"Governmental Authority" means any *de facto* or *de jure* government (or any agency or instrumentality thereof), court, tribunal, administrative or other governmental authority or any other entity (private or public) charged with the regulation of the financial markets (including the central bank) of Hong Kong;

"Hong Kong" means the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC;

"Illiquidity" means where the general Renminbi exchange market in Hong Kong becomes illiquid and, as a result of which, the Issuer cannot obtain sufficient Renminbi in order to satisfy its obligation to pay interest and principal (in whole or in part) in respect of the Notes as determined by the Issuer in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner following consultation (if practicable) with two Renminbi Dealers;

"Inconvertibility" means the occurrence of any event that makes it impossible for the Issuer to convert any amount due in respect of the Notes in the general Renminbi exchange market in Hong Kong, other than where such impossibility is due solely to the failure of the Issuer to comply with any law, rule or regulation enacted by any Governmental Authority (unless such law, rule or regulation is enacted after the Issue Date and it is impossible for the Issuer, due to an event beyond its control, to comply with such law, rule or regulation);

"Non-transferability" means the occurrence of any event that makes it impossible for the Issuer to transfer Renminbi between accounts inside Hong Kong or from an account inside Hong Kong to an account outside Hong Kong or from an account outside Hong Kong to an account inside Hong Kong, other than where such impossibility is due solely to the failure of the Issuer to comply with any law, rule or regulation enacted by any Governmental Authority (unless such law, rule or regulation is enacted after the Issue Date and it is impossible for the Issuer, due to an event beyond its control, to comply with such law, rule or regulation);

"PRC" means the People's Republic of China which, for the purpose of these Conditions, shall exclude Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China and Taiwan;

"Renminbi" means the lawful currency of the PRC;

"Renminbi Dealer" means an independent foreign exchange dealer of international repute active in the Renminbi exchange market in Hong Kong; and

"Spot Rate" means the spot CNY/US dollar exchange rate for the purchase of US dollars with Renminbi in the over-the-counter Renminbi exchange market in Hong Kong for settlement in two Determination Business Days, as determined by the Calculation Agent at or around 11 a.m. (Hong Kong time) on the Determination Date, on a deliverable basis by reference to Reuters Screen Page TRADCNY3, or if no such rate is available, on a non-deliverable basis by reference to Reuters Screen Page TRADNDF. If neither rate is available, the Calculation Agent will determine the Spot Rate at or around 11 a.m. (Hong Kong time) on the Determination Date as the most recently available CNY/US dollar official fixing rate for settlement in two Determination Business Days reported by The State Administration of Foreign Exchange of the PRC, which is reported on the Reuters Screen Page CNY=SAEC. Reference to a page on the Reuters Screen means the display page so designated on the Reuters Monitor Money Rates Service (or any successor service) or such other page as may replace that page for the purpose of displaying a comparable currency exchange rate.

All notifications, opinions, determinations, certificates, calculations, quotations and decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of the provisions of this paragraph (d) by the Calculation

Agent, will (in the absence of wilful default, bad faith or manifest error) be binding on the Issuer, the Paying Agents and all Noteholders.

#### (e) Interpretation of Principal and Interest

Any reference in the Conditions to principal or nominal amount in respect of the Notes shall be deemed to include, as applicable:

- (i) any additional amounts which may be payable with respect to principal under Condition 7;
- (ii) the Final Redemption Amount of the Notes;
- (iii) the Early Redemption Amount of the Notes;
- (iv) the Optional Redemption Amount(s) (if any) of the Notes;
- (v) in relation to Zero Coupon Notes, the Amortised Face Amount; and
- (vi) any premium and any other amounts (other than interest) which may be payable by the Issuer under or in respect of the Notes,

and shall be deemed to exclude any amount written off or converted (if any) pursuant to Condition 6(j).

Any reference in the Conditions to interest in respect of the Notes shall be deemed to include, as applicable, any additional amounts which may be payable with respect to interest under Condition 7.

#### 6. Redemption and Purchase

#### (a) At Maturity

Unless previously redeemed, written off, converted, or purchased and cancelled as specified below, each Note will be redeemed by the Issuer at its Final Redemption Amount specified in the applicable Final Terms in the relevant Specified Currency on the Maturity Date.

#### (b) Redemption for Tax Reasons

Subject as provided in paragraph (f) below and unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not in part, at any time (in the case of Notes other than Floating Rate Notes) or on any Interest Payment Date (in the case of Floating Rate Notes), on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days' notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 (which notice shall be irrevocable) if, on the occasion of the next payment due under the Notes, the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay additional amounts as provided or referred to in Condition 7 or the Issuer will not obtain full or substantially full relief for the purposes of Dutch corporation tax for any interest payable as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of The Netherlands or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, or any change in the application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations, which change or amendment (i) becomes effective on or after the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes and, with respect to Subordinated Notes only, (ii) to the satisfaction of DNB is material and was not reasonably foreseeable at the Issue Date.

Each Note redeemed pursuant to this Condition 6(b) will be redeemed at its Early Redemption Amount referred to in paragraph (f) below together (if appropriate) with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date of redemption.

## (c) Redemption at the Option of the Issuer (Issuer Call)

If Issuer Call is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Issuer may, subject as provided in paragraph (f) below and having given:

- (i) not less than 15 nor more than 30 days' notice, or such other period of notice as is specified in the applicable Final Terms, to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13; and
- (ii) not less than 15 days before the giving of the notice referred to in (i), notice to the Agent, both of which notices shall be irrevocable),

redeem all or some only of the Notes then outstanding on the Optional Redemption Date(s) and at the Optional Redemption Amount(s) specified in the applicable Final Terms together, if appropriate, with interest accrued to (but excluding) the Optional Redemption Date(s).

Any such redemption must be of a nominal amount not less than the Minimum Redemption Amount and not higher than the Maximum Redemption Amount, both as indicated (if at all) in the applicable Final Terms. In the case of a partial redemption of Notes, the Notes to be redeemed ("Redeemed Notes") will be selected individually by lot, in the case of Redeemed Notes represented by definitive Notes, and in accordance with the rules of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or Euroclear Netherlands (to be reflected in the records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg as either a pool factor or a reduction in nominal amount, at their discretion), in the case of Redeemed Notes represented by a Global Note, not more than 30 days prior to the date fixed for redemption (such date of selection being hereinafter called the "Selection Date"). In the case of Redeemed Notes represented by definitive Notes, a list of the serial numbers of such Redeemed Notes will be published in accordance with Condition 13 not less than 15 days prior to the date fixed for redemption. No exchange of the relevant Global Note will be permitted during the period from and including the Selection Date to and including the date fixed for redemption pursuant to this subparagraph (c) and notice to that effect shall be given by the Issuer to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 at least 5 days prior to the Selection Date.

# (d) Redemption of Notes at the Option of the Noteholders (Investor Put)

If Investor Put is specified in the applicable Final Terms, upon the holder of any Note giving to the Issuer in accordance with Condition 13 not less than 15 nor more than 30 days' notice or such other period of notice as is specified in the applicable Final Terms (which notice shall be irrevocable), the Issuer will, upon the expiry of such notice, redeem, subject to, and in accordance with, the terms specified in the applicable Final Terms, in whole (but not in part), such Note on the Optional Redemption Date and at the Optional Redemption Amount specified in the applicable Final Terms together, if appropriate, with interest accrued to (but excluding) the Optional Redemption Date. It may be that before an Investor Put can be exercised, certain conditions and/or circumstances will need to be satisfied. Where relevant, the provisions will be set out in the applicable Final Terms.

To exercise the right to require redemption of this Note its holder must, if this Note is in definitive form and held outside Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or, if applicable, Euroclear Netherlands, deliver at the specified office of any Paying Agent at any time during normal business hours of such Paying Agent falling within the notice period, a duly signed and completed notice of exercise in the form (for the time being current) obtainable from any specified office of any Paying Agent (a "Put Notice") and in which the holder must specify a bank account (or, if payment is required to be made by cheque, an address) to which payment is to be made under this Condition accompanied by this Note or evidence satisfactory to the Paying Agent concerned that this Note will, following delivery of the Put Notice, be held to its order or under its control.

If this Note is represented by a Global Note or is in definitive form and held through Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or, if applicable, Euroclear Netherlands, to exercise the right to require

redemption of this Note the holder of this Note must, within the notice period, give notice to the Agent of such exercise in accordance with the standard procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or, if applicable, Euroclear Netherlands (which may include notice being given on his instruction by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or any common depositary or common safekeeper, as the case may be, for them or, if applicable, Euroclear Netherlands to the Agent by electronic means) in a form acceptable to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or, if applicable, Euroclear Netherlands from time to time and, if this Note is represented by a Global Note, at the same time present or procure the presentation of the relevant Global Note to the Agent for notation accordingly.

### (e) Redemption, substitution and variation for regulatory purposes of Subordinated Notes

If Regulatory Call is specified in the applicable Final Terms and if the Issuer notifies the Noteholders immediately prior to the giving of notice referred to below that the whole or at least the minimum percentage of the outstanding nominal amount of the Notes, as specified in the applicable Final Terms, is fully excluded from qualifying as Tier 2 capital of the Issuer for the purposes of the regulatory capital rules applicable to the Issuer at the relevant time (other than the regulatory capital rules in force on the Issue Date of the Notes) or DNB or other relevant authority has determined that the whole or at least the minimum percentage of the outstanding nominal amount of the Notes, as specified in the applicable Final Terms, is fully excluded from qualifying as Tier 2 capital of the Issuer for the purposes of the regulatory capital rules applicable to the Issuer at the relevant time (other than the regulatory capital rules in force on the Issue Date of the Notes), then the Issuer may, subject to (i) DNB being satisfied that such disqualification as Tier 2 capital was not reasonably foreseeable at the Issue Date and (ii) the prior consent of DNB provided that at the relevant time such consent is required, and having given not less than 30 nor more than 60 days' notice (which notice shall be irrevocable) to the Noteholders redeem, in accordance with the Conditions, all, but not some only, of the Notes on the Optional Redemption Date(s) specified in the applicable Final Terms at the Optional Redemption Amount specified in the applicable Final Terms together with accrued interest (if any) to but excluding the Optional Redemption Date.

If Variation or Substitution is specified in the applicable Final Terms and if a CRD IV Capital Event or an event as specified in the preceding paragraph in this Condition 6(e) has occurred and is continuing, then the Issuer may, subject to the prior written consent of DNB provided that at the relevant time such consent is required (but without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Noteholders) and having given not less than 30 nor more than 60 days' notice or such other period of notice as is specified in the applicable Final Terms (which notice shall be irrevocable) to the Noteholders, either substitute all, but not some only, of the Notes or vary the terms of the Notes so that they remain or, as appropriate, become compliant with CRD IV or such other regulatory capital rules applicable to the Issuer at the relevant time. Upon the expiry of the notice referred to above, the Issuer shall either vary the terms of, or substitute, the Notes in accordance with this Condition 6(e), as the case may be, provided that such substitution or variation shall not result in terms that are materially less favourable to the Noteholders.

Following such variation or substitution the resulting securities shall (1) have a ranking at least equal to that of the Subordinated Notes, (2) have at least the same interest rate and the same interest payment dates as those from time to time applying to the Subordinated Notes, (3) have the same maturity date and redemption rights as the Subordinated Notes, (4) preserve any existing rights under the Subordinated Notes to any accrued interest which has not been paid in respect of the period from (and including) the interest payment date last preceding the date of variation or substitution, (5) have assigned (or maintain) the same credit ratings as were assigned to the Subordinated Notes immediately prior to such variation or substitution and (6) be listed on a recognised stock exchange if the Subordinated Notes were listed immediately prior to such variation.

## In these Conditions:

"CRD IV Capital Event" is deemed to have occurred if the whole of the outstanding nominal amount of the Subordinated Notes can no longer be included in full in the Tier 2 capital of the Issuer by reason of their

non-compliance with CRD IV or such other regulatory capital rules applicable to the Issuer at the relevant time;

"CRD IV" means together, (i) the CRD IV Directive, (ii) the CRD IV Regulation and (iii) the Future Capital Instruments Regulations;

"CRD IV Directive" means Directive 2013/36/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on access to the activity of credit institutions and the prudential supervision of credit institutions and investment firms, amending Directive 2002/87/EC and repealing Directives 2006/48/EC and 2006/49/EC;

"CRD IV Regulation" means Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms and amending Regulation (EU) No 648/2012;

"DNB" means the Dutch Central Bank (*De Nederlandsche Bank N.V.*); and

"Future Capital Instruments Regulations" means any regulatory capital rules implementing the CRD IV Regulation or the CRD IV Directive which may from time to time be introduced, including, but not limited to, delegated or implementing acts (regulatory technical standards) adopted by the European Commission, national laws and regulations, and regulations and guidelines issued by DNB, the European Banking Authority or other relevant authority, which are applicable to the Issuer (on a solo or consolidated basis) and which lay down the requirements to be fulfilled by financial instruments for inclusion in the regulatory capital of the Issuer (on a solo or consolidated basis) as required by (i) the CRD IV Regulation or (ii) the CRD IV Directive.

### (f) Early Redemption Amounts

Subject to paragraph (j) below, for the purpose of paragraph (b) above and Condition 9, each Note will be redeemed at its Early Redemption Amount calculated as follows:

- (i) in the case of a Note with a Final Redemption Amount equal to the Issue Price, at the Final Redemption Amount thereof; or
- (ii) in the case of a Zero Coupon Note, at an amount (the "Amortised Face Amount") equal to the product of:
  - (A) the Reference Price; and
  - (B) the sum of the figure 1 and the Accrual Yield, raised to the power of x, where "x" is a fraction the numerator of which is equal to the number of days (calculated on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of 12 months of 30 days each) from (and including) the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption or (as the case may be) the date upon which such Note becomes due and repayable and the denominator of which is 360, or on such other Day Count Fraction as defined in Condition 4(b)(iv) as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms; and
- (iii) in any other case, at the amount specified in the applicable Final Terms or, if no such amount is so specified in the Final Terms, at their nominal amount.

Redemption of Subordinated Notes pursuant to paragraph (b), (c) or (d) above may only be effected after the Issuer has obtained the prior written consent of DNB, provided that at the relevant time such consent is required to be given.

## (g) Purchases

The Issuer or any of its subsidiaries may at any time purchase Notes (provided that, in the case of definitive Notes, all unmatured Coupons and Talons appertaining thereto are purchased therewith) at any price in the open market or otherwise. Such Notes may be held, re-issued, resold or, at the option of the Issuer, surrendered to any Paying Agent for cancellation. The purchase by the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries of Subordinated Notes shall be subject to the prior written consent DNB, provided that at the relevant time such consent is required to be given.

# (h) Cancellation

All Notes which are redeemed will forthwith be cancelled (together with all unmatured Coupons attached thereto or surrendered therewith at the time of redemption). All Notes so cancelled and the Notes purchased and cancelled pursuant to paragraph (g) above (together with all unmatured Coupons cancelled therewith) shall be forwarded to the Agent and cannot be re-issued or resold.

## (i) Late Payment on Zero Coupon Notes

If the amount payable in respect of any Zero Coupon Note upon redemption of such Zero Coupon Note pursuant to paragraph (a), (b), (c) or (d) above or upon its becoming due and repayable as provided in Condition 9 is improperly withheld or refused, the amount due and repayable in respect of such Zero Coupon Note shall be the amount calculated as provided in paragraph 6(f)(ii) above as though the references therein to the date fixed for the redemption or the date upon which such Zero Coupon Note becomes due and payable were replaced by references to the date which is the earlier of:

- (i) the date on which all amounts due in respect of such Zero Coupon Note have been paid; and
- (ii) five days after the date on which the full amount of the moneys payable has been received by the Agent and notice to that effect has been given to the Noteholders, in accordance with Condition 13.

## (j) Statutory Loss Absorption of Subordinated Notes

Subordinated Notes may become subject to the determination by the Relevant Authority or the Issuer (following instructions from the Relevant Authority) that all or part of the nominal amount of the Subordinated Notes, including accrued but unpaid interest in respect thereof, must be written off or converted into common equity Tier 1 instruments or otherwise be applied to absorb losses, all as prescribed by CMD ("Statutory Loss Absorption"). Upon any such determination, (i) the relevant proportion of the outstanding nominal amount of the Subordinated Notes subject to Statutory Loss Absorption shall be written off or converted into common equity Tier 1 instruments or otherwise be applied to absorb losses, as prescribed by CMD, (ii) such Statutory Loss Absorption shall not constitute an Event of Default and (iii) the Subordinated Noteholders will have no further claims in respect of the amount so written off or subject to conversion or otherwise as a result of such Statutory Loss Absorption.

The Subordinated Notes will not be subject to Statutory Loss Absorption if and to the extent the CMD is not deemed to apply retrospectively with respect to such Statutory Loss Absorption.

Upon any write off or conversion of a proportion of the outstanding nominal amount of the Subordinated Notes, any reference in these Conditions to principal, nominal amount, Final Redemption Amount, Early Redemption Amount or Optional Redemption Amount of the Subordinated Notes shall be deemed to be to the amount resulting after such write off or conversion.

In addition, subject to the determination by the Relevant Authority and without the consent of the Noteholders, the Subordinated Notes may be subject to other resolution measures as envisaged under the CMD, such as replacement or substitution of the Issuer, transfer of the Subordinated Notes, expropriation of

Noteholders, modification of the terms of the Subordinated Notes and/or suspension or termination of the listings of the Subordinated Notes. Such determination, the implementation thereof and the rights of Noteholders shall be as prescribed by CMD, which may include the concept that, upon such determination, no Noteholder shall be entitled to claim any indemnification or payment in respect of any tax or other consequences arising from any such event and that any such event shall not constitute an Event of Default.

## In these Conditions:

"CMD" means any relevant laws and regulations applicable to the Issuer at the relevant time pursuant to, or which implement, or are enacted within the context of, a directive or regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing a framework for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms, a first draft of which was published on 6 June 2012, or such other resolution or recovery rules which may from time to time be applicable to the Issuer (including CRD IV); and

"Relevant Authority" means DNB or other regulatory authority or governmental body having the power to impose Statutory Loss Absorption on the Subordinated Notes pursuant to CMD.

# 7. Taxation

All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes and Coupons by the Issuer will be made without withholding or deduction for or on account of any present or future taxes or duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed or levied by or on behalf of The Netherlands or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, unless such withholding or deduction is required by law. In such event, the Issuer will, depending on which provision is specified in the applicable Final Terms, either:

- (a) make the required withholding or deduction of such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges for the account of the holders of the Notes or Coupons, as the case may be, and shall not pay any additional amounts to the holders of the Notes or Coupons; or
- (b) pay such additional amounts as shall be necessary in order that the net amounts received by the holders of the Notes or Coupons after such withholding or deduction shall equal the respective amounts of principal and interest which would otherwise have been receivable in respect of the Notes or Coupons, as the case may be, in the absence of such withholding or deduction; except that no such additional amounts shall be payable with respect to any Note or Coupon:
  - presented for payment by or on behalf of a Noteholder or Couponholder who is liable for such taxes or duties in respect of such Note or Coupon by reason of his having some connection with The Netherlands other than the mere holding of such Note or Coupon or the receipt of principal or interest in respect thereof; or
  - (ii) presented for payment by or on behalf of a Noteholder or Couponholder who would not be liable or subject to the withholding or deduction by making a declaration of non-residence or other similar claim for exemption to the relevant tax authority; or
  - (iii) presented for payment by or on behalf of a Noteholder or Couponholder who would have been able to avoid such withholding or deduction by presenting the relevant Note or Coupon to another Paying Agent in a Member State of the European Union; or
  - (iv) presented for payment more than 30 days after the Relevant Date (as defined below) except to the extent that the holder thereof would have been entitled to an additional amount on presenting the same for payment on such thirtieth day assuming that day

to have been a Payment Day (as defined in Condition 5(c)); or

(v) where such withholding or deduction is imposed on a payment to an individual and is required to be made pursuant to European Council Directive 2003/48/EC on the taxation of savings income or any law implementing or complying with, or introduced in order to conform to, such Directive.

The Issuer shall be permitted to withhold or deduct any amounts required by the rules of U.S. Internal Revenue Code Sections 1471 through 1474 (or any amended or successor provisions), pursuant to any inter-governmental agreement or implementing legislation adopted by another jurisdiction in connection with these provisions, or pursuant to any agreement with the U.S. Internal Revenue Service ("**FATCA Withholding**") as a result of a holder, beneficial owner or an intermediary that is not an agent of the Issuer not being entitled to receive payments free of FATCA Withholding. The Issuer will have no obligation to pay additional amounts or otherwise indemnify an investor for any such FATCA Withholding deducted or withheld by the Issuer, the paying agent or any other party.

As used herein, the "Relevant Date" means the date on which such payment first becomes due, except that, if the full amount of the moneys payable has not been duly received by the Agent on or prior to such due date, it means the date on which, the full amount of such moneys having been so received, notice to that effect is duly given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13.

## 8. Prescription

The Notes and Coupons will become void unless claims in respect of principal and/or interest are made within a period of five years after the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 7) therefore.

There shall not be included in any Coupon sheet issued on exchange of a Talon any Coupon the claim for payment in respect of which would be void pursuant to this Condition or Condition 5(b) or any Talon which would be void pursuant to Condition 5(b).

# 9. Events of Default

## (a) Senior Notes

In the case of Senior Notes only, if any one or more of the following events (each an "Event of Default") shall have occurred and be continuing:

- (i) default is made for more than 30 days in the payment of interest or principal in respect of the Notes; or
- (ii) the Issuer fails to perform or observe any of its other obligations under the Notes and such failure has continued for the period of 60 days next following the service on the Issuer of notice requiring the same to be remedied; or
- (iii) the Issuer is declared bankrupt, or a declaration in respect of the Issuer is made under article 3:163(1)(b) of the Wft; or
- (iv) an order is made or an effective resolution is passed for the winding up or liquidation of the Issuer unless this is done in connection with a merger, consolidation or other form of combination with another company and such company assumes all obligations contracted by the Issuer in connection with the Notes,

then any Noteholder may, by written notice to the Issuer at the specified office of the Agent, effective upon the date of receipt thereof by the Agent, declare the Note held by the holder to be forthwith due and payable whereupon the same shall become forthwith due and payable at its Early Redemption Amount (as described in Condition 6(f), together with accrued interest (if any) to the date of repayment, without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind.

#### (b) Subordinated Notes

In the case of Subordinated Notes only, if any of the following events (each an "Event of Default") shall have occurred and be continuing:

- (i) the Issuer is declared bankrupt, or a declaration in respect of the Issuer is made under article 3:163(1)(b) of the Wft; or
- (ii) an order is made or an effective resolution is passed for the winding up or liquidation of the Issuer unless this is done in connection with a merger, consolidation or other form of combination with another company and such company assumes all obligations contracted by the Issuer in connection with the Notes,

then any Noteholder may, by written notice to the Issuer at the specified office of the Agent, effective upon the date of receipt thereof by the Agent, declare the Note held by the holder to be forthwith due and payable whereupon the same shall become forthwith due and payable at its Early Redemption Amount (as described in Condition 6(f)), together with accrued interest (if any) to the date of repayment, without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind provided that repayment of Notes under this Condition 9(b) will only be effected after the Issuer has obtained the prior written consent of DNB provided that at the relevant time such consent is required.

### 10. Replacement of Notes, Coupons and Talons

Should any Note, Coupon or Talon be lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced at the specified office of the Agent upon payment by the claimant of such costs and expenses as may be incurred in connection therewith and on such terms as to evidence and indemnity as the Issuer may reasonably require. Mutilated or defaced Notes, Coupons or Talons must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

## **11.** Agent and Paying Agents

The names of the initial Agent and the other initial Paying Agents and their initial specified offices are set out below.

The Issuer is entitled to vary or terminate the appointment of any Paying Agent and/or appoint additional or other Paying Agents and/or approve any change in the specified office through which any Paying Agent acts, provided that:

- (i) so long as the Notes are listed on any stock exchange, there will at all times be a Paying Agent with a specified office in such place as may be required by the rules and regulations of the relevant stock exchange;
- (ii) there will at all times be a Paying Agent with a specified office in a city in continental Europe;
- (iii) there will at all times be an Agent; and
- (iv) save to the extent satisfied by (i) above or (ii) above, there will at all times be a Paying Agent with a specified office in a European Union member state that will not be obliged to withhold or deduct tax pursuant to European Council Directive 2003/48/EC on the taxation of savings income or any law implementing or complying with, or introduced in order to conform to, such Directive.

In addition, the Issuer shall forthwith appoint a Paying Agent having a specified office in New York City in the circumstances described in the final paragraph of Condition 5(b). Any variation, termination, appointment or change shall only take effect (other than in the case of insolvency, when it shall be of immediate effect) after not less than 30 nor more than 45 days' prior notice thereof shall have been given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13.

## **12.** Exchange of Talons

On and after the Interest Payment Date on which the final Coupon comprised in any Coupon sheet matures, the Talon (if any) forming part of such Coupon sheet may be surrendered at the specified office of the Agent or any other Paying Agent in exchange for a further Coupon sheet including (if such further Coupon sheet does not include Coupons to (and including) the final date for the payment of interest due in respect of the Note to which it appertains) a further Talon, subject to the provisions of Condition 8. Each Talon shall, for the purposes of the Conditions, be deemed to mature on the Interest Payment Date on which the final Coupon comprised in the relative Coupon sheet matures.

# 13. Notices

All notices regarding the Notes shall be published (i) in at least one daily newspaper of wide circulation in The Netherlands, which is expected to be *Het Financieele Dagblad*, (ii) (unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms) in a leading English language daily newspaper of general circulation in London, which is expected to be the *Financial Times*, and (iii) if and for so long as the Notes are listed on NYSE Euronext in Amsterdam and NYSE Euronext in Amsterdam so requires, by the delivery of the relevant notice to NYSE Euronext in Amsterdam and through a press release which will also be made available on the website of the Issuer (www.abnamro.com). Any such notice will be deemed to have been given on the date of the first publication in all the newspapers in which such publication is required to be made.

Until such time as any definitive Notes are issued, there may (provided that, in the case of any publication required by a stock exchange, the rules of the stock exchange so permit), so long as the Global Note(s) is or are held in its or their entirety on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, be substituted for publication in some or all of the newspapers referred to above, the delivery of the relevant notice to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg for communication by them to the holders of the Notes, provided that for so long as any Notes are listed on a stock exchange or are admitted to trading by another relevant authority and the rules of that stock exchange or relevant authority so require, such notice will also be published in the manner required by those rules. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given to the holders of the Notes on the seventh day after the day on which the said notice was given to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.

Notices to be given by any holder of the Notes shall be in writing and given by lodging the same, together (in the case of any Note in definitive form) with the relative Note or Notes, with the Agent. Whilst any of the Notes are represented by a Global Note, such notice may be given by any holder of a Note to the Agent via Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, in such manner as the Agent and Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, may approve for this purpose.

# 14. Meetings of Noteholders, Modification and Waiver

The Agency Agreement contains provisions for convening meetings of the Noteholders to consider any matter affecting their interests, including the sanctioning by Extraordinary Resolution of a modification of the Notes, the Coupons or certain provisions of the Agency Agreement. Such a meeting may be convened by the Issuer or Noteholders holding not less than five per cent. in nominal amount of the Notes for the time being remaining outstanding. The quorum at any such meeting for passing an Extraordinary Resolution is one or more persons holding or representing not less than 50 per cent. in nominal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned meeting one or more persons being or representing Noteholders whatever the nominal amount of the Notes so held or represented, except that at any meeting the business of which includes the modification of certain provisions of the Notes or Coupons (including modifying the date of maturity of the Notes or any date for payment of interest thereof, reducing or cancelling the amount of principal or the rate of interest payable in respect of the Notes or altering the currency of payment of the Notes or Coupons), the necessary quorum for passing an Extraordinary Resolution will be one or more persons holding or representing not less than two-thirds, or at any adjourned such meeting not less than one-third, in nominal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding. An Extraordinary Resolution passed at any meeting of the Noteholders shall be binding on all the Noteholders, whether or not they are present at the meeting, and on all Couponholders.

The Agent and the Issuer may agree, without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders, to:

- (a) any modification (except as mentioned above) of the Agency Agreement which is not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders; or
- (b) any modification of the Notes, the Coupons or the Agency Agreement which is of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to correct a manifest or proven error or to comply with mandatory provisions of the law of the jurisdiction in which the Issuer is incorporated; or
- (c) in accordance with Condition 6(e), substitution of the Subordinated Notes or variation of the terms of the Subordinated Notes in order to ensure that such substituted or varied Subordinated Notes continue to qualify as Tier 2 Notes under CRD IV or such other regulatory capital rules applicable to the Issuer at the relevant time.

Any such modification shall be binding on the Noteholders and the Couponholders and any such modification shall be notified to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13 as soon as practicable thereafter.

## 15. Further Issues

The Issuer shall be at liberty from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders to create and issue further notes having terms and conditions the same as the Notes or the same in all respects save for the amount and date of the first payment of interest thereon and so that the same shall be consolidated and form a single Series with the outstanding Notes.

## 16. Substitution of the Issuer

- (a) The Issuer may, with the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders which will be deemed to have been given in respect of each issue of Notes on which no payment of principal of or interest on any of the Notes is in default and, in the case of an issue of Subordinated Notes, after written approval of DNB, be replaced and substituted by any directly or indirectly wholly owned subsidiary of the Issuer (the "Substituted Debtor") as principal debtor in respect of the Notes and the relative Coupons provided that:
  - (i) such documents shall be executed by the Substituted Debtor and the Issuer as may be necessary to give full effect to the substitution (the "Documents") and (without limiting the generality of the foregoing) pursuant to which the Substituted Debtor shall undertake in favour of each Noteholder and Couponholder to be bound by the Conditions of the Notes and the provisions of the Agency Agreement as fully as if the Substituted Debtor had been named in the Notes, and the relative Coupons and the Agency Agreement as the principal debtor in respect of the Notes and the relative Coupons in place of the Issuer and pursuant to which the Issuer shall guarantee, which guarantee shall be unconditional and irrevocable, (the "Guarantee") in favour of each Noteholder and each holder of the relative Coupons

the payment of all sums (including any additional amounts payable pursuant to Condition 7) payable in respect of the Notes and the relative Coupons;

- (ii) where the Substituted Debtor is incorporated, domiciled or resident for taxation purposes in a territory other than The Netherlands, the Documents shall contain a covenant and/or such other provisions as may be necessary to ensure that each Noteholder has the benefit of a covenant in terms corresponding to the provisions of Condition 7 with the substitution for the references to The Netherlands of references to the territory in which the Substituted Debtor is incorporated, domiciled and/or resident for taxation purposes. The Documents shall also contain a covenant by the Substituted Debtor and the Issuer to indemnify and hold harmless each Noteholder and Couponholder against all liabilities, costs, charges and expenses, provided that insofar as the liabilities, costs, charges and expenses are taxes or duties, the same arise by reason of a law or regulation having legal effect or being in reasonable contemplation thereof on the date such substitution becomes effective, which may be incurred by or levied against such holder as a result of any substitution pursuant to this Condition and which would not have been so incurred or levied had such substitution not been made (and, without limiting the foregoing, such liabilities, costs, charges and expenses shall include any and all taxes or duties which are imposed on any such Noteholder or Couponholder by any political sub-division or taxing authority of any country in which such Noteholder or Couponholder resides or is subject to any such tax or duty and which would not have been so imposed had such substitution not been made);
- (iii) the Documents shall contain a warranty and representation by the Substituted Debtor and the Issuer (a) that each of the Substituted Debtor and the Issuer has obtained all necessary governmental and regulatory approvals and consents for such substitution and the performance of its obligations under the Documents, and that all such approvals and consents are in full force and effect and (b) that the obligations assumed by each of the Substituted Debtor and the Issuer under the Documents are all valid and binding in accordance with their respective terms and enforceable by each Noteholder;
- (iv) each stock exchange which has Notes listed thereon or the relevant competent authority relating thereto shall have confirmed that following the proposed substitution of the Substituted Debtor such Notes would continue to be listed on such stock exchange;
- (v) the Substituted Debtor shall have delivered to the Agent or procured the delivery to the Agent of a legal opinion from a leading firm of local lawyers acting for the Substituted Debtor to the effect that the Documents constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of the Substituted Debtor, such opinion to be dated not more than three days prior to the date of substitution of the Substituted Debtor for the Issuer and to be available for inspection by Noteholders and Couponholders at the specified office of the Agent; and
- (vi) the Issuer shall have delivered to the Agent or procured the delivery to the Agent of a legal opinion from a leading firm of Dutch lawyers to the effect that the Documents (including the Guarantee) constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of the Substituted Debtor and the Issuer under Dutch law, such opinion to be dated not more than three days prior to the date of substitution of the Substituted Debtor for the Issuer and to be available for inspection by Noteholders and Couponholders at the specified office of the Agent.

- (b) In connection with any substitution effected pursuant to this Condition, neither the Issuer nor the Substituted Debtor need have any regard to the consequences of any such substitution for individual Noteholders or Couponholders resulting from their being for any purpose domiciled or resident in, or otherwise connected with, or subject to the jurisdiction of, any particular territory and no Noteholder or Couponholder, except as provided in Condition 16(a)(ii), shall be entitled to claim from the Issuer or any Substituted Debtor under the Notes and the relative Coupons any indemnification or payment in respect of any tax or other consequences arising from such substitution.
- (c) In respect of any substitution pursuant to this Condition in respect of the Subordinated Notes of any Series, the Documents shall provide for such further amendment of the Conditions of the Subordinated Notes as shall be necessary or desirable to ensure that the Subordinated Notes of such Series constitute subordinated obligations of the Substituted Debtor and that the Guarantee constitutes a subordinated obligation of the Issuer, in each case subordinated to no greater than the same extent as the Issuer's obligations prior to its substitution to make payments of principal in respect of the Subordinated Notes of such Series under Condition 3 of the Conditions.
- (d) With respect to Subordinated Notes, the Issuer shall be entitled, after written approval of DNB and by notice to the Noteholders given in accordance with Condition 13, at any time either to effect a substitution which does not comply with paragraph (c) above provided that the terms of such substitution have been approved by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders or to waive all and any rights to effect a substitution of the principal debtor pursuant to this Condition. Any such notice of waiver shall be irrevocable.
- (e) Upon the execution of the Documents as referred to in paragraph (a) above, and subject to the notice as referred to in paragraph (g) below having been given, the Substituted Debtor shall be deemed to be named in the Notes and the relative Coupons as the principal debtor in place of the Issuer and the Notes and the relative Coupons shall thereupon be deemed to be amended to give effect to the substitution. The execution of the Documents shall operate to release the Issuer as issuer from all of its obligations as principal debtor in respect of the Notes and the relative Coupons save that any claims under the Notes and the relative Coupons prior to release shall ensure for the benefit of Noteholders and Couponholders.
- (f) The Documents shall be deposited with and held by the Agent for so long as any Notes or Coupons remain outstanding and for so long as any claim made against the Substituted Debtor by any Noteholder or Couponholder in relation to the Notes or the relative Coupons or the Documents shall not have been finally adjudicated, settled or discharged. The Substituted Debtor and the Issuer shall acknowledge in the Documents the right of every Noteholder and Couponholder to the production of the Documents for the enforcement of any of the Notes or the relative Coupons or the Documents.
- (g) Not later than 15 business days after the execution of the Documents, the Substituted Debtor shall give notice thereof to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 13.

# 17. Governing Law and Jurisdiction

## (a) Governing Law

The Notes, the Coupons and the Talons and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection therewith are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, the laws of The Netherlands.

## (b) Jurisdiction

The Issuer irrevocably agrees, for the benefit of the Noteholders, the Couponholders and the Talonholders, that the courts of Amsterdam are to have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes which

may arise out of or in connection with the Notes, the Coupons and/or the Talons (including a dispute relating to any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Notes, the Coupons and/or the Talons) and accordingly submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Amsterdam courts.

# **USE OF PROCEEDS**

Except as otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms, the net proceeds from each issue of Notes will be applied by the Issuer for its general corporate purposes, which include making a profit and/or hedging certain risks. If, in respect of any particular issue, there is a particular identified use of proceeds, this will be stated in the applicable Final Terms if so required pursuant to applicable law.

# TAXATION

# TAXATION IN THE NETHERLANDS

The following summary of certain Dutch taxation matters is based on the laws and practice in force as of the date of this Base Prospectus and is subject to any changes in law and the interpretation and application thereof, which changes could be made with retroactive effect. The following summary does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all the tax considerations that may be relevant to a decision to acquire, hold or dispose of a Note, and does not purport to deal with the tax consequences applicable to all categories of investors, some of which may be subject to special rules.

For the purpose of the paragraph " Taxes on Income and Capital Gains" below it is assumed that a Holder, being an individual or a non-resident entity, does not have nor will have a substantial interest (aanmerkelijk belang), or - in the case of a Holder being an entity - a deemed substantial interest, in the Issuer and that no connected person (verbonden persoon) to the Holder has or will have a substantial interest in the Issuer.

Generally speaking, an individual has a substantial interest in a company if (a) such individual, either alone or together with his partner, directly or indirectly has, or is deemed to have or (b) certain relatives of such individual or his partner directly or indirectly have or are deemed to have (i) the ownership of, a right to acquire the ownership of, or certain rights over, shares representing 5 per cent or more of either the total issued and outstanding capital of such company or the issued and outstanding capital of any class of shares of such company, or (ii) the ownership of, or certain rights over, profit participating certificates (winstbewijzen) that relate to 5 per cent or more of either the annual profit or the liquidation proceeds of such company

Generally speaking, a non-resident entity has a substantial interest in a company if such entity, directly or indirectly has (I) the ownership of, a right to acquire the ownership of, or certain rights over, shares representing 5 per cent or more of either the total issued and outstanding capital of such company or the issued and outstanding capital of any class of shares of such company, or (II) the ownership of, or certain rights over, profit participating certificates (winstbewijzen) that relate to 5 per cent or more of either the annual profit or the liquidation proceeds of such company. An entity holding a Note has a deemed substantial interest in a company if such entity has disposed of or is deemed to have disposed of all or part of a substantial interest on a non-recognition basis.

For the purpose of this summary, the term "entity" means a corporation as well as any other person that is taxable as a corporation for Dutch corporate tax purposes.

Where this summary refers to a holder of a Note, an individual holding a Note or an entity holding a Note, such reference is restricted to an individual or entity holding legal title to as well as an economic interest in such Note or otherwise being regarded as owning a Note for Dutch tax purposes. It is noted that for purposes of Dutch income, corporate, gift and inheritance tax, assets legally owned by a third party such as a trustee, foundation or similar entity, may be treated as assets owned by the (deemed) settlor, grantor or similar originator or the beneficiaries in proportion to their interest in such arrangement.

Where the summary refers to "The Netherlands" or "Dutch" it refers only to the European part of the Kingdom of the Netherlands.

Investors should consult their professional advisers on the tax consequences of their acquiring, holding and disposing of a Note or Coupon.

# 1. WITHHOLDING TAX

All payments made by the Issuer of interest and principal under the Notes can be made free of withholding or deduction of any taxes of whatsoever nature imposed, levied, withheld or assessed by The Netherlands or any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein, unless the Notes qualify as debt that effectively functions as equity for purposes of article 10, paragraph 1, sub d of the Corporate Tax Act (*Wet op de vennootschapsbelasting 1969*).

# 2. TAXES ON INCOME AND CAPITAL GAINS

# Residents

## Resident entities

An entity holding a Note which is, or is deemed to be, resident in The Netherlands for corporate tax purposes and which is not tax exempt, will generally be subject to corporate tax in respect of income or a capital gain derived from a Note at the prevailing statutory rates.

## Resident individuals

An individual holding a Note who is, is deemed to be, or has elected to be treated as, resident in The Netherlands for income tax purposes will be subject to income tax in respect of income or a capital gain derived from a Note at rates up to 52 per cent if:

- (i) the income or capital gain is attributable to an enterprise from which the holder derives profits (other than as a shareholder); or
- (ii) the income or capital gain qualifies as income from miscellaneous activities (*belastbaar resultaat uit overige werkzaamheden*) as defined in the Income Tax Act (*Wet inkomstenbelasting 2001*), including, without limitation, activities that exceed normal, active asset management (*normaal, actief vermogensbeheer*).

If neither condition (i) nor (ii) applies, an individual holding a Note will be subject to income tax on the basis of a deemed return, regardless of any actual income or capital gain derived from a Note. The deemed return amounts 4% of the value of the individual's net assets as at the beginning of the relevant fiscal year (including the Note). Subject to application of certain allowances, the deemed return will be taxed at a rate of 30 per cent.

# Non-residents

A holder of a Note which is not, is not deemed to be, and - in case the holder is an individual - has not elected to be treated as, resident in The Netherlands for the relevant tax purposes will not be subject to taxation on income or a capital gain derived from a Note unless:

the income or capital gain is attributable to an enterprise or part thereof which is either effectively managed in The Netherlands or carried on through a permanent establishment (*vaste inrichting*) or a permanent representative (*vaste vertegenwoordiger*) in The Netherlands and the holder of a Note derives profits from such enterprise (other than by way of securities); or

(i) the holder is an individual and the income or capital gain qualifies as income from miscellaneous activities (*belastbaar resultaat uit overige werkzaamheden*) in The Netherlands as defined in the Income Tax Act (*Wet inkomstenbelasting 2001*), including, without limitation, activities that exceed normal, active asset management (*normaal, actief vermogensbeheer*).

# 3. GIFT AND INHERITANCE TAXES

Dutch gift or inheritance taxes will not be levied on the occasion of the transfer of a Note by way of gift by, or on the death of, a holder of a Note, unless:

- (i) the holder of a Note is, or is deemed to be, resident in The Netherlands for the purpose of the relevant provisions; or
- (ii) the transfer is construed as an inheritance or gift made by, or on behalf of, a person who, at the time of the gift or death, is or is deemed to be resident in The Netherlands for the purpose of the relevant provisions.

# 4. VALUE ADDED TAX

The issuance or transfer of a Note, and payments of interest and principal under a Note, will not be subject to value added tax in The Netherlands.

# 5. OTHER TAXES AND DUTIES

The subscription, issue, placement, allotment, delivery or transfer of a Note will not be subject to registration tax, stamp duty or any other similar tax or duty payable in The Netherlands.

## 6. **RESIDENCE**

A holder of a Note will not be and will not be deemed to be resident in The Netherlands for tax purposes and, subject to the exceptions set out above, will not otherwise be subject to Dutch taxation, by reason only of acquiring, holding or disposing of a Note or the execution, performance, delivery and/or enforcement of a Note.

## 7. EU COUNCIL DIRECTIVE ON TAXATION OF SAVINGS INCOME

Under EC Council Directive 2003/48/EC on the taxation of savings income, each Member State is required to provide to the tax authorities of another Member State details of payments of interest or other similar income paid by a person within its jurisdiction to, or collected by such a person for, an individual resident or certain limited types of entity established in that other Member State; however, for a transitional period, Austria and Luxembourg may instead apply a withholding system in relation to such payments, deducting tax at rates rising over time to 35%. The transitional period is to terminate at the end of the first full fiscal year following agreement by certain non-EU countries to the exchange of information relating to such payments.

On 10 April 2013. Luxembourg officially announced that it will no longer apply the withholding tax system as from 1 January 2015 and will provide details of payment of interest (or similar income) as from this date.

A number of non-EU countries and certain dependent or associated territories of certain Member States have adopted similar measures (either provision of information or transitional withholding) in relation to payments made by a person within its jurisdiction to, or collected by such a person for, an individual resident or certain limited types of entity established in a Member State. In addition, the Member States have entered into provision of information or transitional withholding arrangements with certain of those dependent or associated territories in relation to payments made by a person in a Member State to, or collected by such a person for, an individual resident or certain limited types of entity established in one of those territories.

The European Commission proposed certain amendments to the Directive, which may, if implemented, amend or broaden the scope of the requirements described above. Investors who are

in any doubt as to their position should consult their professional advisers.

# THE PROPOSED FINANCIAL TRANSACTIONS TAX ("FTT")

The European Commission has published a proposal for a Directive for a common FTT in Belgium, Germany, Estonia, Greece, Spain, France, Italy, Austria, Portugal, Slovenia and Slovakia (the "**participating Member States**").

The proposed FTT has very broad scope and could, if introduced in its current form, apply to certain dealings in the Notes (including secondary market transactions) in certain circumstances. The issuance and subscription of Notes should, however, be exempt.

Under current proposals the FTT could apply in certain circumstances to persons both within and outside of the participating Member States. Generally, it would apply to certain dealings in the Notes where at least one party is a financial institution, and at least one party is established in a participating Member State. A financial institution may be, or be deemed to be, "established" in a participating Member State in a broad range of circumstances, including (a) by transacting with a person established in a participating Member State or (b) where the financial instrument which is subject to the dealings is issued in a participating Member State.

The FTT proposal remains subject to negotiation between the participating Member States and is the subject of legal challenge. It may therefore be altered prior to any implementation, the timing of which remains unclear. Additional EU Member States may decide to participate. Prospective holders of the Notes are advised to seek their own professional advice in relation to the FTT.

#### SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE

The Dealers have in a programme agreement (the "Programme Agreement") dated 2 July 2013 as amended or supplemented from time to time agreed with the Issuer a basis upon which they or any of them may from time to time purchase Notes. Any such agreement to accede to the Programme will extend to those matters stated under "Form of the Notes" and "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" above.

Notes may also be offered under the Programme on a private placement basis.

## **United States**

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act, and may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons except in certain transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Terms used in the previous sentence have the meanings given to them by Regulation S under the Securities Act.

The Notes are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or its possessions or to a United States person, except in certain transactions permitted by United States tax regulations. Terms used in the previous sentence have the meanings given to them by the U.S. Internal Revenue Code and regulations thereunder.

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that, except as permitted by the Programme Agreement, it will not offer, sell or deliver any Notes within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (i) as part of their distribution at any time or (ii) otherwise until 40 days after the completion of the distribution of all Notes of such Tranche, as determined and certified to the Agent by such Dealer (or in the case of a sale of such Tranche of Notes to or through more than one Dealer, by each of such Dealers as to the Notes of such Notes purchased by or through it, in which case the Agent shall notify each such Dealer when all such Dealers have so certified), and it will have sent to each other dealer or person receiving a selling concession, fee or other remuneration in respect of the Notes to which it sells Notes during the distribution compliance period a confirmation or other notice setting forth the restrictions on offers and sales of the Notes within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S under the Securities Act.

In addition, until 40 days after the completion of the distribution of the Notes of a Tranche, an offer or sale of Notes of such Tranche within the United States by any dealer (whether or not participating in the offering) may violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S under the Securities Act.

## Public Offer Selling Restriction under the Prospectus Directive

In relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each, a "Relevant Member State"), each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that with effect from and including the date on which the Prospectus Directive is implemented in that Relevant Member State (the "Relevant Implementation Date") it has not made and will not make an offer of Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Base Prospectus as completed by the final terms in relation thereto to the public in that Relevant Member State except that it may, with effect from and including the Relevant Implementation Date, make an offer of such Notes to the public in that Relevant Member State:

(a) if the final terms in relation to the Notes specify that an offer of those Notes may be made other than pursuant to Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive in that Relevant Member State (a "Public Offer"), following the date of publication of a prospectus in relation to such Notes which has been approved by the competent authority in that Relevant Member State or, where appropriate, approved in another Relevant Member State and notified to the competent authority in that Relevant Member State, provided that any such prospectus has subsequently been completed by the final terms contemplating such Non-exempt Offer, in accordance with the Prospectus Directive, in the period beginning and ending on the dates specified in such prospectus or final terms, as applicable and the Issuer has consented in writing to its use for the purpose of that Non-exempt Offer;

- (b) at any time to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Directive;
- (c) at any time to fewer than 100 or, if the Relevant Member State has implemented the relevant provision of the 2010 PD Amending Directive, 150, natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the Prospectus Directive), subject to obtaining the prior consent of the relevant Dealer or Dealers nominated by the Issuer for any such offer; or
- (d) at any time in any other circumstances falling within Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive,

provided that no such offer of Notes referred to in (b) to (d) above shall require the Issuer or any Dealer to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive, or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.

For the purposes of this provision, the expression an "offer of Notes to the public" in relation to any Notes in any Relevant Member State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe the Notes, as the same may be varied in that Member State by any measure implementing the Prospectus Directive in that Member State, the expression "Prospectus Directive" means Directive 2003/71/EC (and amendments thereto, including the 2010 PD Amending Directive, to the extent implemented in the Relevant Member State), and includes any relevant implementing measure in the Relevant Member State and the expression "2010 PD Amending Directive" means Directive 2010/73/EU.

## Japan

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan (Act No. 25 of 1948, as amended, the "**FIEA**") and, accordingly, each Dealer undertakes that it will not offer or sell any Notes directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan or to others for re-offering or resale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to any resident of Japan except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of, and otherwise in compliance with the FIEA and other relevant laws and regulations of Japan. As used in this paragraph, "**resident of Japan**" means any person resident in Japan, including any corporation or other entity organised under the laws of Japan.

## Selling Restrictions Addressing Additional United Kingdom Security Laws

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that:

- (i) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be communicated any invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of section 21 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 of England and Wales (the "FMSA") received by it in connection with the issue or sale of any Notes in circumstances in which section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Issuer; and
- (ii) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to

anything done by it in relation to any Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

#### Selling Restrictions Addressing Additional Netherlands Securities Laws/Global

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree that as long as it does not have the benefit of a licence or exemption as investment firm of the relevant type pursuant to the Wft, it shall not offer any Notes or distribute this Base Prospectus or any circulars, offer documents or information relating to the Issuer or the Notes in The Netherlands.

Zero Coupon Notes in definitive bearer form and other Notes in definitive bearer form on which interest does not become due and payable during their term but only at maturity (savings certificates or *spaarbewijzen* as defined in The Netherlands Savings Certificates Act or *Wet inzake spaarbewijzen*, the "**SCA**") may only be transferred and accepted, directly or indirectly, within, from or into The Netherlands through the mediation of either the Issuer or a member of Euronext Amsterdam N.V. with due observance of the provisions of the SCA and its implementing regulations (which include registration requirements). No such mediation is required, however, in respect of (i) the initial issue of such Notes to the first holders thereof, (ii) the transfer and acceptance by individuals who do not act in the conduct of a profession or business and (iii) the issue and trading of such Notes if they are physically issued outside The Netherlands and are not immediately thereafter distributed in The Netherlands.

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it will not make an offer of Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Base Prospectus as completed by the Final Terms in relation thereto to the public in The Netherlands in reliance on Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive unless:

- such offer is made exclusively to legal entities which are qualified investors (as defined in the Prospectus Directive and which includes authorised discretionary asset managers acting for the account of retail investors under a discretionary investment management contract) in The Netherlands; or
- (ii) standard exemption logo and wording are disclosed as required by article 5:20(5) of the Wft; or
- (iii) such offer is otherwise made in circumstances in which article 5:20(5) of the Wft is not applicable,

provided that no such offer of Notes shall require the Issuer or any Dealer to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.

For the purposes of this provision, the expressions (i) an "offer of Notes to the public" in relation to any Notes in The Netherlands; and (ii) "Prospectus Directive", have the meaning given to them above in the paragraph headed with "Public Offer Selling Restriction under the Prospectus Directive".

## **Republic of Italy**

The offering of the Notes has not been registered with the *Commissione Nazionale per le Società e la Borsa* ("**CONSOB**") pursuant to Italian securities legislation and, accordingly, each Dealer has represented and agreed that, save as set out below, it has not offered or sold, and will not offer or sell, any Notes in the Republic of Italy in an offer to the public and that sales of the Notes in the Republic of Italy shall be effected in accordance with all Italian securities, tax and exchange control and other applicable laws and regulation.

Accordingly, each of the Dealers has represented and agreed that it will not offer, sell or deliver any Notes or distribute copies of this Base Prospectus and any other document relating to the Notes in the Republic of Italy except:

- to "qualified investors", as referred to in Article 100 of Legislative Decree No. 58 of 24 February 1998, as amended (the "Decree No. 58") and defined in Article 34-*ter*, paragraph 1, let. b) of CONSOB Regulation No. 11971 of 14 May 1999, as amended ("Regulation No. 11971") or
- (ii) that it may offer, sell or deliver Notes or distribute copies of any prospectus relating to such Notes in an offer to the public in the period commencing on the date of publication of such prospectus, provided that such prospectus has been approved in another Relevant Member State and notified to CONSOB, all in accordance with the Prospectus Directive and the Directive 2010/73/EU of 24 November 2010 (the "Amending Directive"), as implemented in Italy under Decree 58 and Regulation No. 11971, and ending on the date which is 12 months after the date of approval of such prospectus; or
- (iii) in any other circumstances where an express exemption from compliance with the offer restrictions applies, as provided under Decree No. 58 or Regulation No. 11971.

Any such offer, sale or delivery of the Notes or distribution of copies of this Base Prospectus or any other document relating to the Notes in the Republic of Italy must be:

- made by investment firms, banks or financial intermediaries permitted to conduct such activities in the Republic of Italy in accordance with Legislative Decree No. 385 of 1 September 1993 as amended, Decree No. 58, CONSOB Regulation No. 16190 of 29 October 2007, as amended and any other applicable laws and regulations; and
- (ii) in compliance with any other applicable notification requirement or limitation which may be imposed by CONSOB or the Bank of Italy.

## Provisions relating to the secondary market in the Republic of Italy

Investors should also note that, in any subsequent distribution of the Notes in the Republic of Italy, Article 100-*bis* of Decree No. 58 may require compliance with the law relating to public offers of securities. Furthermore, where the Notes are placed solely with "qualified investors" and are then systematically resold on the secondary market at any time in the 12 months following such placing, purchasers of Notes who are acting outside of the course of their business or profession may in certain circumstances be entitled to declare such purchase void and, in addition, to claim damages from any authorised person at whose premises the Notes were purchased, unless an exemption provided for under Decree No. 58 applies.

#### **Republic of France**

Each of the Dealers and the Issuer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that:

(i) *offer to the public in France:* 

it has only made and will only make an offer of Notes to the public in France in the period beginning (i) when a prospectus in relation to those Notes has been approved by the *Autorité des marchés financiers* ("**AMF**"), on the date of its publication or, when a prospectus has been approved by the competent authority of another Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the EU

Prospectus Directive 2003/71/EC, as amended, on the date of notification of such approval to the AMF, and ending at the latest on the date which is 12 months after the date of approval of the Base Prospectus, all in accordance with articles L.412-1 and L.621-8 of the French *Code monétaire et financier* and the *Règlement général* of the AMF; or

(ii) *private placement in France*:

it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell, directly or indirectly, Notes to the public in France, and has not distributed or caused to be distributed and will not distribute or cause to be distributed to the public in France, the Base Prospectus, the relevant Final Terms or any other offering material relating to the Notes, and that such offers, sales and distributions have been and will be made in France only to (a) providers of investment services relating to portfolio management for the account of third parties (*prestataires de service d'investissement de gestion de portefeuille pour le compte de tiers*), and/or (b) qualified investors (*investisseurs qualifiés*) other than individuals, all as defined in, and in accordance with, articles L.411-1, L.411-2 and D.411-1 of the French *Code monétaire et financier*.

# Hong Kong

In relation to each Tranche of Notes to be issued by the Issuer under the Programme, each of the Dealers has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that:

- (i) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell in Hong Kong, by means of any document, any Notes, except for Notes which are a "structured product" as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of Hong Kong (the "SFO"), other than (i) to "professional investors" as defined in the SFO and any rules made under the SFO; or (ii) in other circumstances which do not result in the document being a "Prospectus" as defined in the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32) of Hong Kong (the "Companies Ordinance") or which do not constitute an offer to the public within the meaning of the Companies Ordinance; and
- (ii) it has not issued or had in its possession for the purposes of issue, and will not issue or have in its possession for the purposes of issue, whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere, any advertisement, invitation or document relating to the Notes, which is directed at, or the contents of which are likely to be accessed or read by, the public of Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the securities laws of Hong Kong) other than with respect to Notes which are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons outside Hong Kong or only to "professional investors" as defined in the SFO and any rules made under the SFO.

## **People's Republic of China**

Each of the Dealers has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that the offer of the Notes is not an offer of securities within the meaning of the PRC Securities Law or other pertinent laws and regulations of the People's Republic of China and the Notes are not being offered or sold and may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, in the PRC (for such purposes, not including the Hong Kong and Macau Special Administrative Regions or Taiwan), except as permitted by the securities laws of the PRC.

#### Australia

No prospectus or other disclosure document (as defined in the Corporations Act 2001 of Australia (Corporations Act)) in relation to any Notes has been or will be lodged with the Australian Securities and Investments Commission (**ASIC**). Each of the Dealers has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it:

- (a) has not (directly or indirectly) offered, and will not offer for issue or sale and has not invited, and will not invite, applications for issue, or offers to purchase, any Notes in, to or from Australia (including an offer or invitation which is received by a person in Australia); and
- (b) has not distributed or published, and will not distribute or publish, any information memorandum, advertisement or other offering material relating to any Notes in Australia,

unless (1) the aggregate consideration payable by each offeree or invitee is at least AUD 500,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies, disregarding moneys lent by the offeror or its associates) or the offer or invitation otherwise does not require disclosure to investors in accordance with Part 6D.2 of the Corporations Act, (2) such action complies with all applicable laws, regulations and directives, and (3) such action does not require any document to be lodged with ASIC.

#### Kingdom of Norway

The Issuer has not sought the approval of the Ministry of Finance of the Kingdom of Norway for the Notes to be publicly tradeable in Norway nor has it sought the approval of the Norwegian National Bank for the introduction of the Notes onto the Norwegian market. No offering material in relation to any Notes has therefore been, or will be, approved by the Oslo Stock Exchange. Accordingly, each of the Dealers has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell any Notes directly or indirectly in the Kingdom of Norway or to residents or citizens of the Kingdom of Norway and that it has not distributed and will not distribute this Base Prospectus or any other offering material relating to the Notes in or from the Kingdom of Norway.

## Switzerland

This Base Prospectus and any Final Terms are not intended to constitute an offer or solicitation to purchase or invest in any Notes. Each of the Dealers has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree that it has and will not directly or indirectly publicly offer, sell or advertise any Notes, in, into or from Switzerland and will not list Notes on the SIX Swiss Exchange or on any other exchange or regulated trading facility in Switzerland. Neither this Base Prospectus, any Final Terms nor any other offering or marketing material relating to Notes constitutes a prospectus as such term is understood pursuant to article 652a or article 1156 of the Swiss Code of Obligations, and neither this Base Prospectus, any Final Terms nor any other wise made publicly available in Switzerland.

#### Taiwan

Each of the Dealers has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that Notes may be made available outside Taiwan for purchase by Taiwan resident investors outside Taiwan but may not be marketed, offered or sold within Taiwan.

## General

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme

will be required to represent and agree, that (to the best of its knowledge and belief) it will comply with all applicable laws and regulations in force in any jurisdiction in or from which it purchases, offers, sells or delivers any Notes or any interest therein or possesses or distributes this Base Prospectus, any Final Terms or any other offering material relating to the Notes and will obtain any consent, approval or permission required by it for the purchase, offer, sale or delivery by it of any Notes under the laws and regulations in force in any jurisdiction to which it is subject or in which it makes such purchases, offers, sales or deliveries and neither the Issuer nor any other Dealer shall have responsibility therefore. In addition, each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it will not directly or indirectly offer, sell or deliver any Notes or distribute or publish this Base Prospectus, any Final Terms or any other offering material relating to the Notes in or from any jurisdiction except under circumstances that will not impose any obligations on the Issuer or any other Dealers.

With regard to each Tranche, the relevant Dealer (if any) will be required to comply with any additional restrictions set out in the applicable Final Terms.

### **GENERAL INFORMATION**

#### Authorisation

The update of, and the issue of Notes under, the Programme have been duly authorised by resolutions of the Supervisory Board of Directors of the Issuer dated 16 April 2010 and of the Managing Board of the Issuer dated 12 April 2010. All consents, approvals, authorisations or other orders of all regulatory authorities required by the Issuer under the laws of The Netherlands have been given for the issue of Notes and for the Issuer to undertake and perform its obligations under the Programme Agreement, the Agency Agreement and the Notes.

## Listing

Application has been made to Euronext Amsterdam N.V. for Notes issued under the Programme and up to the expiry of 12 months from the date of this Base Prospectus to be admitted to trading and to be listed on Euronext in Amsterdam. For so long as the Notes are listed on Euronext in Amsterdam there will be a paying agent in The Netherlands. ABN AMRO Bank N.V. has been appointed as the initial paying agent in The Netherlands.

#### **Documents available**

So long as Notes are capable of being issued under the Programme, copies of the following documents will, when published, be available, free of charge, from the registered office of the Issuer:

- (i) the Registration Document;
- (ii) an English translation of the most recent Articles of Association of the Issuer and ABN AMRO Group N.V.;
- (iii) ABN AMRO Group N.V.'s publicly available audited consolidated annual financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2011 (as set out on pages 149 to 155 in relation to the financial statements 2011, including the notes to the consolidated financial statements as set out on pages 156 to 272, pages 76 to 109 (certain information in Chapter 8 (*Risk management*)), pages 118 to 131 (certain information in Chapter 10 (*Liquidity and funding*)), the auditors' report thereon on pages 273 and 274, and the Section "*Notes to the reader*" in the inside cover, all as included in ABN AMRO Group N.V.'s Annual Report 2011) (the "Annual Financial Statements 2011");
- (iv) Chapter 8 (*Risk management*), Chapter 9 (*Capital management*) and Chapter 10 (*Liquidity and funding*) and Chapter 11 (*Integration*) on pages 76 to 134 and Chapter 20 (*Definitions of important terms*) and Chapter 21 (*Abbreviations*) on pages 288 to 293 of ABN AMRO Group N.V.'s Annual Report 2011;
- (v) the Issuer's publicly available unaudited abbreviated financial statements 2011 for the financial year ended 31 December 2011 (including the notes to the financial statements) prepared on the basis of article 2:403 of the Dutch Civil Code (*Burgerlijk Wetboek*);
- (vi) ABN AMRO Group N.V.'s publicly available audited consolidated annual financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2012 (as set out on pages 217 to 223 in relation to the financial statements 2012, including the notes to the financial statements as set out on pages 224 to 338 and the auditors' report thereon on pages 339 and 340, all as included in ABN AMRO Group N.V.'s Annual Report 2012) (the "Annual Financial Statements 2012");

- (vii) Chapter 16 (Introduction to risk & capital management) on pages 126-127, Chapter 17 (Risk management) on pages 128 185, Chapter 18 (Capital management) on pages 186 195, Chapter 19 (Liquidity & funding) on pages 196 208, Chapter 20 (Securitisation) on pages 209 214, Chapter 24 (Definitions of important terms) on pages 349 354, Chapter 25 (Abbreviations) on pages 355 357 and Chapter 26 (Cautionary statement on forward looking statements) on pages 358 359 of ABN AMRO Group N.V.'s Annual Report 2012;
- (viii) the Issuer's publicly available annual financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2012 (including the notes to the financial statements prepared on the basis of article 2:403 of the Dutch Civil Code (*Burgerlijk Wetboek*));
- (ix) the most recently available annual report of ABN AMRO Group N.V. and its consolidated subsidiaries and the most recently available published interim financial statements of ABN AMRO Group N.V. (in English and if any);
- (x) the press release titled "ABN AMRO reports net profit of EUR 415 million for first quarter of 2013" dated 17 May 2013. The information set out therein is unaudited;
- (xi) the Agency Agreement (which contains the forms of the Temporary Global Notes and Permanent Global Notes, the definitive Notes, the Coupons and the Talons);
- (xii) a copy of this Base Prospectus;
- (xiii) the Final Terms for each Tranche of Notes which are offered to the public or admitted to trading on a regulated market;
- (xiv) in the case of each issue of listed Notes subscribed pursuant to a syndication agreement, the syndication agreement (or equivalent document); and
- (xv) any future supplements to this Base Prospectus and any other documents incorporated herein or therein by reference.

The Issuer will provide, without charge, to each person to whom a copy of this Base Prospectus has been delivered, upon the request of such person, a copy of any or all of the documents deemed to be incorporated herein by reference. Requests for such documents should be directed to the Issuer at its registered office at: Gustav Mahlerlaan 10, 1082 PP Amsterdam, The Netherlands, by telephone: +31 20 6282 282 or by e-mail: investorrelations@nl.abnamro.com.

A copy of the 403 Declaration is available for inspection at the Trade Register of the Chamber of Commerce in Amsterdam, De Ruyterkade 5, PO Box 1000 CW, Amsterdam, The Netherlands.

## **Clearing and settlement systems**

The Notes have been accepted for clearance through Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and the Clearnet S.A. Amsterdam Branch Stock Clearing. The appropriate Common Code and International Securities Identification Number for each Tranche allocated by Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and the Clearnet S.A. Amsterdam Branch Stock Clearing, and any other relevant security code, will be specified in the applicable Final Terms. If the Notes are to clear through an additional or alternative clearing system the appropriate additional or alternative information will be specified in the applicable Final Terms. Transactions will normally be effected for settlement not earlier than three days after the date of the transaction.

## **Conditions for determining price**

The price and amount of Notes to be issued under the Programme will be determined by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer at the time of issue in accordance with prevailing market conditions.

## **Post-issuance information**

Save as set out in the Final Terms, the Issuer does not intend to provide any post-issuance information in relation to any issues of Notes.

## French regulatory matters

This Base Prospectus prepared in connection with the Notes has not been submitted to the clearance procedures of the *Autorité des marchés financiers*.

# Substitution of the Issuer

The Issuer may, under certain conditions, as set out in the Conditions of the Notes, be replaced and substituted by any directly or indirectly wholly owned subsidiary of the Issuer.

## Calculation of Yield for Fixed Rate Notes

The yield for any particular Series of Fixed Rate Notes will be specified in the applicable Final Terms and will be calculated on the basis of the compound annual rate of return if the relevant Notes were to be purchased at the Issue Price on the Issue Date and held to maturity. Set out below is the formula for the purposes of calculating the yield of Fixed Rate Notes.

Issue Price = Rate of Interest × 
$$\frac{1 - \left(\frac{1}{(1 + \text{Yield})^n}\right)}{\text{Yield}} + \left[\text{Final Redemption Amount} \times \frac{1}{(1 + \text{Yield})^n}\right]$$

Where:

"**Rate of Interest**" means the Rate of Interest expressed as a percentage as specified in the applicable Final Terms and adjusted according to the frequency i.e. for a semi-annual paying Note, the Rate of Interest is half the stated annualised Rate of Interest in the Final Terms;

"**Yield**" means the yield to maturity calculated on a frequency commensurate with the frequency of interest payments as specified in the applicable Final Terms; and

"n" means the number of interest payments to maturity.

Set out below is a worked example illustrating how the yield on a Series of Fixed Rate Notes could be calculated on the basis of the above formula. It is provided for purposes of illustration only and should not be taken as an indication or prediction of the yield for any Series of Notes; it is intended merely to illustrate the way which the above formula could be applied.

Where:

n = 6

Rate of interest = 3.875 per cent.

Issue Price = 99.392 per cent.

Final Redemption Amount = 100 per cent.

99.392 % = 3.875 % × 
$$\frac{1 - \left(\frac{1}{(1 + \text{Yield})^6}\right)}{\text{Yield}} + \left[100 \times \frac{1}{(1 + \text{Yield})^6}\right]$$

Yield = 3.99 per cent. (calculated by iteration)

The yield specified in the applicable Final Terms in respect of a Series of Fixed Rate Notes will not be indication of future yield.

### **Registered office of the Issuer**

# ABN AMRO Bank N.V.

Gustav Mahlerlaan 10 1082 PP Amsterdam The Netherlands

Agent

# ABN AMRO Bank N.V.

Kemelstede 2 4817 ST Breda The Netherlands

#### Legal advisers to the Issuer as to Dutch law

## **Clifford Chance LLP**

Droogbak 1a 1013 GE Amsterdam The Netherlands

### Legal advisers to the Arranger and Dealers as to Dutch law

# Allen & Overy LLP

Apollolaan 15 1077 AB Amsterdam The Netherlands

# Independent public accountants

## **KPMG** Accountants N.V.

Laan van Langerhuize 1 1186 DS Amstelveen The Netherlands

# **Amsterdam Listing Agent**

# ABN AMRO Bank N.V.

Gustav Mahlerlaan 10 1082 PP Amsterdam The Netherlands

## Arranger

## ABN AMRO Bank N.V.

Gustav Mahlerlaan 10 1082 PP Amsterdam The Netherlands